MER
ow

T NSH -
— TOWNSHIP BOARD - REGULAR MEETING
April 26,2022 5:00 PM

1842 -

EST > AGENDA
D I A N CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN
SHIPAYAT/

G W

O LN

11.
12.

13.

14.

15.
16.
17.

18.

CALL MEETING TO ORDER

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS

ROLL CALL

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN FUNDING DISCUSSION

PRESENTATION

A. Introduction of New Full Time Paramedic/Firefighter - Timothy Brighton

CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDAITEMS
TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT

BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS
APPROVAL OF AGENDA

. CONSENT AGENDA (SALMON)

Communications

Minutes-April 12, 2022 Regular Meeting

Bills

First Quarter 2022 Treasurer’s Investment Report
Lake Lansing Advisory Board Reappointments

Mo oOw R

QUESTIONS FOR THE ATTORNEY
HEARINGS (CANARY)
A. Village of Okemos LLC, Meridian Redevelopment Fund Request No. 2

ACTION ITEMS (PINK)

Rezoning 21-060 - 2260 Jolly Oak Drive - PO to C-2 - Introduction

Ordinance 2022-02 - Zoning Board Of Appeals Standards for Review - Introduction

Ordinance 2022-03 - Lake Lansing Residential Overlay, Front Yard Lot Coverage - Introduction
Ordinance 2022-04 - Lake Lansing Residential Overlay, Front Yard Setbacks - Introduction
Juneteenth Holiday

1st Quarter 2022 Budget Amendments

Waiving Sec. 50-84, Subsection (4) for Preventative Maintenance Work on the North Water
Tower

oOmmoUOw e

BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS (ORCHID)

A. Village of Okemos LLC, Meridian Redevelopment Fund Request No. 2
B. Rental Restriction Overlay Zoning Districts

C. Police Recruitment & Retention Program

COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC

OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS

CLOSED SESSION -Motion to go into a closed session for collective bargaining strategy discussions
under MCL 15.268(1)(c). Successful entry into closed session will require a simple majority
approval, though we still recommend a roll call vote. MCL 15.267(1).

ADJOURNMENT

All comments limited to 3 minutes, unless prior approval for additional time for good cause is obtained from the Supervisor.
Appointment of Supervisor Pro Tem and/ or Temporary Clerk if necessary. Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or
services should contact the Meridian Township Board by contacting: Township Manager Frank L. Walsh, 5151 Marsh Road,
Okemos, M1 48864 or 517.853.4258 - Ten Day Notice is Required.

Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, M1 48864 Township Hall

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. - ~ —
A PRIME COMMUNITY

meridian.mi.us



To: Board Members

From: Frank L. Walsh, Township Manager

Date: April 22,2022

Re: American Rescue Plan Funding Discussion
Board,

I've carefully reviewed all of the requests for allocating the $4.5M in American Rescue Plan (ARP)
funds. My mindset is to fix what we have first, before building new.

After much thought, and a careful review of our current budget, I offer the following
recommendations.

LOCAL ROADS $1,400,000

Given the unforeseen pandemic and rising costs of commodities, our local road program is
suffering. As compared to the previous year, most road projects are coming in 22%-25% higher.
Better local roads are near, or at the top, of our residents’ wish list. | recommend we augment our
2023 local road program with an additional $1,400,000 in ARP funds.

IT IMPROVEMENTS $900,000

We have an IT system that is unreliable and severely outdated. This is effecting team production.
Some of our equipment that we rely on is soon to enter its third decade. We currently have
$500,000 budgeted in the general fund for IT enhancements. According to the professionals, we
really need about $900,000 to bring our system from a D- to an A. Although this is not a reflection
of our dedicated IT team, we have suffered enough IT challenges over the course of the last 5-10
years. It’s time to heavily invest in our infrastructure. The $500,000 currently in the general fund
will be used to support other critical challenges within the township.

BROADBAND IMPROVEMENTS $1,500,000

I'm not an expert in this arena. However, [ recognize the challenges and believe we should set
aside $1,500,000 to support Ingham County’s efforts to further broadband in Meridian Township. I
don’t know what that looks like going forward, but [ do know we should be a player at the table.

FIRE DEPARTMENT POWER COTS $240,000

[ fully support the purchase of the power cots as outlined by Chief Hamel. If there is anything we
can do to support the paramedics’ health, and the safety of our patients, we should act.



Memo to Township Board

April 22,2022

Re: American Rescue Plan Funding Discussion
Page 2

ACCESS CONTROL AND ENHANCED VIDEO SURVEILLANCE SECURITY SYSTEM $300,000

At the advice of Chief Plaga, [ support adding an advanced security system in all of our facilities.
There is nothing more critical that we can do as an organization than protecting our team and our
residents who traverse our facilities. On Tuesday evening, the Chief will have more information on
the scope of the project.

WINDSCREENS AT MARKETPLACE $175,000

The community’s use and appreciation of the Marketplace on the Green is growing. Our new venue
is fast becoming the community center for the entire region. We now have one of the most
attractive farmers’ market in the state. However, on windy days it is a “hot mess.” [ support
Director Maisner’s request to enhance our Marketplace ambience by installing windscreens. The
addition will add much value to the use of the Marketplace over the next two decades.

TOTAL RECOMMENDED EXPENSES $4,515,500

TOTAL ANTICIPATED ARP FUNDS $4,521,263

Thank you for your consideration

— A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community.

meridian.mi.us



To: Board Members

From: Melissa Massie, Director of Project Management & Operations
Date: April 26,2022

Re: Discussion of American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) Funding

Meridian Township is able to use our $4,521,263 in ARP funds for anything that falls within the
services we traditionally provide. This memo outlines how and why we are able to do this, and the
deadlines we must meet for obligating and spending our ARP funds.

ARP funds can be spent upon receipt and must be obligated (i.e. appropriated) by December 31,
2024. Funds must be expended (i.e. spent) by December 31, 2026.

Funds can be used for costs incurred from March 3, 2021, through December 31, 2024 (except
premium pay for essential employees can be retroactive to January 27, 2020). For instance, under
this retroactive provision, we would use ARP funding to reimburse the Township’s general fund
for the two rounds hazard pay for police and fire.

An overview of the Final Rule for ARP funding issued by the U.S. Department of Treasury in
January of 2022 can be accessed at this link and is also included as an attachment to this memo.

Recipients of ARP funds may determine their revenue loss by choosing one of two options:

1. Astandard allowance of up to $10 million in aggregate lost revenue, not to exceed their
award amount (Meridian Township’s award amount is $4,521,263).

2. Calculating their jurisdiction’s specific revenue loss each year using Treasury’s formula,
which compares actual revenue to a counterfactual trend.

Since Meridian Township did not experience a revenue loss of over $10 million, we have elected to
take the standard allowance. Under this option, Treasury presumes that up to $10 million in
revenue has been lost due to the public health emergency and we are allowed to use our
$4,521,263 in ARP funds for “government services.” Under the final rule, “government services”
generally include any service traditionally provided by a government, unless Treasury has stated
otherwise.

Therefore, Meridian Township is able to use our $4,521,263 in ARP funds for anything that falls
within the services we traditionally provide. Government services is the most flexible eligible use
category under the Finale Rule, and we have a streamlined reporting and compliance
requirements.

There are some restrictions for ARP funding, which are covered under pages 41-42 of the
overview of the Final Rule. The restrictions include:


https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRF-Final-Rule-Overview.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRF-Final-Rule-Overview.pdf

Memo to Township Board

April 26, 2022

Re: Discussion of American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) Funding
Page 2

e No recipients except Tribal governments may use this funding to make a deposit to a
pension fund.

e No debt service or replenishing financial reserves. Since SLFRF funds are intended to be
used prospectively, recipients may not use SLFRF funds for debt service or replenishing
financial reserves (e.g., rainy day funds).

e No satisfaction of settlements and judgments. Satisfaction of any obligation arising under
or pursuant to a settlement agreement, judgment, consent decree, or judicially confirmed
debt restructuring in a judicial, administrative, or regulatory proceeding is itself not an
eligible use. However, if a settlement requires the recipient to provide services or incur
other costs that are an eligible use of SLFRF funds, SLFRF may be used for those costs.

The big question for the Township to consider is: how do we maximize the use of our one-
time ARP funds? Here is a breakdown, by department, as to how we believe the ARP funds
could be utilized across the Township:

Assessing

1. Digitizing old parcel records. This would require manpower and could be accomplished
hiring an outside firm ($7-10K) or ordering 4 high quality desktop scanners ($900 each,
$3,600 total) for assessing staff to complete this process during off peak times. There
would also be the expense of digital storage as there could be over 100,000 scanned
images. The public benefit is the ease of locating and sharing historic information for
public requests and FOIAs.

2. Re-inspection program. These are budgeted items but could be eligible for these funds
instead: 2 computers for interns, measuring wheel, dedicated pool car for summer use (our
department has 1 car that is already in use by our appraisers).

3. Office desks/department beautification. We understand the public benefit beyond
employee retention is limited and believe the first 2 options are the best use of funds.

Communications

1. Free WI-FI in Township parks (help with broadband initiatives for community access)

2. Television streaming equipment at Central Fire Station and/or other township buildings
(smaller version of the Town Hall A/V project - allows HOMTV to televise/stream meeting
coverage from other locations outside of the Municipal Building. This will also allow for
press conference coverage/streaming from other locations.)

3. Equipment/software to continue to streamline processes and going paperless (there’s
agenda management/building software and digital forms services we should look in to.
These can be added on the Township website and help drive more digital services).

Community Planning

1. Upgraded BS&A software to implement paperless permitting (~$30,000)

\/ A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community.

meridian.mi.us



Memo to Township Board

April 26, 2022

Re: Discussion of American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) Funding
Page 3

2. Plan Review hardware to implement paperless permitting (~$20,000 if we’re covering Fire
and Engineering)

Economic Development

1. Burial of the High Voltage Distribution Line: The HVD at the corners of Hamilton and
Okemos Road should be buried prior to additional growth in Downtown. The burial of the
line will be completed by Consumers Energy and paid for by the Township. The exact
burial is to occur from North of Methodist Street to South of Clinton on Okemos Road.

2. Home Improvement or First Time Buyer Loan Program: Low interest revolving loan fund
(fund to start at $250,000) for residents to apply for major home improvement updates
such as roof, HVAC, plumbing or foundational work (the list can be expanded). Interest
could be used to continue to maintain the fund. Also, this loan could be used as first-time
homebuyer down payment assistance.

3. Small Business Development Loan: qualifying Meridian Township small businesses may
apply to the Township for a low-interest loan to make improvements to their businesses.
Facade, staffing, payroll, permits, development, etc. would be qualifying expenses. The
small interest payments may be forgiven if the business is developed in a PICA and stays in
business for an extended amount of time.

Fire Department

1. Power Cots - Stryker Power Load Pro2
e Many organizations are updating to power cots to support decrease in back
injuries, knee injuries, hernias and other strains. With our current cots, each
patient is lifted three times (loaded on cot, cot into ambulance, and cot taken out of
ambulance at hospital) to transport to a hospital of choice. Because of safety
requirements, cot weights have increased creating more strain on each paramedic,
thus injuries occur.

Stryker guarantees at least a 50% reduction in cot-related injuries pertaining to
raising, lowering, loading and unloading cots and 100% reduction in missed safety
hooks while unloading cots with the Power-PRO and Power-LOAD in full operation.
If not, Stryker will refund the price paid for the Power-PRO cots and Power-LOAD
cot fastening systems. These cots as well can support heavier bariatric patients,
current cots have a 600 lb. weight capacity. Three departments in Metro Lansing
have already made the changes and one just ordered (East Lansing, NEISA, Delta
and Delhi). Lastly, during a mass casualty incident, these cots would be
interchangeable between our partner agencies and used in any ambulance.

\/ A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community.

meridian.mi.us



Memo to Township Board

April 26, 2022

Re: Discussion of American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) Funding
Page 4

e To purchase Power Cots, we would need the cot and the loading mechanism in the
ambulance:

e Power Pro2 Cots - $26,158 x 4 = $104,632

e Power Load mechanism in ambulance - $24,244 x 4 = $96,976

e Battery, charger, cords - $1,552 x 4 = $6,208

e Annual service agreement after 2 years - $5,287 x 4 = $21,148
e Total project = $234,251

2. Updating our SCBA’s:

e Atthe time of purchase of the units in our SCBA cache, the projected life expectancy
was 10 (ten) years. The new replacement SCBA units have a 15 (fifteen) year life
expectancy.

e In addition to the age of our current SCBA, the soft goods parts (straps, material
shoulder harnesses, waist belt) cannot be detached to be decontaminated.
Therefore, our current SCBA cannot be completely decontaminated.

e As part of our initiative to reduce cancer, we have ordered a pumper and ladder
with the clean cab concept to reduce our exposure to the cancer-causing
byproducts of fire. SCBAs are an essential part of firefighter personal protection
equipment when operating in environments that are Immediate Dangerous to Life
and Health (IDLH). These environments include all fires, hazardous materials
incidents, low oxygen level areas, confined spaces and fire investigations.

e All of the demo SCBA units were evaluated for:

o Total weight

e Comfort

o Fit

¢ Universal fittings

¢ Range of vision of the face piece/mask

¢ Range of motion

e Adjustability of SCBA frame to fit staff of varying sizes and stature
e SCBA bottle weight

¢ Ease of soft goods detachment for decontamination

e Training needed to service SCBA

¢ Evaluated in real-life scenarios at our live fire training building

e Based upon physical evaluation of the three SCBA manufacturers, the SCOTT Self

Contained Breathing Apparatus are the preferred SCBA to purchase by the
Meridian Township Fire Department through West Shore Fire. These new design

\/ A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community.

meridian.mi.us



Memo to Township Board

April 26, 2022

Re: Discussion of American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) Funding
Page 5

SCBA will work with our current cylinders so we only need to replace 20 cylinders
that will be out of life expectancy in 2 years.

e Harness - $5,929 x 34 = $201,586
e SCBA Cylinders - $1,140 x 20 = $22,800
e Total project = $224,386

Human Resources

None at this time.

Information Technology

Improvements to bandwidth and items in the interest of network health:

Firewall & SD WAN $170,000 (Network Protection & Internet Performance)

LAN Switches - $250,000 (420k) (Internal network performance & stability)

SAN - $140,000 (560k) (Network Storage)

Wi-Fi access - $80,000 (640Kk) (Connection for wireless devices)

Workstations - $75,000/year (715k) (End user workstations)

Backup Server - $28,000 ($743k) (Onsite backup and point to push backups to cloud)
2023 Workstations $75,000 ($817k) (End User workstations)

(Dirty Switch & VPN device) +5k (Fast track important improvements

etc. (we have five years of expenditures we can adjust if we so choose)

Parks & Recreation

1. Heavy duty retractable windscreens for Marketplace on the Green - $170,000
Building maintenance and repair of structures in the Historical Village - $100,000
Restrooms at Marketplace - Upgrade for year-round use - $10,000

New park signs - $400,000

BN

Police Department

1. Access control and video surveillance - This will include the Municipal Building, the police
department and all 3 fire department buildings. I would also suggest the service center.
Adding video to all major parks (Towner Road, Nancy Moore and Hartrick). Vehicle access
control to PD back lot fencing off back police lot.

2. Building maintenance - our building needs painting, shades, office equipment (tables,
desks, chairs, flooring). Town Hall needs updating and maintenance.

\/ A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community.

meridian.mi.us



Memo to Township Board

April 26, 2022

Re: Discussion of American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) Funding
Page 6

3. Computer infrastructure - our network is imperative to completing our mission. I would
like to be on an independent network for police that allows for access to our public safety
applications in a stable and secure manner.

Public Works & Engineering

1. 2023 and/or 2024 Local Road Program ($1 million to $4 million): We could more than
double our 2023 local road program by utilizing ARP funding. As you can see from the
attached PASER rating map, 77.55 out of our 147 miles of Township roads are in poor
condition today (i.e. Red), or 52.75%.

One big benefit of investing ARP money into roads is that we will be able to limit how much
we inconvenience residents with road construction. The ARP money would help us get in
and get out of some neighborhoods in one year, as opposed to multiple years, and advance
every road that needs to be reconstructed by one year.

We get bids in for the 2022 local road program on Friday, April 22. We expect to see very
high inflation, which will profoundly reduce the number of miles we are able to reconstruct
under the 2019 10-year road millage.

Inflation in the construction industry is reaching historic highs right now due to the influx
of federal stimulus funding. We used to be unique in having significant funding for road
and infrastructure projects.

Now, due to the federal stimulus, every community has more money than they know what
to do with. These contractors are inundated with work to bid on now, so they are bidding
extremely high for many reasons, including:

1. They can afford to lose the bid.

2. They will struggle to find enough labor and equipment if they do get the contract, so
they bid high knowing they will have to pay extremely well to get the labor necessary
and it will be very difficult to acquire additional equipment due to supply chain
issues.

3. There are very few contractors who work on public roads due to the state of
Michigan’s poor investment in roads. We only have three contractors who are
qualified and located in our region to bid on our road projects.

Therefore, if we do not invest ARP funding in roads, we are likely going to fall short of our
goal of achieving an average PASER rating of 8 (on the 1-10 PASER rating scale) by 2029
(i-e. the final year of the new 10-year road millage).

[ will have a tentative 2023 road plan with and without ARP funding to present to the

Board Tuesday evening. [ can’t finalize this until we get our bids in on Friday, April 22 to
assess the extent of the inflation we are experiencing.

\/ A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community.

meridian.mi.us



Memo to Township Board

April 26, 2022

Re: Discussion of American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) Funding
Page 7

2. The Eastern-Third and Van Atta Road to Okemos Road Trail Loop ($200,000-
$400,000 in Township Funds; $2 million to $3 million Total Construction Cost;
Township share would be about 10-13% of Total Construction Costs): Using ARP
funds for pathway and trail projects would be the best way to obtain additional funding.
Pathway and trail projects always yield the best funding match. About 90% of the Okemos
Road boardwalk was funded by the Ingham County Trails and Parks Millage.

With these pathway projects, we can pursue funding from the Natural Resources Trust
Fund and federal TAP grants from MDOT. So for every $1 dollar in ARP money we invest,
we will get $7-$10 in match funding from these other funding sources (i.e. bringing our
state and federal tax dollars back to Meridian Township).

Utilizing the Consumers Energy right-of-way (ROW), we can build two major trails that are
part of our 2021 Pathway Master Plan (both of these trails are new ideas that were put into
the Pathway Master Plan during the 2021 update):

1. Anorth-south trail running between and parallel to Cornell Road and Van Atta Rd.
The trail would start at Haslett Road and go to the south end of the Township ending
at Legg Park. We have very few good trail connections in the “Eastern-Third” of the
Township, so this would fill a huge gap in non-motorized connectivity.

However, every Township resident who uses our trails would use this pathway as it
creates loops or circles with our existing trails and pathways that our residents can
use.

2. Atthe south end of this new trail, we would then go east all the way to Okemos Road
using the Consumers Energy ROW.

Together, these two trails will create loops that all of our residents can use and access. For
instance, you could ride your bike on a loop from Haslett Road where the trail begins on
the north end all the way to Okemos Rd. You could then take Okemos Road north to the
existing interurban pathway, which takes you back to Haslett Road at the Marsh Road
intersection, where we will eventually have a trail head with a bathroom. Loops or circular
routes are ideal because resident don’t have to just double back at the end of the pathway,
they can creates interconnected routes for their enjoyment.

These trails would be very similar to the construction of the interurban pathway, meaning
they would be 10-foot wide asphalt pathways with very scenic views. The 2021 Pathway
Master Plan with these proposed two connected trails highlighted in pink are attached for
your review. We have already begun negotiating easements with Consumers Energy for
these trails.

\/ A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community.

meridian.mi.us



Memo to Township Board

April 26, 2022

Re: Discussion of American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) Funding
Page 8

3. Investing in our water and sewer systems (Township cost would be 50% of the
construction costs listed below): This allows us to seek and obtain additional funding
from the state’s Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) and the Clean Water State
Revolving Fund (CWSRF). These are traditionally 50/50 matching grants, so we receive $1
in grant funding from the state for every $1 we invest.

Here are a list of projects in our current capital improvement plan (CIP) that we could fund
with ARP. Depending on how much ARP money we invest, we could potentially freeze
water rates for 1-3 years and pass the savings on to our residents via their water bills. At a
minimum, we would be able pass the cost savings to our residents by limiting the increase
in our water rates.

$700,000: 2023 County Park North Lift Station (Sewer Fund)

$560,000: 2023 Replace 16” Water Main Valves (Water Fund)

$425,000: 2023 Sanitary Sewer Rehab (Sewer Fund)

$530,000: 2024 Kinawa Water Main Replacement (Water Fund)

$120,000: 2024 Cornel Lift Station Generator and Electrical Panel (Sewer Fund)
$350,000: 2024 Sanitary Sewer Rehab (Sewer Fund)

$280,000: 2025 Replace 16” Water Main Valves (Water Fund)

$175,000: 2025 South Water Tower Exterior Maintenance (Water Fund)
$400,000: 2025 Sanitary Sewer Rehab (Sewer Fund)

$55,000: 2025 Woodhill Lift Station Onsite Backup Generator (Sewer Fund)
$1.4 million: 2026 Okemos Road, Tamarack, Shawnee Water Main Rep. (Water Fund)
$700,000: 2026 Forest Hills Lift Station Replacement (Sewer Fund)

This is a total of $5.695 million in water and sewer projects that we have in the Township’s
CIP over the next four years. These cost estimates do not reflect the inflation we are seeing
in the construction industry right now. The costs are likely 15-30% higher now and will
continue to increase annually.

The Meridian Township Water Division maintains, repairs and operates the water
distribution system; which includes 158 miles of water mains, over 12,000 water services,
15,000+ water meters, 15,000+ remote readers, 2,000+ water distribution valves, 1,900+
fire hydrants, 1,900+ fire hydrant valves and two 500,000 gallon elevated storage tanks.

The Meridian Township Sewer Division is responsible for the maintenance, repair and
operation of approximately 190 miles of sanitary sewer collection lines, 4,050 Township
owned sanitary manholes and 31 sanitary sewage pumping stations ranging in size from
3.5 million gallons per day to a few thousand gallons per day. Maintenance items
include: main line sewer cleaning, grease and debris removal in sewer lines, manhole
cleaning and repairs, manhole inspections, closed circuit television (CCTV) inspections,
inspections and cleaning of sanitary sewage pumping stations, pump repair and
maintenance and electrical repairs of pump control panels.

\/ A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community.

meridian.mi.us



Memo to Township Board

April 26, 2022

Re: Discussion of American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) Funding
Page 9

Attachments:

1. Overview of the Final Rule for ARP funding issued by the U.S. Department of Treasury in
January of 2022

2021 Post-Construction PASER Ratings for the 147 Miles of Township Roads
Post-Construction PASER Rating Report

2020 (Year 1) Township Road Program

2021 (Year 2) Township Road Program

2022 (Year 3) Township Road Program

2021 Pathway Master Plan

NoulewdN

\/ A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community.

meridian.mi.us



Coronavirus State & Local
Fiscal Recovery Funds:
Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

January 2022




U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

The Overview of the Final Rule provides a summary of major provisions of the final
rule for informational purposes and is intended as a brief, simplified user guide to the
final rule provisions.

The descriptions provided in this document summarize key provisions of the final rule
but are non-exhaustive, do not describe all terms and conditions associated with the use
of SLFRF, and do not describe all requirements that may apply to this funding. Any SLFRF
funds received are also subject to the terms and conditions of the agreement entered
into by Treasury and the respective jurisdiction, which incorporate the provisions of the
final rule and the guidance that implements this program.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Contents
INEFOTUCTION .ttt ettt st e ettt e s bt e e bt e e s abeesbbeesabeeeabbeesabeesabbeesabeesabaeesabeesbaeenasens 4
OVEIVIEW OF The PrOSIam . ..ottt e ettt e e e e st e e e e atte e e e abtee e e asaeeeesnseeeesanstaeeeansees 6
Replacing Lost PUDIIC SECLOIr REVENUE ....cccc ottt e e e et e e e e e e e s naatr e e e e s e e s ennnnreaneeeenas 9
Responding to Public Health and Economic Impacts of COVID-19.........ccovcviiiiiiiiiieniiiiee e eereee e 12
Responding to the Public Health EMErZENCY.....c.uviiiiiiii ittt s 14
Responding to Negative ECONOMIC IMPACES.....cccvuiiiiiiiiiieiccieie ettt e et e e e e aree e e saaee e e eanes 16
ASSIStANCE t0 HOUSENOIAS ...ttt st st b e b e sre e 17
AsSISTaNCe t0 SMAll BUSINESSES ...ceuvieiiieeiiiieiiie ettt s b e e s e sneeenes 21
ASSIStANCE 10 NONPIOTILS c.uuiiiiiiiiiiee e et e e s s e e s sbeeeesenbaeeessnreeeeenns 23
FiN o I ol [ g o F- Yot €=To gV [T E d o [=T- SR SRUSR 24
] o T ol Y=Tot do ] G =Y o = Lol VUSRS 26
Public Safety, Public Health, and Human Services Staff .........cccccoviiieciii e, 26
Government Employment and Rehiring Public Sector Staff........ccccoooeeciieii e, 27
EffECtiVe SEIVICE DEIIVEIY ... eiiii ettt e e et e s st e e s s abe e e s snbeeeesnneeesssraeeas 28
CaPital EXPENAITUIES .eeiiieiiiie ettt ettt ettt ettt e et e e e st e e e st eeeesastaeeeesbeeesanssaeeeanssaeeesnssseessnssenens 30
Framework for Eligible Uses Beyond those ENUMErated ...........ccceeecieeeiiiiiee et 32
Lo =0 0110 T - 1 S 35
Water & SEWET INFIraStrUCTUIE ..ot st e e e sr e s e e e s esneeesnreas 37
Broadband INFrastrUCTUIE .......ccoiuiiiiiie ettt ettt et st e e st e s bt e e s b e e sbeeesabeesabeeennee 39
RESTIICEIONS 0N USE ittt e sbb s s sraa e s saaae e s 41
Program AdMINISTIAtion ........cciiiiiiiiiiieiec e s e s e e s e e s st e e e e e e e e s sarteaeeeeeesenansntaneeeaees 43

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 3



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
Introduction

The Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF), a part of the American Rescue Plan,
delivers $350 billion to state, local, and Tribal governments across the country to support their response
to and recovery from the COVID-19 public health emergency. The program ensures that governments
have the resources needed to:

e Fight the pandemic and support families and businesses struggling with its public health and
economic impacts,

e Maintain vital public services, even amid declines in revenue, and

e Build a strong, resilient, and equitable recovery by making investments that support long-term
growth and opportunity.

EARLY PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION

In May 2021, Treasury published the Interim final rule (IFR) describing eligible and ineligible uses of
funds (as well as other program provisions), sought feedback from the public on these program rules,
and began to distribute funds. The IFR went immediately into effect in May, and since then,
governments have used SLFRF funds to meet their immediate pandemic response needs and begin
building a strong and equitable recovery, such as through providing vaccine incentives, development of
affordable housing, and construction of infrastructure to deliver safe and reliable water.

As governments began to deploy this funding in their communities, Treasury carefully considered the
feedback provided through its public comment process and other forums. Treasury received over 1,500
comments, participated in hundreds of meetings, and received correspondence from a wide range of
governments and other stakeholders.

KEY CHANGES AND CLARIFICATIONS IN THE FINAL RULE

The final rule delivers broader flexibility and greater simplicity in the program, responsive to feedback in
the comment process. Among other clarifications and changes, the final rule provides the features
below.

Replacing Lost Public Sector Revenue

The final rule offers a standard allowance for revenue loss of up to $10 million, allowing recipients to
select between a standard amount of revenue loss or complete a full revenue loss calculation.

Recipients that select the standard allowance may use that amount — in many cases their full award — for
government services, with streamlined reporting requirements.

Public Health and Economic Impacts

In addition to programs and services, the final rule clarifies that recipients can use funds for capital
expenditures that support an eligible COVID-19 public health or economic response. For example,
recipients may build certain affordable housing, childcare facilities, schools, hospitals, and other projects
consistent with final rule requirements.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 4



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

In addition, the final rule provides an expanded set of households and communities that are presumed
to be “impacted” and “disproportionately impacted” by the pandemic, thereby allowing recipients to
provide responses to a broad set of households and entities without requiring additional analysis.
Further, the final rule provides a broader set of uses available for these communities as part of COVID-
19 public health and economic response, including making affordable housing, childcare, early learning,
and services to address learning loss during the pandemic eligible in all impacted communities and
making certain community development and neighborhood revitalization activities eligible for
disproportionately impacted communities.

Further, the final rule allows for a broader set of uses to restore and support government employment,
including hiring above a recipient’s pre-pandemic baseline, providing funds to employees that
experienced pay cuts or furloughs, avoiding layoffs, and providing retention incentives.

Premium Pay

The final rule delivers more streamlined options to provide premium pay, by broadening the share of
eligible workers who can receive premium pay without a written justification while maintaining a focus
on lower-income and frontline workers performing essential work.

Water, Sewer & Broadband Infrastructure

The final rule significantly broadens eligible broadband infrastructure investments to address challenges
with broadband access, affordability, and reliability, and adds additional eligible water and sewer
infrastructure investments, including a broader range of lead remediation and stormwater management
projects.

FINAL RULE EFFECTIVE DATE

The final rule takes effect on April 1, 2022. Until that time, the interim final rule remains in effect; funds
used consistently with the IFR while it is in effect are in compliance with the SLFRF program.

However, recipients can choose to take advantage of the final rule’s flexibilities and simplifications now,
even ahead of the effective date. Treasury will not take action to enforce the interim final rule to the
extent that a use of funds is consistent with the terms of the final rule, regardless of when the SLFRF
funds were used. Recipients may consult the Statement Regarding Compliance with the Coronavirus
State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds Interim Final Rule and Final Rule, which can be found on Treasury’s
website, for more information on compliance with the interim final rule and the final rule.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 5



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Overview of the Program

The Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF) program provides substantial flexibility
for each jurisdiction to meet local needs within the four separate eligible use categories. This Overview

of the Final Rule addresses the four eligible use categories ordered from the broadest and most flexible
to the most specific.

Recipients may use SLFRF funds to:

* Replace lost public sector revenue, using this funding to provide government services up to the
amount of revenue loss due to the pandemic.

* Recipients may determine their revenue loss by choosing between two options:

» Astandard allowance of up to $10 million in aggregate, not to exceed their
award amount, during the program;

* Calculating their jurisdiction’s specific revenue loss each year using Treasury’s
formula, which compares actual revenue to a counterfactual trend.

* Recipients may use funds up to the amount of revenue loss for government services;
generally, services traditionally provided by recipient governments are government
services, unless Treasury has stated otherwise.

*  Support the COVID-19 public health and economic response by addressing COVID-19 and its
impact on public health as well as addressing economic harms to households, small businesses,
nonprofits, impacted industries, and the public sector.

* Recipients can use funds for programs, services, or capital expenditures that respond to
the public health and negative economic impacts of the pandemic.

* To provide simple and clear eligible uses of funds, Treasury provides a list of
enumerated uses that recipients can provide to households, populations, or classes (i.e.,
groups) that experienced pandemic impacts.

e Public health eligible uses include COVID-19 mitigation and prevention, medical
expenses, behavioral healthcare, and preventing and responding to violence.

e Eligible uses to respond to negative economic impacts are organized by the type of
beneficiary: assistance to households, small businesses, and nonprofits.

e Each category includes assistance for “impacted” and “disproportionately
impacted” classes: impacted classes experienced the general, broad-based
impacts of the pandemic, while disproportionately impacted classes faced
meaningfully more severe impacts, often due to preexisting disparities.

*  To simplify administration, the final rule presumes that some populations and

groups were impacted or disproportionately impacted and are eligible for
responsive services.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 6



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

* Eligible uses for assistance to impacted households include aid for re-
employment, job training, food, rent, mortgages, utilities, affordable housing
development, childcare, early education, addressing learning loss, and many
more uses.

* Eligible uses for assistance to impacted small businesses or nonprofits include
loans or grants to mitigate financial hardship, technical assistance for small
businesses, and many more uses.

* Recipients can also provide assistance to impacted industries like travel, tourism, and
hospitality that faced substantial pandemic impacts, or address impacts to the public
sector, for example by re-hiring public sector workers cut during the crisis.

e Recipients providing funds for enumerated uses to populations and groups that
Treasury has presumed eligible are clearly operating consistently with the final rule.
Recipients can also identify (1) other populations or groups, beyond those presumed
eligible, that experienced pandemic impacts or disproportionate impacts and (2) other
programs, services, or capital expenditures, beyond those enumerated, to respond to
those impacts.

* Provide premium pay for eligible workers performing essential work, offering additional
support to those who have and will bear the greatest health risks because of their service in
critical sectors.

* Recipients may provide premium pay to eligible workers — generally those working in-
person in key economic sectors — who are below a wage threshold or non-exempt from
the Fair Labor Standards Act overtime provisions, or if the recipient submits justification
that the premium pay is responsive to workers performing essential work.

* Invest in water, sewer, and broadband infrastructure, making necessary investments to
improve access to clean drinking water, to support vital wastewater and stormwater
infrastructure, and to expand affordable access to broadband internet.

* Recipients may fund a broad range of water and sewer projects, including those eligible
under the EPA’s Clean Water State Revolving Fund, EPA’s Drinking Water State
Revolving Fund, and certain additional projects, including a wide set of lead
remediation, stormwater infrastructure, and aid for private wells and septic units.

* Recipients may fund high-speed broadband infrastructure in areas of need that the
recipient identifies, such as areas without access to adequate speeds, affordable
options, or where connections are inconsistent or unreliable; completed projects must
participate in a low-income subsidy program.

While recipients have considerable flexibility to use funds to address the diverse needs of their
communities, some restrictions on use apply across all eligible use categories. These include:

o For states and territories: No offsets of a reduction in net tax revenue resulting from a change

in state or territory law.
Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

e For all recipients except for Tribal governments: No extraordinary contributions to a pension
fund for the purpose of reducing an accrued, unfunded liability.

e For all recipients: No payments for debt service and replenishments of rainy day funds; no
satisfaction of settlements and judgments; no uses that contravene or violate the American
Rescue Plan Act, Uniform Guidance conflicts of interest requirements, and other federal, state,
and local laws and regulations.

Under the SLFRF program, funds must be used for costs incurred on or after March 3, 2021. Further,
funds must be obligated by December 31, 2024, and expended by December 31, 2026. This time period,
during which recipients can expend SLFRF funds, is the “period of performance.”

In addition to SLFRF, the American Rescue Plan includes other sources of funding for state and local
governments, including the Coronavirus Capital Projects Fund to fund critical capital investments

including broadband infrastructure; the Homeowner Assistance Fund to provide relief for our country’s
most vulnerable homeowners; the Emergency Rental Assistance Program to assist households that are
unable to pay rent or utilities; and the State Small Business Credit Initiative to fund small business credit
expansion initiatives. Eligible recipients are encouraged to visit the Treasury website for more
information.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury


https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/coronavirus/assistance-for-state-local-and-tribal-governments/capital-projects-fund
https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/coronavirus/assistance-for-state-local-and-tribal-governments/homeowner-assistance-fund
https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/coronavirus/assistance-for-state-local-and-tribal-governments/emergency-rental-assistance-program
https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/coronavirus/assistance-for-state-local-and-tribal-governments/state-small-business-credit-initiative

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Replacing Lost Public Sector Revenue

The Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds provide needed fiscal relief for recipients that
have experienced revenue loss due to the onset of the COVID-19 public health emergency. Specifically,
SLFRF funding may be used to pay for “government services” in an amount equal to the revenue loss
experienced by the recipient due to the COVID-19 public health emergency.

Government services generally include any service traditionally provided by a government, including
construction of roads and other infrastructure, provision of public safety and other services, and health
and educational services. Funds spent under government services are subject to streamlined reporting
and compliance requirements.

In order to use funds under government services, recipients should first determine revenue loss. They
may, then, spend up to that amount on general government services.

DETERMINING REVENUE LOSS

Recipients have two options for how to determine their amount of revenue loss. Recipients must choose
one of the two options and cannot switch between these approaches after an election is made.

1. Recipients may elect a “standard allowance” of $10 million to spend on government services
through the period of performance.

Under this option, which is newly offered in the final rule Treasury presumes that up to $10
million in revenue has been lost due to the public health emergency and recipients are
permitted to use that amount (not to exceed the award amount) to fund “government services.”
The standard allowance provides an estimate of revenue loss that is based on an extensive
analysis of average revenue loss across states and localities, and offers a simple, convenient way
to determine revenue loss, particularly for SLFRF’s smallest recipients.

All recipients may elect to use this standard allowance instead of calculating lost revenue using
the formula below, including those with total allocations of $10 million or less. Electing the
standard allowance does not increase or decrease a recipient’s total allocation.

2. Recipients may calculate their actual revenue loss according to the formula articulated in the
final rule.

Under this option, recipients calculate revenue loss at four distinct points in time, either at the
end of each calendar year (e.g., December 31 for years 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023) or the end
of each fiscal year of the recipient. Under the flexibility provided in the final rule, recipients can
choose whether to use calendar or fiscal year dates but must be consistent throughout the
period of performance. Treasury has also provided several adjustments to the definition of
general revenue in the final rule.

To calculate revenue loss at each of these dates, recipients must follow a four-step process:

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 9



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

a. Calculate revenues collected in the most recent full fiscal year prior to the public health
emergency (i.e., last full fiscal year before January 27, 2020), called the base year
revenue.

b. Estimate counterfactual revenue, which is equal to the following formula, where n is the
number of months elapsed since the end of the base year to the calculation date:

n
base year revenue X (1 + growth adjustment)12

The growth adjustment is the greater of either a standard growth rate—5.2 percent—or
the recipient’s average annual revenue growth in the last full three fiscal years prior to
the COVID-19 public health emergency.

c. ldentify actual revenue, which equals revenues collected over the twelve months
immediately preceding the calculation date.

Under the final rule, recipients must adjust actual revenue totals for the effect of tax
cuts and tax increases that are adopted after the date of adoption of the final rule
(January 6, 2022). Specifically, the estimated fiscal impact of tax cuts and tax increases
adopted after January 6, 2022, must be added or subtracted to the calculation of actual
revenue for purposes of calculation dates that occur on or after April 1, 2022.

Recipients may subtract from their calculation of actual revenue the effect of tax
increases enacted prior to the adoption of the final rule. Note that recipients that elect
to remove the effect of tax increases enacted before the adoption of the final rule must
also remove the effect of tax decreases enacted before the adoption of the final rule,
such that they are accurately removing the effect of tax policy changes on revenue.

d. Revenue loss for the calculation date is equal to counterfactual revenue minus actual
revenue (adjusted for tax changes) for the twelve-month period. If actual revenue
exceeds counterfactual revenue, the loss is set to zero for that twelve-month period.
Revenue loss for the period of performance is the sum of the revenue loss on for each
calculation date.

The supplementary information in the final rule provides an example of this calculation, which
recipients may find helpful, in the Revenue Loss section.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 10



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

SPENDING ON GOVERNMENT SERVICES

Recipients can use SLFRF funds on government services up to the revenue loss amount, whether that be
the standard allowance amount or the amount calculated using the above approach. Government
services generally include any service traditionally provided by a government, unless Treasury has
stated otherwise. Here are some common examples, although this list is not exhaustive:

v
v

v
v

Construction of schools and hospitals v Environmental remediation

Road building and maintenance, and v Provision of police, fire, and other public
other infrastructure safety services (including purchase of
Health services fire trucks and police vehicles)

General government administration,
staff, and administrative facilities

Government services is the most flexible eligible use category under the SLFRF program, and funds are
subject to streamlined reporting and compliance requirements. Recipients should be mindful that
certain restrictions, which are detailed further in the Restrictions on Use section and apply to all uses of
funds, apply to government services as well.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 11



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
Responding to Public Health and Economic Impacts of COVID-19

The Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds provide resources for governments to meet the
public health and economic needs of those impacted by the pandemic in their communities, as well as
address longstanding health and economic disparities, which amplified the impact of the pandemic in
disproportionately impacted communities, resulting in more severe pandemic impacts.

The eligible use category to respond to public health and negative economic impacts is organized
around the types of assistance a recipient may provide and includes several sub-categories:

e public health,

e assistance to households,

e assistance to small businesses,
e assistance to nonprofits,

e aid to impacted industries, and
e public sector capacity.

In general, to identify eligible uses of funds in this category, recipients should (1) identify a COVID-19
public health or economic impact on an individual or class (i.e., a group) and (2) design a program that
responds to that impact. Responses should be related and reasonably proportional to the harm
identified and reasonably designed to benefit those impacted.

To provide simple, clear eligible uses of funds that meet this standard, Treasury provides a non-
exhaustive list of enumerated uses that respond to pandemic impacts. Treasury also presumes that
some populations experienced pandemic impacts and are eligible for responsive services. In other
words, recipients providing enumerated uses of funds to populations presumed eligible are clearly
operating consistently with the final rule.!

Recipients also have broad flexibility to (1) identify and respond to other pandemic impacts and (2)
serve other populations that experienced pandemic impacts, beyond the enumerated uses and
presumed eligible populations. Recipients can also identify groups or “classes” of beneficiaries that
experienced pandemic impacts and provide services to those classes.

1 However, please note that use of funds for enumerated uses may not be grossly disproportionate to the harm. Further,
recipients should consult the Capital Expenditures section for more information about pursuing a capital expenditure; please
note that enumerated capital expenditures are not presumed to be reasonably proportional responses to an identified harm
except as provided in the Capital Expenditures section.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

12



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Step 1. Identify COVID-19 public health or 2. Design a response that addresses or
economic impact responds to the impact
Analysis o Types of responses can include a

e Can identify impact to a specific
household, business or nonprofit or
to a class of households, businesses,
or nonprofits (i.e., group)

e Can also identify disproportionate
impacts, or more severe impacts, to
a specific beneficiary or to a class

program, service, or capital
expenditure

e Response should be related and
reasonably proportional to the harm

e Response should also be reasonably
designed to benefit impacted
individual or class

e Final Rule provides non-exhaustive
list of enumerated eligible uses that
respond to pandemic impacts and
disproportionate impacts

Simplifying

A e Final Rule presumes certain
Presumptions

populations and classes are impacted
and disproportionately impacted

To assess eligibility of uses of funds, recipients should first determine the sub-category where their use
of funds may fit (e.g., public health, assistance to households, assistance to small businesses), based on
the entity that experienced the health or economic impact.2 Then, recipients should refer to the relevant
section for more details on each sub-category.

While the same overall eligibility standard applies to all uses of funds to respond to the public health
and negative economic impacts of the pandemic, each sub-category has specific nuances on its
application. In addition:

e Recipients interested in using funds for capital expenditures (i.e., investments in property,
facilities, or equipment) should review the Capital Expenditures section in addition to the
eligible use sub-category.

e Recipients interested in other uses of funds, beyond the enumerated uses, should refer to the
section on “Framework for Eligible Uses Beyond Those Enumerated.”

2 For example, a recipient interested in providing aid to unemployed individuals is addressing a negative economic impact
experienced by a household and should refer to the section on assistance to households. Recipients should also be aware of the
difference between “beneficiaries” and “sub-recipients.” Beneficiaries are households, small businesses, or nonprofits that can
receive assistance based on impacts of the pandemic that they experienced. On the other hand, sub-recipients are
organizations that carry out eligible uses on behalf of a government, often through grants or contracts. Sub-recipients do not
need to have experienced a negative economic impact of the pandemic; rather, they are providing services to beneficiaries that
experienced an impact.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 13



RESPONDING TO THE PUBLIC HEALTH EMERGENCY

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

While the country has made tremendous progress in the fight against COVID-19, including a historic
vaccination campaign, the disease still poses a grave threat to Americans’ health and the economy.
Providing state, local, and Tribal governments the resources needed to fight the COVID-19 pandemic is a
core goal of the Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, as well as addressing the other ways
that the pandemic has impacted public health. Treasury has identified several public health impacts of
the pandemic and enumerated uses of funds to respond to impacted populations.

COVID-19 mitigation and prevention. The pandemic has broadly impacted Americans and recipients

can provide services to prevent and mitigate COVID-19 to the general public or to small businesses,

nonprofits, and impacted industries in general. Enumerated eligible uses include:

v

v

<\

<

Vaccination programs, including vaccine

incentives and vaccine sites

Testing programs, equipment and sites
Monitoring, contact tracing & public
health surveillance (e.g., monitoring for
variants)

Public communication efforts

Public health data systems

COVID-19 prevention and treatment
equipment, such as ventilators and
ambulances

Medical and PPE/protective supplies
Support for isolation or quarantine
Ventilation system installation and
improvement

Technical assistance on mitigation of
COVID-19 threats to public health and
safety

Transportation to reach vaccination or
testing sites, or other prevention and
mitigation services for vulnerable
populations

v' Support for prevention, mitigation, or

other services in congregate living
facilities, public facilities, and schools

Support for prevention and mitigation
strategies in small businesses, nonprofits,
and impacted industries

Medical facilities generally dedicated to
COVID-19 treatment and mitigation (e.g.,
ICUs, emergency rooms)

Temporary medical facilities and other
measures to increase COVID-19 treatment
capacity

Emergency operations centers &
emergency response equipment (e.g.,
emergency response radio systems)

Public telemedicine capabilities for COVID-
19 related treatment

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

14



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

* Medical expenses. Funds may be used for expenses to households, medical providers, or others that
incurred medical costs due to the pandemic, including:

v

Unreimbursed expenses for medical care v/ Emergency medical response expenses

for COVID-19 testing or treatment, such v Treatment of long-term symptoms or effects
as uncompensated care costs for of COVID-19

medical providers or out-of-pocket costs

for individuals

Paid family and medical leave for public

employees to enable compliance with

COVID-19 public health precautions

* Behavioral health care, such as mental health treatment, substance use treatment, and other
behavioral health services. Treasury recognizes that the pandemic has broadly impacted Americans’
behavioral health and recipients can provide these services to the general public to respond.
Enumerated eligible uses include:

v

Prevention, outpatient treatment, v Support for equitable access to reduce
inpatient treatment, crisis care, disparities in access to high-quality
diversion programs, outreach to treatment

individuals not yet engaged in v’ Peer support groups, costs for residence in
treatment, harm reduction & long-term supportive housing or recovery housing, and
recovery support the 988 National Suicide Prevention Lifeline
Enhanced behavioral health services in or other hotline services

schools v Expansion of access to evidence-based
Services for pregnant women or infants services for opioid use disorder prevention,
born with neonatal abstinence treatment, harm reduction, and recovery
syndrome v Behavioral health facilities & equipment

* Preventing and responding to violence. Recognizing that violence — and especially gun violence —

has

increased in some communities due to the pandemic, recipients may use funds to respond in

these communities through:

v

v

Referrals to trauma recovery services for v

victims of crime

Community violence intervention

programs, including:

e Evidence-based practices like
focused deterrence, with
wraparound services such as
behavioral therapy, trauma
recovery, job training, education,
housing and relocation services, and
financial assistance

In communities experiencing increased
gun violence due to the pandemic:
e Law enforcement officers focused
on advancing community policing
e Enforcement efforts to reduce gun
violence, including prosecution
e Technology & equipment to support
law enforcement response

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

15



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

RESPONDING TO NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACTS

The pandemic caused severe economic damage and, while the economy is on track to a strong recovery,
much work remains to continue building a robust, resilient, and equitable economy in the wake of the
crisis and to ensure that the benefits of this recovery reach all Americans. While the pandemic impacted
millions of American households and businesses, some of its most severe impacts fell on low-income
and underserved communities, where pre-existing disparities amplified the impact of the pandemic and
where the most work remains to reach a full recovery.

The final rule recognizes that the pandemic caused broad-based impacts that affected many
communities, households, and small businesses across the country; for example, many workers faced
unemployment and many small businesses saw declines in revenue. The final rule describes these as
“impacted" households, communities, small businesses, and nonprofits.

At the same time, the pandemic caused disproportionate impacts, or more severe impacts, in certain
communities. For example, low-income and underserved communities have faced more severe health
and economic outcomes like higher rates of COVID-19 mortality and unemployment, often because pre-
existing disparities exacerbated the impact of the pandemic. The final rule describes these as
“disproportionately impacted” households, communities, small businesses, and nonprofits.

To simplify administration of the program, the final rule presumes that certain populations were
“impacted” and “disproportionately impacted” by the pandemic; these populations are presumed to be
eligible for services that respond to the impact they experienced. The final rule also enumerates a non-
exhaustive list of eligible uses that are recognized as responsive to the impacts or disproportionate
impacts of COVID-19. Recipients providing enumerated uses to populations presumed eligible are clearly
operating consistently with the final rule.

As discussed further in the section Framework for Eligible Uses Beyond Those Enumerated, recipients
can also identify other pandemic impacts, impacted or disproportionately impacted populations or
classes, and responses.

However, note that the final rule maintains that general infrastructure projects, including roads, streets,
and surface transportation infrastructure, would generally not be eligible under this eligible use
category, unless the project responded to a specific pandemic public health need or a specific negative
economic impact. Similarly, general economic development or workforce development — activities that
do not respond to negative economic impacts of the pandemic but rather seek to more generally
enhance the jurisdiction’s business climate — would generally not be eligible under this eligible use
category.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 16



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Assistance to Households
Impacted Households and Communities

Treasury presumes the following households and communities are impacted by the pandemic:

v" Low- or-moderate income households or v When providing affordable housing programs:

communities households that qualify for the National Housing
v Households that experienced Trust Fund and Home Investment Partnerships
unemployment Program
v" Households that experienced increased ' When providing services to address lost
food or housing insecurity instructional time in K-12 schools: any student
v Households that qualify for the Children’s that lost access to in-person instruction for a

Health Insurance Program, Childcare significant period of time

Subsidies through the Child Care
Development Fund (CCDF) Program, or
Medicaid

Low- or moderate-income households and communities are those with (i) income at or below 300
percent of the Federal Poverty Guidelines for the size of the household based on the most recently
published poverty guidelines or (ii) income at or below 65 percent of the area median income for the
county and size of household based on the most recently published data. For the vast majority of
communities, the Federal Poverty Guidelines are higher than the area’s median income and using the
Federal Poverty Guidelines would result in more households and communities being presumed eligible.
Treasury has provided an easy-to-use spreadsheet with Federal Poverty Guidelines and area median
income levels on its website.

Recipients can measure income for a specific household or the median income for the community,
depending on whether the response they plan to provide serves specific households or the general
community. The income thresholds vary by household size; recipients should generally use income
thresholds for the appropriate household size but can use a default household size of three when easier
for administration or when measuring income for a general community.

The income limit for 300 percent of the Federal Poverty Guidelines for a household of three is $65,880
per year.? In other words, recipients can always presume that a household earning below this level, or a
community with median income below this level, is impacted by the pandemic and eligible for services
to respond. Additionally, by following the steps detailed in the section Framework for Eligible Uses
Beyond Those Enumerated, recipients may designate additional households as impacted or
disproportionately impacted beyond these presumptions, and may also pursue projects not listed below
in response to these impacts consistent with Treasury’s standards.

3 For recipients in Alaska, the income limit for 300 percent of the Federal Poverty Guidelines for a household of three is $82,350
per year. For recipients in Hawaii, the income limit for 300 percent of the Federal Poverty Guidelines for a household of three is
$75,780 per year.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 17



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Treasury recognizes the enumerated projects below, which have been expanded under the final rule, as
eligible to respond to impacts of the pandemic on households and communities:

v" Food assistance & food banks v' Burials, home repair & home weatherization
v" Emergency housing assistance: rental v Programs, devices & equipment for internet
assistance, mortgage assistance, utility access and digital literacy, including subsidies
assistance, assistance paying delinquent for costs of access
property taxes, counseling and legal aid to v" Cash assistance
prevent eviction and homelessness & V' Paid sick, medical, and family leave programs

emergency programs or services for homeless
individuals, including temporary residences
for people experiencing homelessness

Assistance in accessing and applying for
public benefits or services

v Childcare and early learning services, home

v/ Health insurance coverage expansion - . .
visiting programs, services for child welfare-

¥ Benefits for surviving family members of involved families and foster youth & childcare
individuals who have died from COVID-19 facilities
v Assistance to indiviFIuaIs ‘_Nho_ want _ar.wd are v Assistance to address the impact of learning
available for work, including job training, loss for K-12 students (e.g., high-quality
public jobs programs and fairs, support for tutoring, differentiated instruction)
childcare and transportation to and from a .
V" Programs or services to support long-term

jobsite or interview, incentives for newly-
employed workers, subsidized employment,
grants to hire underserved workers,
assistance to unemployed individuals to start
small businesses & development of job and
workforce training centers

housing security: including development of
affordable housing and permanent
supportive housing

v’ Certain contributions to an Unemployment
Insurance Trust Fund*

v Financial services for the unbanked and
underbanked

4 Recipients may only use SLFRF funds for contributions to unemployment insurance trust funds and repayment of the principal
amount due on advances received under Title Xl of the Social Security Act up to an amount equal to (i) the difference between
the balance in the recipient’s unemployment insurance trust fund as of January 27, 2020 and the balance of such account as of
May 17, 2021, plus (ii) the principal amount outstanding as of May 17, 2021 on any advances received under Title XIl of the
Social Security Act between January 27, 2020 and May 17, 2021. Further, recipients may use SLFRF funds for the payment of
any interest due on such Title XIl advances. Additionally, a recipient that deposits SLFRF funds into its unemployment insurance
trust fund to fully restore the pre-pandemic balance may not draw down that balance and deposit more SLFRF funds, back up
to the pre-pandemic balance. Recipients that deposit SLFRF funds into an unemployment insurance trust fund, or use SLFRF
funds to repay principal on Title XIl advances, may not take action to reduce benefits available to unemployed workers by
changing the computation method governing regular unemployment compensation in a way that results in a reduction of
average weekly benefit amounts or the number of weeks of benefits payable (i.e., maximum benefit entitlement).
Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 18



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Disproportionately Impacted Households and Communities

Treasury presumes the following households and communities are disproportionately impacted by the
pandemic:

v Low -income households and communities v Households receiving services provided by
v Households residing in Qualified Census Tribal governments
Tracts v" Households residing in the U.S. territories or
v" Households that qualify for certain federal receiving services from these governments
benefits®

Low-income households and communities are those with (i) income at or below 185 percent of the
Federal Poverty Guidelines for the size of its household based on the most recently published poverty
guidelines or (ii) income at or below 40 percent of area median income for its county and size of
household based on the most recently published data. For the vast majority of communities, the Federal
Poverty Guidelines level is higher than the area median income level and using this level would result in
more households and communities being presumed eligible. Treasury has provided an easy-to-use
spreadsheet with Federal Poverty Guidelines and area median income levels on its website.

Recipients can measure income for a specific household or the median income for the community,
depending on whether the service they plan to provide serves specific households or the general
community. The income thresholds vary by household size; recipients should generally use income
thresholds for the appropriate household size but can use a default household size of three when easier
for administration or when measuring income for a general community.

The income limit for 185 percent of the Federal Poverty Guidelines for a household of three is $40,626
per year.® In other words, recipients can always presume that a household earning below this level, or a
community with median income below this level, is disproportionately impacted by the pandemic and
eligible for services to respond.

5> These programs are Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP),
Free- and Reduced-Price Lunch (NSLP) and/or School Breakfast (SBP) programs, Medicare Part D Low-Income Subsidies,
Supplemental Security Income (SSI), Head Start and/or Early Head Start, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women,
Infants, and Children (WIC), Section 8 Vouchers, Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP), and Pell Grants. For
services to address educational disparities, Treasury will recognize Title | eligible schools as disproportionately impacted and
responsive services that support the school generally or support the whole school as eligible.
6 For recipients in Alaska, the income limit for 185 percent of the Federal Poverty Guidelines for a household of three is $50,783
per year. For recipients in Hawaii, the income limit for 185 percent of the Federal Poverty Guidelines for a household of three is
$46,731 per year

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 19



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Treasury recognizes the enumerated projects below, which have been expanded under the final rule, as
eligible to respond to disproportionate impacts of the pandemic on households and communities:

v Pay for community health workers to help v" Improvements to vacant and abandoned
households access health & social services properties, including rehabilitation or

v Remediation of lead paint or other lead maintenance, renovation, removal and
hazards remediation of environmental contaminants,

demolition or deconstruction, greening/vacant lot

v" Primary care clinics, hospitals, integration of
cleanup & conversion to affordable housing’

health services into other settings, and other
investments in medical equipment & facilities ¥ Services to address educational disparities,

designed to address health disparities including assistance to high-poverty school
districts & educational and evidence-based

services to address student academic, social,
emotional, and mental health needs

v Housing vouchers & assistance relocating to
neighborhoods with higher economic

opportunity
v Schools and other educational equipment &

v Investments in neighborhoods to promote
facilities

improved health outcomes

7 Please see the final rule for further details and conditions applicable to this eligible use. This includes Treasury’s presumption
that demolition of vacant or abandoned residential properties that results in a net reduction in occupiable housing units for
low- and moderate-income individuals in an area where the availability of such housing is lower than the need for such housing
is ineligible for support with SLFRF funds.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 20



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Assistance to Small Businesses

Small businesses have faced widespread challenges due to the pandemic, including periods of
shutdown, declines in revenue, or increased costs. The final rule provides many tools for recipients to
respond to the impacts of the pandemic on small businesses, or disproportionate impacts on businesses
where pre-existing disparities like lack of access to capital compounded the pandemic’s effects.

Small businesses eligible for assistance are those that experienced negative economic impacts or
disproportionate impacts of the pandemic and meet the definition of “small business,” specifically:

1. Have no more than 500 employees, or if applicable, the size standard in number of employees
established by the Administrator of the Small Business Administration for the industry in which
the business concern or organization operates, and

2. Are asmall business concern as defined in section 3 of the Small Business Act® (which includes,
among other requirements, that the business is independently owned and operated and is not
dominant in its field of operation).

Impacted Small Businesses

Recipients can identify small businesses impacted by the pandemic, and measures to respond, in many
ways; for example, recipients could consider:

v Decreased revenue or gross receipts v Capacity to weather financial hardship
v/ Financial insecurity v/ Challenges covering payroll, rent or
v Increased costs mortgage, and other operating costs

Assistance to small businesses that experienced negative economic impacts includes the following
enumerated uses:

v Loans or grants to mitigate financial v Technical assistance, counseling, or other
hardship, such as by supporting payroll services to support business planning
and benefits, costs to retain employees,
and mortgage, rent, utility, and other
operating costs

Disproportionately Impacted Small Businesses

Treasury presumes that the following small businesses are disproportionately impacted by the
pandemic:

815 U.S.C. 632.
Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

21


https://www.sba.gov/document/support--table-size-standards

] U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

v Small businesses operating in Qualified v/ Small businesses operating in the U.S.
Census Tracts territories

v Small businesses operated by Tribal
governments or on Tribal lands

Assistance to disproportionately impacted small businesses includes the following enumerated uses,
which have been expanded under the final rule:

v Rehabilitation of commercial properties, v Support for microbusinesses, including
storefront improvements & fagade financial, childcare, and transportation costs
improvements

v Technical assistance, business incubators &
grants for start-up or expansion costs for
small businesses

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 22



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Assistance to Nonprofits

Nonprofits have faced significant challenges due to the pandemic’s increased demand for services and
changing operational needs, as well as declines in revenue sources such as donations and fees.
Nonprofits eligible for assistance are those that experienced negative economic impacts or
disproportionate impacts of the pandemic and meet the definition of “nonprofit” —specifically those
that are 501(c)(3) or 501(c)(19) tax-exempt organizations.

Impacted Nonprofits

Recipients can identify nonprofits impacted by the pandemic, and measures to respond, in many ways;
for example, recipients could consider:

v Decreased revenue (e.g., from donations v Capacity to weather financial hardship

and fees) v' Challenges covering payroll, rent or
v Financial insecurity mortgage, and other operating costs

v Increased costs (e.g., uncompensated
increases in service need)

Assistance to nonprofits that experienced negative economic impacts includes the following
enumerated uses:

v Loans or grants to mitigate financial v Technical or in-kind assistance or other
hardship services that mitigate negative economic
impacts of the pandemic

Disproportionately Impacted Nonprofits

Treasury presumes that the following nonprofits are disproportionately impacted by the pandemic:

v" Nonprofits operating in Qualified Census v Nonprofits operating in the U.S. territories
Tracts

v" Nonprofits operated by Tribal
governments or on Tribal lands

Recipients may identify appropriate responses that are related and reasonably proportional to
addressing these disproportionate impacts.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

23



] U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Aid to Impacted Industries

Recipients may use SLFRF funding to provide aid to industries impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Recipients should first designate an impacted industry and then provide aid to address the impacted
industry’s negative economic impact.

This sub-category of eligible uses does not separately identify disproportionate impacts and
corresponding responsive services.

1. Designating an impacted industry. There are two main ways an industry can be designated as
“impacted.”

1. Iftheindustry is in the travel, tourism, or hospitality sectors (including Tribal development
districts), the industry is impacted.

2. Iftheindustry is outside the travel, tourism, or hospitality sectors, the industry is impacted
if:

a. The industry experienced at least 8 percent employment loss from pre-pandemic
levels,® or

b. The industry is experiencing comparable or worse economic impacts as the national
tourism, travel, and hospitality industries as of the date of the final rule, based on
the totality of economic indicators or qualitative data (if quantitative data is
unavailable), and if the impacts were generally due to the COVID-19 public health
emergency.

Recipients have flexibility to define industries broadly or narrowly, but Treasury encourages
recipients to define narrow and discrete industries eligible for aid. State and territory recipients
also have flexibility to define the industries with greater geographic precision; for example, a
state may identify a particular industry in a certain region of a state as impacted.

2. Providing eligible aid to the impacted industry. Aid may only be provided to support
businesses, attractions, and Tribal development districts operating prior to the pandemic and
affected by required closures and other efforts to contain the pandemic. Further, aid should be
generally broadly available to all businesses within the impacted industry to avoid potential
conflicts of interest, and Treasury encourages aid to be first used for operational expenses, such
as payroll, before being used on other types of costs.

9 Specifically, a recipient should compare the percent change in the number of employees of the recipient’s identified industry
and the national Leisure & Hospitality sector in the three months before the pandemic’s most severe impacts began (a straight
three-month average of seasonally-adjusted employment data from December 2019, January 2020, and February 2020) with
the latest data as of the final rule (a straight three-month average of seasonally-adjusted employment data from September
2021, October 2021, and November 2021). For parity and simplicity, smaller recipients without employment data that measure
industries in their specific jurisdiction may use data available for a broader unit of government for this calculation (e.g., a
county may use data from the state in which it is located; a city may use data for the county, if available, or state in which it is
located) solely for purposes of determining whether a particular industry is an impacted industry.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

24



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Treasury recognizes the enumerated projects below as eligible responses to impacted

industries.
v Aid to mitigate financial hardship, such v Technical assistance, counseling, or
as supporting payroll costs, lost pay and other services to support business
benefits for returning employees, planning
support of operations and maintenance v' COVID-19 mitigation and infection
of existing equipment and facilities prevention measures (see section Public

Health)

As with all eligible uses, recipients may pursue a project not listed above by undergoing the steps
outlined in the section Framework for Eligible Uses Beyond Those Enumerated.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 25



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

PUBLIC SECTOR CAPACITY

Recipients may use SLFRF funding to restore and bolster public sector capacity, which supports
government’s ability to deliver critical COVID-19 services. There are three main categories of eligible
uses to bolster public sector capacity and workforce: Public Safety, Public Health, and Human Services
Staff; Government Employment and Rehiring Public Sector Staff; and Effective Service Delivery.

Public Safety, Public Health, and Human Services Staff

SLFRF funding may be used for payroll and covered benefits for public safety, public health, health care,
human services and similar employees of a recipient government, for the portion of the employee’s
time spent responding to COVID-19. Recipients should follow the steps below.

1. Identify eligible public safety, public health, and human services staff. Public safety staff include:

v Police officers (including state police v Correctional and detention officers
officers) v Dispatchers and supervisor personnel

v’ Sheriffs and deputy sheriffs that directly support public safety staff

v Firefighters

v" Emergency medical responders

Public health staff include:

v Employees involved in providing medical v" Employees of public health
and other physical or mental health departments directly engaged in
services to patients and supervisory public health matters and related
personnel, including medical staff supervisory personnel

assigned to schools, prisons, and other
such institutions

v Laboratory technicians, medical
examiners, morgue staff, and other
support services essential for patient
care

Human services staff include:

v" Employees providing or administering V" Child, elder, or family care employees
social services and public benefits
v Child welfare services employees

2. Assess portion of time spent on COVID-19 response for eligible staff.

Recipients can use a variety of methods to assess the share of an employees’ time spent responding
to COVID-19, including using reasonable estimates—such as estimating the share of time based on
discussions with staff and applying that share to all employees in that position.

For administrative convenience, recipients can consider public health and safety employees entirely
devoted to responding to COVID-19 (and their payroll and benefits fully covered by SLFRF) if the

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 26



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

employee, or his or her operating unit or division, is “primarily dedicated” to responding to COVID-
19. Primarily dedicated means that more than half of the employee, unit, or division’s time is
dedicated to responding to COVID-19.

Recipients must periodically reassess their determination and maintain records to support their
assessment, although recipients do not need to track staff hours.

3. Use SLFRF funding for payroll and covered benefits for the portion of eligible staff time spent on
COVID-19 response. SLFRF funding may be used for payroll and covered benefits for the portion of
the employees’ time spent on COVID-19 response, as calculated above, through the period of
performance.

Government Employment and Rehiring Public Sector Staff

Under the increased flexibility of the final rule, SLFRF funding may be used to support a broader set of
uses to restore and support public sector employment. Eligible uses include hiring up to a pre-pandemic
baseline that is adjusted for historic underinvestment in the public sector, providing additional funds for
employees who experienced pay cuts or were furloughed, avoiding layoffs, providing worker retention
incentives, and paying for ancillary administrative costs related to hiring, support, and retention.

e Restoring pre-pandemic employment. Recipients have two options to restore pre-pandemic
employment, depending on the recipient’s needs.

e [fthe recipient simply wants to hire back employees for pre-pandemic positions: Recipients
may use SLFRF funds to hire employees for the same positions that existed on January 27,
2020 but that were unfilled or eliminated as of March 3, 2021. Recipients may use SLFRF
funds to cover payroll and covered benefits for such positions through the period of
performance.

e [fthe recipient wants to hire above the pre-pandemic baseline and/or would like to have
flexibility in positions: Recipients may use SLFRF funds to pay for payroll and covered
benefits associated with the recipient increasing its number of budgeted FTEs up to 7.5
percent above its pre-pandemic baseline. Specifically, recipients should undergo the
following steps:

a. lIdentify the recipient’s budgeted FTE level on January 27, 2020. This includes all
budgeted positions, filled and unfilled. This is called the pre-pandemic baseline.

b. Multiply the pre-pandemic baseline by 1.075. This is called the adjusted pre-
pandemic baseline.

c. ldentify the recipient’s budgeted FTE level on March 3, 2021, which is the beginning
of the period of performance for SLFRF funds. Recipients may, but are not required
to, exclude the number of FTEs dedicated to responding to the COVID-19 public
health emergency. This is called the actual number of FTEs.

d. Subtract the actual number of FTEs from the adjusted pre-pandemic baseline to
calculate the number of FTEs that can be covered by SLFRF funds. Recipients do not
have to hire for the same roles that existed pre-pandemic.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

27



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Recipients may use SLFRF funds to cover payroll and covered benefits through the period of
performance; these employees must have begun their employment on or after March 3,
2021. Recipients may only use SLFRF funds for additional FTEs hired over the March 3, 2021
level (i.e., the actual number of FTEs).

e Supporting and retaining public sector workers. Recipients can also use funds in other ways
that support the public sector workforce.?® These include:

o Providing additional funding for employees who experienced pay reductions or were
furloughed since the onset of the pandemic, up to the difference in the employee’s pay,
taking into account unemployment benefits received.

o Maintaining current compensation levels to prevent layoffs. SLFRF funds may be used
to maintain current compensation levels, with adjustments for inflation, in order to
prevent layoffs that would otherwise be necessary.

o Providing worker retention incentives, including reasonable increases in
compensation to persuade employees to remain with the employer as compared to
other employment options. Retention incentives must be entirely additive to an
employee’s regular compensation, narrowly tailored to need, and should not exceed
incentives traditionally offered by the recipient or compensation that alternative
employers may offer to compete for the employees. Treasury presumes that retention
incentives that are less than 25 percent of the rate of base pay for an individual
employee or 10 percent for a group or category of employees are reasonably
proportional to the need to retain employees, as long as other requirements are met.

e Covering administrative costs associated with administering the hiring, support, and retention
programs above.

Effective Service Delivery

SLFRF funding may be used to improve the efficacy of public health and economic programs through
tools like program evaluation, data, and outreach, as well as to address administrative needs caused or
exacerbated by the pandemic. Eligible uses include:

e Supporting program evaluation, data, and outreach through:

10 Recipients should be able to substantiate that these uses of funds are substantially due to the public health emergency or its
negative economic impacts (e.g., fiscal pressures on state and local budgets) and respond to its impacts. See the final rule for
details on these uses.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 28



v

v

v

v

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Program evaluation and evidence
resources

Data analysis resources to gather,
assess, share, and use data
Technology infrastructure to improve
access to and the user experience of
government IT systems, as well as
technology improvements to increase
public access and delivery of
government programs and services

Addressing administrative needs, including:

Administrative costs for programs
responding to the public health
emergency and its economic impacts,

including non-SLFRF and non-federally

funded programs

Community outreach and engagement
activities

Capacity building resources to support
using data and evidence, including
hiring staff, consultants, or technical
assistance support

Address administrative needs caused
or exacerbated by the pandemic,
including addressing backlogs caused
by shutdowns, increased repair or
maintenance needs, and technology
infrastructure to adapt government
operations to the pandemic (e.g.,
video-conferencing software, data and
case management systems)

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

29



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

As described above, the final rule clarifies that recipients may use funds for programs, services, and
capital expenditures that respond to the public health and negative economic impacts of the pandemic.
Any use of funds in this category for a capital expenditure must comply with the capital expenditure
requirements, in addition to other standards for uses of funds.

Capital expenditures are subject to the same eligibility standard as other eligible uses to respond to the
pandemic’s public health and economic impacts; specifically, they must be related and reasonably
proportional to the pandemic impact identified and reasonably designed to benefit the impacted
population or class.

For ease of administration, the final rule identifies enumerated types of capital expenditures that
Treasury has identified as responding to the pandemic’s impacts; these are listed in the applicable sub-
category of eligible uses (e.g., public health, assistance to households, etc.). Recipients may also identify
other responsive capital expenditures. Similar to other eligible uses in the SLFRF program, no pre-
approval is required for capital expenditures.

To guide recipients’ analysis of whether a capital expenditure meets the eligibility standard, recipients
(with the exception of Tribal governments) must complete and meet the requirements of a written
justification for capital expenditures equal to or greater than $1 million. For large-scale capital
expenditures, which have high costs and may require an extended length of time to complete, as well as
most capital expenditures for non-enumerated uses of funds, Treasury requires recipients to submit
their written justification as part of regular reporting. Specifically:

If a project has | and the use is enumerated by Treasury and the use is beyond those
total capital as eligible, then enumerated by Treasury as eligible,
expenditures then
of
Less than $1 No Written Justification required No Written Justification required
million
Greater than or
equal to S1 Written Justification required but
million, but recipients are not required to submit as
less than $10 part of regular reporting to Treasury Written Justification required and
million recipients must submit as part of regular
s Written Justification required and reporting to Treasury
$10 million or L .
more recipients must submit as part of regular
reporting to Treasury

A Written Justification includes:

e Description of the harm or need to be addressed. Recipients should provide a description of the
specific harm or need to be addressed and why the harm was exacerbated or caused by the
public health emergency. Recipients may provide quantitative information on the extent and the
type of harm, such as the number of individuals or entities affected.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 30



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

e Explanation of why a capital expenditure is appropriate. For example, recipients should include
an explanation of why existing equipment and facilities, or policy changes or additional funding
to pertinent programs or services, would be inadequate.

e Comparison of proposed capital project against at least two alternative capital expenditures and
demonstration of why the proposed capital expenditure is superior. Recipients should consider
the effectiveness of the capital expenditure in addressing the harm identified and the expected
total cost (including pre-development costs) against at least two alternative capital
expenditures.

Where relevant, recipients should consider the alternatives of improving existing capital assets already
owned or leasing other capital assets.

Treasury presumes that the following capital projects are generally ineligible:

x  Construction of new correctional
facilities as a response to an increase in
rate of crime

% Construction of new congregate
facilities to decrease spread of COVID-19
in the facility

% Construction of convention centers,
stadiums, or other large capital projects
intended for general economic
development or to aid impacted
industries

In undertaking capital expenditures, Treasury encourages recipients to adhere to strong labor standards,
including project labor agreements and community benefits agreements that offer wages at or above
the prevailing rate and include local hire provisions. Treasury also encourages recipients to prioritize in
their procurements employers with high labor standards and to prioritize employers without recent
violations of federal and state labor and employment laws.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 31



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

FRAMEWORK FOR ELIGIBLE USES BEYOND THOSE ENUMERATED

As described above, recipients have broad flexibility to identify and respond to other pandemic impacts
and serve other populations that experienced pandemic impacts, beyond the enumerated uses and
presumed eligible populations. Recipients should undergo the following steps to decide whether their
project is eligible:

Step 1. Identify COVID-19 public health or 2. Design a response that addresses or
economic impact responds to the impact
Analysis e Types of responses can include a

e Can identify impact to a specific
household, business or nonprofit or to
a class of households, businesses or
nonprofits (i.e., group)

e Can also identify disproportionate
impacts, or more severe impacts, to a
specific beneficiary or to a class

program, service, or capital
expenditure
e Response should be related and
reasonably proportional to the harm
e Response should also be reasonably
designed to benefit impacted
individual or class

1. Identify a COVID-19 public health or negative economic impact on an individual or a class.
Recipients should identify an individual or class that is “impacted” or “disproportionately
impacted” by the COVID-19 public health emergency or its negative economic impacts as well as
the specific impact itself.

“Impacted” entities are those impacted by the disease itself or the harmful
consequences of the economic disruptions resulting from or exacerbated by the COVID-
19 public health emergency. For example, an individual who lost their job or a small
business that saw lower revenue during a period of closure would both have
experienced impacts of the pandemic.

“Disproportionately impacted” entities are those that experienced disproportionate
public health or economic outcomes from the pandemic; Treasury recognizes that pre-
existing disparities, in many cases, amplified the impacts of the pandemic, causing more
severe impacts in underserved communities. For example, a household living in a
neighborhood with limited access to medical care and healthy foods may have faced
health disparities before the pandemic, like a higher rate of chronic health conditions,
that contributed to more severe health outcomes during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The recipient may choose to identify these impacts at either the individual level or at a class
level. If the recipient is identifying impacts at the individual level, they should retain
documentation supporting the impact the individual experienced (e.g., documentation of lost
revenues from a small business). Such documentation can be streamlined in many cases (e.g.,
self-attestation that a household requires food assistance).

Recipients also have broad flexibility to identify a “class” — or a group of households, small
businesses, or nonprofits — that experienced an impact. In these cases, the recipients should

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 32



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

first identify the class and the impact that it faced. Then, recipients only need to document that
the individuals served fall within that class; recipients do not need to document a specific impact
to each individual served. For example, a recipient could identify that restaurants in the
downtown area faced substantial declines in revenue due to decreased foot traffic from
workers; the recipient could develop a program to respond to the impact on that class and only
needs to document that the businesses being served are restaurants in the downtown area.

Recipients should keep the following considerations in mind when designating a class:

e There should be a relationship between the definition of the class and the proposed
response. Larger and less-specific classes are less likely to have experienced similar
harms, which may make it more difficult to design a response that appropriately
responds to those harms.

e Classes may be determined on a population basis or on a geographic basis, and the
response should be appropriately matched. For example, a response might be designed
to provide childcare to single parents, regardless of which neighborhood they live in, or
a response might provide a park to improve the health of a disproportionately impacted
neighborhood.

e Recipients may designate classes that experienced disproportionate impact, by
assessing the impacts of the pandemic and finding that some populations experienced
meaningfully more severe impacts than the general public. To determine these
disproportionate impacts, recipients:

o May designate classes based on academic research or government research
publications (such as the citations provided in the supplementary information in
the final rule), through analysis of their own data, or through analysis of other
existing data sources.

o May also consider qualitative research and sources to augment their analysis, or
when quantitative data is not readily available. Such sources might include
resident interviews or feedback from relevant state and local agencies, such as
public health departments or social services departments.

o Should consider the quality of the research, data, and applicability of analysis to
their determination in all cases.

o Some of the enumerated uses may also be appropriate responses to the impacts
experienced by other classes of beneficiaries. It is permissible for recipients to provide
these services to other classes, so long as the recipient determines that the response is
also appropriate for those groups.

e Recipients may designate a class based on income level, including at levels higher than
the final rule definition of "low- and moderate-income." For example, a recipient may
identify that households in their community with incomes above the final rule threshold
for low-income nevertheless experienced disproportionate impacts from the pandemic
and provide responsive services.

2. Design a response that addresses or responds to the impact. Programs, services, and other
interventions must be reasonably designed to benefit the individual or class that experienced

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 33



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

the impact. They must also be related and reasonably proportional to the extent and type of
impact experienced. For example, uses that bear no relation or are grossly disproportionate to
the type or extent of the impact would not be eligible.

“Reasonably proportional” refers to the scale of the response compared to the scale of the
harm, as well as the targeting of the response to beneficiaries compared to the amount of harm
they experienced; for example, it may not be reasonably proportional for a cash assistance
program to provide a very small amount of aid to a group that experienced severe harm and a
much larger amount to a group that experienced relatively little harm. Recipients should
consider relevant factors about the harm identified and the response to evaluate whether the
response is reasonably proportional. For example, recipients may consider the size of the
population impacted and the severity, type, and duration of the impact. Recipients may also
consider the efficacy, cost, cost-effectiveness, and time to delivery of the response.

For disproportionately impacted communities, recipients may design interventions that address
broader pre-existing disparities that contributed to more severe health and economic outcomes
during the pandemic, such as disproportionate gaps in access to health care or pre-existing
disparities in educational outcomes that have been exacerbated by the pandemic.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 34



Prem

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

ium Pay

The Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds may be used to provide premium pay to eligible
workers performing essential work during the pandemic. Premium pay may be awarded to eligible
workers up to $13 per hour. Premium pay must be in addition to wages or remuneration (i.e.,
compensation) the eligible worker otherwise receives. Premium pay may not exceed $25,000 for any
single worker during the program.

Recipients should undergo the following steps to provide premium pay to eligible workers.

1.

NN N N N SN NN

ASANENENEN

Identify an “eligible” worker. Eligible workers include workers “needed to maintain continuity
of operations of essential critical infrastructure sectors.” These sectors and occupations are

eligible:

Health care

Emergency response

Sanitation, disinfection & cleaning
Maintenance

Grocery stores, restaurants, food
production, and food delivery

Pharmacy

Biomedical research

Behavioral health

Medical testing and diagnostics

Home and community-based health care
or assistance with activities of daily living
Family or child care

Social services

Public health

Mortuary

Critical clinical research, development,
and testing necessary for COVID-19
response

v

ISRV

ANRNIN

State, local, or Tribal government
workforce

Workers providing vital services to
Tribes

Educational, school nutrition, and other
work required to operate a school
facility

Laundry

Elections

Solid waste or hazardous materials
management, response, and cleanup
Work requiring physical interaction with
patients

Dental care

Transportation and warehousing

Hotel and commercial lodging facilities
that are used for COVID-19 mitigation
and containment

Beyond this list, the chief executive (or equivalent) of a recipient government may designate
additional non-public sectors as critical so long as doing so is necessary to protecting the health
and wellbeing of the residents of such jurisdictions.

Verify that the eligible worker performs “essential work,” meaning work that:

e Is not performed while teleworking from a residence; and

e |nvolves either:

a. regular, in-person interactions with patients, the public, or coworkers of the
individual that is performing the work; or

b. regular physical handling of items that were handled by, or are to be handled by,
patients, the public, or coworkers of the individual that is performing the work.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

35



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

3. Confirm that the premium pay “responds to” workers performing essential work during the
COVID-19 public health emergency. Under the final rule, which broadened the share of eligible
workers who can receive premium pay without a written justification, recipients may meet this
requirement in one of three ways:

o Eligible worker receiving premium pay is earning (with the premium included) at or below
150 percent of their residing state or county’s average annual wage for all occupations, as
defined by the Bureau of Labor Statistics” Occupational Employment and Wage Statistics,
whichever is higher, on an annual basis; or

o Eligible worker receiving premium pay is not exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act
overtime provisions; or

o |f a worker does not meet either of the above requirements, the recipient must submit
written justification to Treasury detailing how the premium pay is otherwise responsive to
workers performing essential work during the public health emergency. This may include a
description of the essential worker’s duties, health, or financial risks faced due to COVID-19,
and why the recipient determined that the premium pay was responsive. Treasury
anticipates that recipients will easily be able to satisfy the justification requirement for
front-line workers, like nurses and hospital staff.

Premium pay may be awarded in installments or lump sums (e.g., monthly, quarterly, etc.) and may be
awarded to hourly, part-time, or salaried or non-hourly workers. Premium pay must be paid in addition
to wages already received and may be paid retrospectively. A recipient may not use SLFRF to merely
reimburse itself for premium pay or hazard pay already received by the worker, and premium pay may
not be paid to volunteers.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury


https://www.bls.gov/oes/

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Water & Sewer Infrastructure

Recipients may undertake the eligible projects below:

v Construction of publicly owned
treatment works

v Projects pursuant to implementation
of a nonpoint source pollution
management program established
under the Clean Water Act (CWA)

v Decentralized wastewater treatment
systems that treat municipal
wastewater or domestic sewage

v/ Management and treatment of
stormwater or subsurface drainage
water

v/ Water conservation, efficiency, or
reuse measures

v" Facilities to improve drinking water
quality

v" Transmission and distribution,
including improvements of water
pressure or prevention of
contamination in infrastructure and
lead service line replacements

v" New sources to replace contaminated
drinking water or increase drought
resilience, including aquifer storage
and recovery system for water storage

v

v

The Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds may be used to make necessary investments in
water and sewer infrastructure. State, local, and Tribal governments have a tremendous need to
address the consequences of deferred maintenance in drinking water systems and removal,
management, and treatment of sewage and stormwater, along with additional resiliency measures
needed to adapt to climate change.

PROJECTS ELIGIBLE UNDER EPA’S CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND (CWSRF)

Eligible projects under the CWSRF, and the final rule, include:

Development and implementation of a
conservation and management plan
under the CWA

Watershed projects meeting the
criteria set forth in the CWA

Energy consumption reduction for
publicly owned treatment works
Reuse or recycling of wastewater,
stormwater, or subsurface drainage
water

Security of publicly owned treatment
works

Treasury encourages recipients to review the EPA handbook for the CWSRF for a full list of eligibilities.
PROJECTS ELIGIBLE UNDER EPA’S DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND (DWSRF)

Eligible drinking water projects under the DWSRF, and the final rule, include:

Green infrastructure, including green
roofs, rainwater harvesting collection,
permeable pavement

Storage of drinking water, such as to
prevent contaminants or equalize
water demands

Purchase of water systems and
interconnection of systems

New community water systems

Treasury encourages recipients to review the EPA handbook for the DWSRF for a full list of eligibilities.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

37


https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2016-07/documents/overview_of_cwsrf_eligibilities_may_2016.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2019-10/documents/dwsrf_eligibility_handbook_june_13_2017_updated_508_versioni.pdf

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

ADDITIONAL ELIGIBLE PROJECTS

With broadened eligibility under the final rule, SLFRF funds may be used to fund additional types of
projects— such as additional stormwater infrastructure, residential wells, lead remediation, and certain
rehabilitations of dams and reservoirs — beyond the CWSRF and DWSRF, if they are found to be
“necessary” according to the definition provided in the final rule and outlined below.

v Culvert repair, resizing, and removal, v" Broad set of lead remediation projects

replacement of storm sewers, and
additional types of stormwater
infrastructure

V" Infrastructure to improve access to
safe drinking water for individual
served by residential wells, including
testing initiatives, and
treatment/remediation strategies that
address contamination

v" Dam and reservoir rehabilitation if
primary purpose of dam or reservoir is
for drinking water supply and project

eligible under EPA grant programs
authorized by the Water
Infrastructure Improvements for the
Nation (WIIN) Act, such as lead
testing, installation of corrosion
control treatment, lead service line
replacement, as well as water quality
testing, compliance monitoring, and
remediation activities, including
replacement of internal plumbing and
faucets and fixtures in schools and
childcare facilities

is necessary for provision of drinking
water
A “necessary” investment in infrastructure must be:

(1) responsive to an identified need to achieve or maintain an adequate minimum level of service,
which may include a reasonable projection of increased need, whether due to population
growth or otherwise,

(2) a cost-effective means for meeting that need, taking into account available alternatives, and

(3) forinvestments in infrastructure that supply drinking water in order to meet projected
population growth, projected to be sustainable over its estimated useful life.

Please note that DWSRF and CWSRF-eligible projects are generally presumed to be necessary
investments. Additional eligible projects generally must be responsive to an identified need to achieve
or maintain an adequate minimum level of service. Recipients are only required to assess cost-
effectiveness of projects for the creation of new drinking water systems, dam and reservoir
rehabilitation projects, or projects for the extension of drinking water service to meet population
growth needs. Recipients should review the supplementary information to the final rule for more details
on requirements applicable to each type of investment.

APPLICABLE STANDARDS & REQUIREMENTS

Treasury encourages recipients to adhere to strong labor standards, including project labor agreements
and community benefits agreements that offer wages at or above the prevailing rate and include local
hire provisions. Treasury also encourages recipients to prioritize in their procurements employers with
high labor standards and to prioritize employers without recent violations of federal and state labor and
employment laws.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 38



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Broadband Infrastructure

The Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds may be used to make necessary investments in
broadband infrastructure, which has been shown to be critical for work, education, healthcare, and civic
participation during the public health emergency. The final rule broadens the set of eligible broadband
infrastructure investments that recipients may undertake.

Recipients may pursue investments in broadband infrastructure meeting technical standards detailed
below, as well as an expanded set of cybersecurity investments.

BROADBAND INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS

Recipients should adhere to the following requirements when designing a broadband infrastructure

project:

1.

Identify an eligible area for investment. Recipients are encouraged to prioritize projects that
are designed to serve locations without access to reliable wireline 100/20 Mbps broadband
service (meaning service that reliably provides 100 Mbps download speed and 20 Mbps upload
speed through a wireline connection), but are broadly able to invest in projects designed to
provide service to locations with an identified need for additional broadband investment.
Recipients have broad flexibility to define need in their community. Examples of need could
include:

v Lack of access to a reliable high-speed v Lack of affordable broadband
broadband connection v Lack of reliable service

If recipients are considering deploying broadband to locations where there are existing and
enforceable federal or state funding commitments for reliable service of at least 100/20 Mbps,
recipients must ensure that SLFRF funds are designed to address an identified need for
additional broadband investment that is not met by existing federal or state funding
commitments. Recipients must also ensure that SLFRF funds will not be used for costs that will
be reimbursed by the other federal or state funding streams.

Design project to meet high-speed technical standards. Recipients are required to design
projects to, upon completion, reliably meet or exceed symmetrical 100 Mbps download and
upload speeds. In cases where it is not practicable, because of the excessive cost of the project
or geography or topography of the area to be served by the project, eligible projects may be
designed to reliably meet or exceed 100/20 Mbps and be scalable to a minimum of symmetrical
100 Mbps download and upload speeds.

Treasury encourages recipients to prioritize investments in fiber-optic infrastructure wherever
feasible and to focus on projects that will achieve last-mile connections. Further, Treasury
encourages recipients to prioritize support for broadband networks owned, operated by, or
affiliated with local governments, nonprofits, and co-operatives.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

39



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

3. Require enrollment in a low-income subsidy program. Recipients must require the service
provider for a broadband project that provides service to households to either:

v Participate in the FCC's Affordable v Provide access to a broad-based
Connectivity Program (ACP) affordability program to low-income
consumers that provides benefits
commensurate to ACP

Treasury encourages broadband services to also include at least one low-cost option offered
without data usage caps at speeds sufficient for a household with multiple users to
simultaneously telework and engage in remote learning. Recipients are also encouraged to
consult with the community on affordability needs.

CYBERSECURITY INVESTMENTS

SLFRF may be used for modernization of cybersecurity for existing and new broadband infrastructure,
regardless of their speed delivery standards. This includes modernization of hardware and software.

APPLICABLE STANDARDS & REQUIREMENTS

Treasury encourages recipients to adhere to strong labor standards, including project labor agreements
and community benefits agreements that offer wages at or above the prevailing rate and include local
hire provisions. Treasury also encourages recipients to prioritize in their procurements employers with
high labor standards and to prioritize employers without recent violations of federal and state labor and
employment laws.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

40



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Restrictions on Use

While recipients have considerable flexibility to use Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds to

address the diverse needs of their communities, some restrictions on use of funds apply.

OFFSET A REDUCTION IN NET TAX REVENUE

States and territories may not use this funding to directly or indirectly offset a reduction in net
tax revenue resulting from a change in law, regulation, or administrative interpretation
beginning on March 3, 2021, through the last day of the fiscal year in which the funds
provided have been spent. If a state or territory cuts taxes during this period, it must
demonstrate how it paid for the tax cuts from sources other than SLFRF, such as by enacting
policies to raise other sources of revenue, by cutting spending, or through higher revenue due to
economic growth. If the funds provided have been used to offset tax cuts, the amount used for
this purpose must be repaid to the Treasury.

DEPOSITS INTO PENSION FUNDS

No recipients except Tribal governments may use this funding to make a deposit to a pension
fund. Treasury defines a “deposit” as an extraordinary contribution to a pension fund for the
purpose of reducing an accrued, unfunded liability. While pension deposits are prohibited,
recipients may use funds for routine payroll contributions connected to an eligible use of funds
(e.g., for public health and safety staff). Examples of extraordinary payments include ones that:

% Reduce a liability incurred prior to the X Occur at the regular time for pension
start of the COVID-19 public health contributions but is larger than a regular
emergency and occur outside the payment would have been
recipient's regular timing for making the
payment

ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS AND REQUIREMENTS

Additional restrictions and requirements that apply across all eligible use categories include:

No debt service or replenishing financial reserves. Since SLFRF funds are intended to be used
prospectively, recipients may not use SLFRF funds for debt service or replenishing financial
reserves (e.g., rainy day funds).

No satisfaction of settlements and judgments. Satisfaction of any obligation arising under or
pursuant to a settlement agreement, judgment, consent decree, or judicially confirmed debt
restructuring in a judicial, administrative, or regulatory proceeding is itself not an eligible use.
However, if a settlement requires the recipient to provide services or incur other costs that are
an eligible use of SLFRF funds, SLFRF may be used for those costs.

Additional general restrictions. SLFRF funds may not be used for a project that conflicts with or
contravenes the purpose of the American Rescue Plan Act statute (e.g., uses of funds that
Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 41



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

undermine COVID-19 mitigation practices in line with CDC guidance and recommendations) and
may not be used in violation of the Award Terms and Conditions or conflict of interest
requirements under the Uniform Guidance. Other applicable laws and regulations, outside of
SLFRF program requirements, may also apply (e.g., laws around procurement, contracting,
conflicts-of-interest, environmental standards, or civil rights).

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury

42



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
Program Administration

The Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds final rule details a number of administrative
processes and requirements, including on distribution of funds, timeline for use of funds, transfer of
funds, treatment of loans, use of funds to meet non-federal match or cost-share requirements,
administrative expenses, reporting on use of funds, and remediation and recoupment of funds used for
ineligible purposes. This section provides a summary for the most frequently asked questions.

TIMELINE FOR USE OF FUNDS

Under the SLFRF, funds must be used for costs incurred on or after March 3, 2021. Further, costs must
be obligated by December 31, 2024, and expended by December 31, 2026.

TRANSFERS

Recipients may undertake projects on their own or through subrecipients, which carry out eligible uses
on behalf of a recipient, including pooling funds with other recipients or blending and braiding SLFRF
funds with other sources of funds. Localities may also transfer their funds to the state through section
603(c)(4), which will decrease the locality’s award and increase the state award amounts.

LOANS

Recipients may generally use SLFRF funds to provide loans for uses that are otherwise eligible, although
there are special rules about how recipients should track program income depending on the length of
the loan. Recipients should consult the final rule if they seek to utilize these provisions.

NON-FEDERAL MATCH OR COST-SHARE REQUIREMENTS

Funds available under the “revenue loss” eligible use category (sections 602(c)(1)(C) and 603(c)(1)(C) of
the Social Security Act) generally may be used to meet the non-federal cost-share or matching
requirements of other federal programs. However, note that SLFRF funds may not be used as the non-
federal share for purposes of a state’s Medicaid and CHIP programs because the Office of Management
and Budget has approved a waiver as requested by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
pursuant to 2 CFR 200.102 of the Uniform Guidance and related regulations.

SLFRF funds beyond those that are available under the revenue loss eligible use category may not be
used to meet the non-federal match or cost-share requirements of other federal programs, other than
as specifically provided for by statute. As an example, the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act
provides that SLFRF funds may be used to meet the non-federal match requirements of authorized
Bureau of Reclamation projects and certain broadband deployment projects. Recipients should consult
the final rule for further details if they seek to utilize SLFRF funds as a match for these projects.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

SLFRF funds may be used for direct and indirect administrative expenses involved in administering the
program. For details on permissible direct and indirect administrative costs, recipients should refer to
Treasury’s Compliance and Reporting Guidance. Costs incurred for the same purpose in like

circumstances must be treated consistently as either direct or indirect costs.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 43


https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/coronavirus/assistance-for-state-local-and-tribal-governments/state-and-local-fiscal-recovery-funds/recipient-compliance-and-reporting-responsibilities

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

REPORTING, COMPLIANCE & RECOUPMENT

Recipients are required to comply with Treasury’s Compliance and Reporting Guidance, which includes
submitting mandatory periodic reports to Treasury.

Funds used in violation of the final rule are subject to remediation and recoupment. As outlined in the
final rule, Treasury may identify funds used in violation through reporting or other sources. Recipients
will be provided with an initial written notice of recoupment with an opportunity to submit a request for
reconsideration before Treasury provides a final notice of recoupment. If the recipient receives an initial
notice of recoupment and does not submit a request for reconsideration, the initial notice will be
deemed the final notice. Treasury may pursue other forms of remediation and monitoring in conjunction
with, or as an alternative to, recoupment.

REVISIONS TO THE OVERVIEW OF THE FINAL RULE:

e January 18, 2022 (p. 4, p. 16): Clarification that the revenue loss standard allowance is “up to”
$10 million under the Replacing Lost Public Sector Revenue eligible use category; addition of
further information on the eligibility of general infrastructure, general economic development,
and worker development projects under the Public Health and Negative Economic Impacts
eligible use category.

Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds: Overview of the Final Rule

U.S. Department of the Treasury 44


https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/coronavirus/assistance-for-state-local-and-tribal-governments/state-and-local-fiscal-recovery-funds/recipient-compliance-and-reporting-responsibilities

MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP
LOCAL ROAD RATINGS

Gossard Ave

|

Hagkson Dr o

County Line Rd

D Coleman Rd
= N
— ¢ = % - e ‘ - . |
) N A -l
L : s T
: z owner Rd 0/% €D,
1 4 | | >
] S e — . J
= Marga < 7 Jj
53, k Fo%)tman i g ’ %5 \ Wi
- - biber {
e = : éﬁl B &
Nl 3 £ i Trl &
%:95‘ § < o % inger &
f§”\ 2 s O 2
g £5 < & =4 A
Ry . g A
o ] 0 ﬁm g /
H z T ] - ke Lansing gc\ i ;
s ) “ (
L1 : - | 3 K
B L : hoes iﬂ‘h Ri
2 — . (S
—% .,%mi— % 2 e g E Hickory Island S ‘ ‘
5 i W | HEE S |
i > I S o £ 0 |
© S £
o W\ I g / ti & = 0‘ ob
= o cdeeMURT & e 5
z : = _ A G ‘
g ‘ I | i E = z o ‘
VTN - | ,
i AR i - ‘
i A Rab
i iy H & 55 ] = lett Rd
" Ri T H L A ’ St il = | e
Ll AN [ X Pz P
N -~ i ® 28 = pun RN
e = S —]
S TR d 5 T :
- || ! - n
STas 87 0 1 li S e : !
3 s 2 ] 2 5 |
5 Hupgesll /g of |
£ —— 4 s K777 “\e‘a i '
i : R
g 3
Y § o
. - g -
B —
5 T ve: | & ‘ ’:‘
S E . 1
: g — : = -
'] = P .
S J phrk Lake g :
= = - ;‘ = 'E
< s - ) - :
d Ry, = o N 3 5 E
~N R | oo : {’7
N \‘K; 1T T T Q : E
| T & g o
z ver ! N
T 3 i .
2 S
g =
i : 5 (&
- /% : 5% 4 =
g LA I E A
E £2 ‘ :
annal d = i | X,
= yde Pky z / /
5 AC’S ” — T T [
S S
3 > | FH] ‘ { quia
%D [T = = —— EE
= B @ | = BV E = 1 €
K E s E Fol =
7 - s B :

Dr
T

Forgst Rd

=

a3 | ; i
L~ SHE
— o

Fam%n
N
S Hagadorn Rd
= H_‘
7
[ 2
Ga in Dy
*
A\
B
>
2y, &
3
L;
Dobi
it sl
= ST
[T
ﬁ
Ol
ré’
Paking s
‘/L\
an Atta Rd

g 3 5
bt = @ % 4
£ g 8 I
g g L ﬂ B
=
3 S Kinawa ‘ \
=]
Bennettﬁ] elfiing Ct ‘ P Shadywood Ln
T T
ge|
===
@\
J _— :
LT TN 1 [
X E ENZZe
h E
€0 =
2 —
Jolly Rd L El¢
E Jolly Rd =
o i) Sl
L

PASER Rating & Mileage

10-9 (Excellent) - 11.609 mi
e 8-6 (Very Good : Good) - 45.465 mi
5-4 (Fair) - 16.194 mi
e 3-1 (Poor : Failed) - 75.098 mi
Gravel - 4.731 mi

Non-Local (i.e. Private; State; Primary; etc.)

Last Updated: December 10, 2021




Current PASER Rating Mileage Summary

Meridian Twp (Ingham)

Report Module: Road Surface Management Analysis

Today's Date: Wednesday, December 8, 2021

Grouped By:
Report Filter
Field Name Operator Value(s)
Legal System = 3-County Local
Surface Type = Asphalt
12/8/2021 7:39:37 PM Page 1 of 2

Roadsoft Version 2021.10 Run by Admin



Current PASER Rating Mileage Summary

PASER Rating Total
Centerline
Surface Subtype 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 NotRated  pjjleage APR*
Asphalt-Standard 10.588 0.000 19.023  19.867 0.973  10.313 9.304 33.771 26.811 16.969 0.000 147.619  4.496
Total Centerline Mileage 10.588 0.000 19.023  19.867 0.973  10.313 9.304  33.771 26.81 16.969 0.000 147.619  4.496

*APR=Average Paser Rating calculated by weighting the mileage with the paser value

12/8/2021 7:39:37 PM
Roadsoft Version 2021.10

Page 2 of 2
Run by Admin



MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP
LOCAL ROADS

County Line Rd

k]
[~
_ ) Pine Hollow Dr Coleman Rd
1 / =
3 3
s )
£ 5
a° o o
= W &
=
2 s S
& ¥ % Z
Y J > ) Q,
2 &7 Towner Rd N ke,
= < o ck Ave
o p——
2 Je Z, o
L < ;&t r:’
T E _ S 5 Baker St ‘9\ §
=
s B a IS O a Y i
° = = Quail St
3 a £ £ s Michael St %
< <) Margate Li 3 § — Crest.St
K 2 A o
o E S Pine Hollow Dr WiHer sf 3
) " X B ¥ -
Biber St o Biber St Footmar Qo\(‘(\ = é\? _:’ A2 -
—- ] 4 ] w = Pine CreelT|
> = o= 2 S rane{t
a = £
L
. %‘ Y 5 5
> < =
= 2 o = - B o c;;
B < > 8 © =\ & SN
£ B —§ 2 9 SY % Wild Ginger Trl
- £ pr s/t 0 — £ )
ER B I AR i [ 2| ¢
e Rain§rop 50 g 2 —?,; Chamberlain Dr W,
3 § B g 7 new, %o
= = Lenore Ln ‘hq
. = g p 2 & = : K
a = 1oy
)
= —
5 ol o 5 . Pike
£ é E ; ine ct W s -\;c\sf"e >
> i
= 2z \s22¢ B
]
| B E Lake Lansing Rd
Tayl
aylor Dr Shoesmith Rd
v ] o Buglers Way — ﬁ 7 &5
< 2 3 2 o
o =2 = > =
5 = 5 Lake Lansing Rd 3
2 ] T @) ake Lansing
) ;5; 2 s 8
3 - g 2 \ 5
£ ] = Kory Isl M E
S PR 3 Hickory Islan
E‘I Crestw(@re ] Colfy st
]
= sharbroo W?; s
! gy
L3
=
i = ]
(Cambria Dr ® Kings Cross il Lage D Lafe Dr
5 cider 1h Mer Ln
3 A
= ™\Lac Dr e
£ ) A = of
@ % 4 )
! 5 2 g PR
-l ‘f; % E 7 t; =
Y [=1 =3
- Haslett Rd Haslett Rd o 9 S & E
= E Q o)
3 C:
Eadt Epg Cir & =
Raby Rd &3 3 Bayshore Dr Chff‘iale Dr 5
S T .
E S = TS Ll A <
Eajt ——————————— £ % % W Woodside Br 3
1%2] >
09‘4\ Franklin St FranklinfSt g = = % 5 Haslett Rd
o
Raby Rd : $ o E G i —
ilZhire Rd ] 2. o
E dE 5
el T Z]
= Biscayne pVag S
E =
s
Burcham Dr § S g %’
el < =
Y 51z g g
) e = z =
2 e A n
N Quarry Rd gl a
L)
Q) o
=
Raphael Rd (S} i z
5 8 N
= .
% Camron Oaks Piper Rd
&«
> g n = \
==} L e =4
1 P & Hupg,-r0ad s
[, S— ; e Dy, i:'
o Li o)
Linden St & tgo, -~ = - 'ri;
o t a =3
o Teri TerfMelville Dr] = %
SO o ;g‘ E
Tihart Rd
1 [ ' eather Dr Z
b()\g Hedther Cir é ——— S
<& 3 o =
G O X <
-— ~ g & z
entwgod Ave Ol §
-
X
5
= @.
s E
Gr, 5 & 3 =]
g RiVer = 5 § =
4 2 A . < Greengliff Dr
£ o Sifhol Dr = park Lake 59 =
z & & 5 2
. : — §
2 D
H ) Rolrgo B E z
= a . =
1\ DY N P
@ E > campus ™ S DRAGWAY
2 N N =
= = g & =TTAve a
E Shaf{ Ln 5 g S S Belve =
z = N £ AY £
2 F Grang p. = Kefightsford Ln S
—t R'VerA inole BY ©
=5 o ve Semin
> 50 Z D0, o
< | Acres Z 2\ %o N 2
g 2\ N\ S > " 3
= T 2 2 B g &a S.
= - & PR § T 2 Fl
= e . NS S s = 3 A I
8 iver 7, S Q & =a 2
5 er Sar — N < % * Newman Rd
= anac Ln & T =
S pu
: 3 g £ B
i Tonpal‘ %, 53 Wcran :‘ eirloom Vw 3 =
£ '~ ) ] ]
3 |§ — % & A o £ : :
= = = & %, x Way EE}W % 5
-
4G servifh Rd =i £ § "f% %— = = q
>
Hannah Blvd Hannah Blvd = 2 S % nt St g e
— ] > 4, = =] =
= —_— N = & "o,]& o o s S 2 = Nature Why
= &L “u,, I:Yl‘y pr—0 = £ 2 O
L S - & o ¢ 5 < > [ =
5 Eyde Pky N K] @ = 2 2
S § & 0 = ) A RIVEWAY s
Eyde Pkys _@ s 5 > Hamilto g =]
= gt N Z & 3 DRIV N
£ o g, Hamilton Rd g g A s
3 » ~ Mi Tl =
g —— Arrowhead Rd g ~
= Drive 1 = 2 Z
= rive & 3 = 5 W Sherwood Rd
Il =
a 5 g 2 2 o~
=~ ) = —— .
. : = %, 2 2 Hillside Dr Pine St
Briarcli N @ = 2 H S
o 5% = Indian s Dr 0. E = 9
& =) D 2 T Sl
& 5 r onfida D 2 Ethel St ergre 4
| F r g Ivywood Dr S
S ot = < © 5 gd
i o & on §;
P Mount Hope Rd Shaker BIvi 1 f
] g Forest Hills Dr B9
Wy, = : SRetw WGry .
] it i 1, Z Shawnee Trl Ppntchartrain Dr 0od D, f, "deverA‘,e
— &
Kewanﬁ} Way , g
N — = <}
= bbl gD Silkw@od=Dr
= ebbles)o
E 5 < g 5] =
1= =] o
s . s . "I 5 g |z
Science Pky E\ iverwoo Birchubood D & é] ﬁ i % (
= | verwebd Pr
5 2 z
# Creekstone ? <] Mercer Dr k!
= ie! < )
=
: . s - z
£ Birchwood Dr Ed 2 Hatch Rd
Fofest Rd I o S
i - Cleboyghn Rd 3
= Y8 o R
%l o o =) eb’b
a 2 A&
E /Ya,b < @
Mojave Ct & Op! 2
3 COV§ %t . [ e
—o ebewaing Dr
£ —0 o
& = < g
& -3 = =
]
= % §~ ;.:_ E\ Leewyard D §
= N a £ 2 e
: 3 2 g .
< = S
g £ = ] 5 2 = 2 o
A § = é = Stafboardpr
E 2 Sylvan Glen Rd £ Nautyg! DY
© o Mizzen Dr | 4i77en DX
- Chignney Oaks Dr
Bennett Rd Khoals Dr Teef Cjp.
Bennett Rd Be, rD - N
”"eff f Kinawa Dr é
A erto bFuywuuu Ln 8
x & = Beldinf Ct % T Ly H £
s = K =
. “\N'b‘l Carnoustie Dr < E F £ 2 G E =
oo z £ g g
AP g 5 > 0
» = - = L E T s,
< & i A = Heritag@Ave K] 7,
3 & s [2] 3 = 2 g fine
£ 5 E e\ E Or Kngy Dr . V Legg Park Entrance
) o o] e
Lﬁ orning Gl i £ o % ¢
Kittanset Dr 3 Pestry, Dr, 2 mé =2 o
£ < : & |
S Q* K 11Dr °, o
Drive & RS
El ey b= &(& nob Hil] pr- é
\haras L © X s} O
&
“ebne, Shshab
O @ Tamara Dr  imarron St . abaw D
Fieldstone Dr
z O Hiawatha Dr Wind N Wood Dr
E Taosarl , O 5 .
El &, S > 1n
= & = 11y
= & e = s g Junebe
o & S %\N%\! )
5 ’ S 77\ A 3
S S = eV =
§ < Q:QQ 4 S Aleorha Dr & Forsbe; N
S 2 o 2l k=N =
S )& & ] a &
& iE Otsego pr 3 s— 3
& £ Association Dr «l 32 = N < e
& 2 % = ] a ] & )
Qt\ —0 ‘ E| © @ 5] ]
Okemos Pulfic Schbol o 2 = £ 5 sﬁo s
Z 7 = o = 5]
a =] a =] Weno EDr &
= 2 . @ =
2 a = 2 2 B S =
2 ———— =
Corgapsis Wt Coreopsis Drive = B = Hampton Pl % 2 2
13 El JollyRd © = 05 O = Jolly Rd
EJolly Rd / = g E e < . =
= i} 5 =
|




MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP
2021 LOCAL ROAD CONSTRUCTION

County Line Rd
Coleman Rd
-
g
g 2
2 3
-
MargatdiL.n é
g b . Footman D A~ Wilder $
< Biber St st 2
T Biber =
“© Q|
© >
g <
° | B
=1
- =]
A ol I 5 =
: £ |
i : ] y
lor pr < & £
= L = % ob
— -
y —I ] * .590 Shoesmith Rd
2 ofd Dr
= 0f
)
S
2 TR
ot / >
=4 p
af o
E
L n: S ICliffdale Dr &
) o
hnklin St Fi inff_‘ ot 3 Haslett Rd
2 &8
%) 5
S
< ;
-
o
-sz O
=]
£
)
z
Tihart Rd
=
2 2 2 G
= - T
a < & I
- = =y 5]
E s z % z 2
g
= = £ e 2 =
3 3 % al Py % N £
m < =
kA
T, ansfoig b o » A Z 1 5]
nd[?irze N N Belvgdere Ave | 2 =
Ave -\\\de‘5 g
g Act Sengnole Dr & s QS E =
3 > SN 2 3 z = &
- I Ter Ty & X = = Newyimn Rd
2
: g o & 7
5 ° - z 3 & Heifloom Vw
= = 3 % % E e
©» =
< Y, 2 =
] 0, z t 4 3
= 3 2 4N ¢ > Nature Wayl,
et s &2 Ko < g 5
z yde ‘a) ga ) & éDDb . Ton] ?awl I!d 1 g
]
g > § . S Eﬂ W Sherwood R
3 | Q& & = N N x =
) ) n & = 9 S =
£ B arcliff S*gé g Jg
- n N o Fol ": :
L
Etfai D D g Mount Hope Rd T
"D [Kewanee Wa 4 = ;/ =}
5 4 9 B
£ v§ g2
5 > PK = 5 3 ﬂ] Fwhoa =2 4
£ # § Genc? 5 atch Rd = 8 ?"o
I g k=1
Forpst Rd Q > 3 <;t:: (Qp ” o]
) g g G &
L a p- =3 (%2 B
5] < =
=2 S . y r 2,
5 < Sop)iea 2 £ Y, =
= i > <
g £ * 8\ [syvan GlenRka 2 . ot
g s 2 § r Nauti a r
54 Kinawa Dr o N 5 himney Qfiks Dr
D
BennettfRd % A Bennezr e Shadywood Ln -y
;1 R
Q . Legg Park Entrpnce
Kitta@set Dr 3 e -
2’ = <t Oblf B
E E
-;; ~ Wind N Wood Dr |
gﬂ g & Juneberry Ln
T =l [ ( \
7 = o © s R o
[ 4 2 5 A\ 2
‘Dine 9 Jolly Oak H 2 @ A
5 Ve  Sal Ei 2 j gl &
Jolly Rd C . ~ B 3 = Jolly Rd
e =
E Jolly Rd fJ = =
L) ~ v

2021 Local Road Construction

e 2021 Resurfacing - 8.87mi
2021 Cape Seal - 1.50mi

e 72021 Crack Fill - 7.61mi




MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP
2022 LOCAL ROAD CONSTRUCTION

County Line Rd

Coleman Rd
N W Lake o
nolds
W ReY 6’4,8 &
£ Y0, e
2 Q 0/03» Or
z ¢
-
MargatdLn E
g i i Footman D: el Wilder S
< Biber St st
T piber
g E g
S fJ 5 %
2 El
] 1l |
5 A tl IS Al L~ g
g 4 : e B
% lor pr E 5 z@‘
- . 1 g ¢\0°
M v B N -600 j’ Shoesmith Rd
| s u
= 0|
§ &
EOPTE= 4 3
] . ill = £
; cider W E §0
g 5 <
Hasle 2 d L] o Lt =
S = = =z e §
s F] RabyZRd| - = =
& Raby Rd 3 % emmmlihnklin St F miin lg;‘ o N = X Haslett Rd
[¢] Q,;D i
-/ g " e 1'° () g)ﬁ
& 6\“"‘ - S S
0,
& o\‘e“\ \/ (o)
ReS W™ G
N 5 ‘
s £
S =)
g Huntsgl), oe® D
Z epr oo 5
. Tihart Rd g
Qp Downing St = 3
5 S 5
3 - 8 &g, £ 1
= = <y Z £ "3
= 2
- g A H z
S 9] e tlalp € D g
$o & 3 wk ) 2
S Z = b5
s N Belvgdere Ave | © 2 =
Ao g ,
= 2 S
cr Senfinole Dr N a
gyl Q& N > g |- =
2 S & ki g g
® VXA N z Z Newy@n Rd
3 Ve & K 1) 7] T
3 — & : E o
E] - Z )3 S Heifloom Vw
T 5 2 =] —
g % U, %’/‘ St 4 =
= % X 2 NatureQva
= N x& > 3 -
S & 3 =
= & 2 — a a8
g TonfshawIRd | g
£ W) Bl
S s . _ = W Sherwood R¢
< e 4 s g
E Blarcliff St@(‘o % - § - =
o )
o N 0 = K Fo)
i’ n ag E
@Dr De ount Hope Rd ™ (]
Kewanee Way Dr 4
=
= 6—|.. 4
g = ]
s X PR &
| A ©
Forgst Rd g 2
£
R 2
2 N 2
g g 3
g 5 a
E] S’ . .
g Kinawa Dr himney Qfks Dr
m
BennettjRd Shadywood Ln
Legg Park Entrjnce
C e
2 S
o > 2
Dé n fr <
5 Wind N Wood Dr |
=} —
o i Juneberry Ln
o} >, 3 pr— une!
B2 red b, e ,g Y o
L 7] ZY =1L %
1%} ,
Jolly Oak Hd “Jo é’ 2 j ?‘% £
Jolly Rd g 2 = Jolly Rd
| I =
E Jolly Rd r‘ = -
m
L]

2022 Local Road Construction

e 2022 Resurfacing - 6.84 mi

2022 Cape Seal - 3.74 mi

Updated: Dec 10, 2021




PATHWAY MASTER PLAN

1 .
R g 3 7 g
) 6 E
g >
CITY OF EAST ] 10
L G i :SED ] 1 > 1 12 13 14
G o ERST LS ser s E ;'; ORTH CRYSTAL COVE DR. ' g coEn Ro. |19 BATH TWP 16 1L
12/21/99 W < N c;\-'é N / 7 COLEMAN_“Rb. | | 18D
;I \&\?‘Fé' "” ; E o 2 »
= wi S P x o
Q s 2 3 S oA ¢' 2 g / / o 6300
E o\ s/ co? 4 : 5 // /
W S 2\ )3 N 2 < 7.
< o NORTHWEST PROPERTIES EEmAAREEEmEEmEaREREEE” 3 ’ HH A HH !!'““““““ 8
o ; el T
’ \ 2 2 Q
BIBER ST MITROKA E H . ] / 234 ac. g <
DD:- : BIBER ST. E J MARGATE LN. i\ I9 = . 7//{ @ ? E
- FOOTMAN DR Y o 2
P 5 . I @ I INGHAM COUNTY 2% — Z
% § <§( ° > E ;S%S DEPT. S // E||
. , w o+ N LAUNCH 7=
® qg = all < 55 Tm & z ¥ L Crane St. 7 ~ §
B/ s E 5 o 8 5 i rresno % = <
g\ N E— - ] N Tl LANE Mallord Sty © :
(g) 00 CENTER o ‘n%: é Ei DULE v
2 = s g
. RD, mSIRChY mREWm 1BR BRIARWICK DR 4 un:ztrd AVE o) = i
x ANNEXATION 2006 | = yoor &l
7/06 L
é 5 E 2 n, Z SI Ceertent OAK_PARK TR|
x CITY OF EAST LANSING H E_ reenieaf  St. J
I:l E I ANNEXATION 1970 § é i f ii WIN(;I'gSElTELD SACRAMENTO EE ' N G
0 < < ~H W. i
° = é SKYLINE CT. E% SOUTHRIDGE A E= — '3 ACI
— — 2 B ROAD i : \VYW /7% ‘ -
TAYLOR DR. T R ARG . 8 i e LANSNG. RO i \ %M/// COUNTY
cI < 2 - ﬁm C-T’"‘.“"‘“—--——-—-—_........__._ — - - BUCKTHORN \\ ///// ///// SoUmH Yy
: = s PEPPERIDG Y
TY OF EAST LANSING 2 c e+ i — ' STl ',/ >
% § o\¢ WA N § // %‘ p I:l
T 2 g e g £ ‘ // SHOESMITH _RD.
- % T < | | o //” >
E ; . — e LA /% AL'; TRANSFER S %, & 6000
5 AK AN A //" W S .
« EST. 1842 - CoLoNY 2 s N . 0 I e o /78BN
N 5 E K S i g 0 g g
x 2 Q- ‘ @ \Y
[ g) o ﬂ | ko £ =
Q > > S | g = Q
/ c . or | -
é Wy z 0o s ) B QQ-} o e g ;ﬁ E e | . E y Island Dr. /// o .
T 5o E S =9 a b z 9 ] \ / 7 z
= og ' a Q§ o 2 BRATTIN WOODS § 3_% % = n ‘ — o o &
3 ’f ® ‘ X i N. KINGS CROSS % %\\7 S 0 i 2 ."':J 3 E §
\d w ||| Awexanoos acreEvENT : o wqer Wi DT Q\\,‘Q § ] & 4 B gE
’ < ‘ CITY OF EAST LANSING = E Cide % o% f = = \ WILKSHIRE Io © N
¢’ - ] S o LAKE LANSING MAR ScHooL
‘\\ = <)/,) LAKE| | DR?
¢’ & KINGS CROSS NG = 9 <
’O a ‘ HASLETT RD. NORTH FIRE lue Lac Dr. it =
', I e —— HASLETT RD. STATION HASLETT RD =
——T _ - i [®) 4
M 4" = | -ggtor- mmEEE IEEEEEEEEE e e .. _ & =
. . o’ z |2 7oLl .  E ) : g 2 MogertS
rime Comm : LT 8 - = | N
Uunity | 8L wmlon o o o | Els v | ' A o ¢
. ha P a
B & - % é S P~ VERIDIAN -BAYSHORE : 4"7\% mgﬂ% ¥
E ) Deville RABY RD. > o (vac. 1997) | & HGH  SALE e, DR = 5 itanium Trl.
N R].W = o I RABY _RO. 5 = = BRIDGE ' scroor 56100 S S - % N 5
’ ; g |||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||IIII|||||||||IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII.II = = ,‘Q/ e : FLAMINGO ’ WOODS'DER /PQ E % M
INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN L RO > ' i ol s o —{"F ) U
1500 2500 = W [ LN. e n ez 2
e & o< 9 o3 cl B 4 T - A X =
1 inch = 1000ft. =2 WATER 25 N 4 < B [T w o T z [=] z
L EX'STlNG PATH V\/AY CITY OF EAST LANSING E. IREATMENT & EXISTING CROS =k HASLETT = 7 N = I - 3 :
71 2 MH_ES <& BURCHAM FLANT BRIDGE WITH RFB SWALK 4 o\lg/ ek S BISCAYNE E - z =
- = ok elle 2 g S 3 @ ¢ | é
72 - > = =
PROPOSED PATHWAY seessssssssssssssmms e e = =g 52 o oo oR - E %OA [N. g o
21 MILES 0 o R 5 Q -
EXISTING quarry = [ ro N > oo @ = ORLANDO PARK AL = 0000
o o . Q 2 L =
XS PAVED SHOULDER MM . Il & 7 W | 1 1N
.30 MILES 5 207 2 & S ) = omon .
o 0 - Q7 2 HASLETT o
PROPOSED PAVED SHOULDER -ttt wnsrierlor z il 2 \&"/ A N/ JKEMOKE HSoL 2 i SH
37.2 MILE — —I ' : 3 7 () ey o i
' S [ TBLUE HAVEN G & - AMERON-OAe R 7 l X N z i zH
n C— u BURCHAM - ' 3 e
. EXISTING CROSS COUNTRY 1y of| $ - .~y e ° g s
6.1 MILES 3 DEN DR HUBBELL  DONATION % g b/ % i & =]y 7 O E- §2' a:
x ) : 7 i . f i <~ TITITIT £
PF\)OPOSED CROSS COU NTR Y* g Rl TERRAG § ////// ' , Mont ::EE P | IIIIIIIIIIIIIII||||||IIIIIIIII||E
17.9 MILES CITY OF EAST LANSING CAHILL DR.Z S SE 1 J L Y 2 > 5 5 :
’ | AL DR.3 . i c H
EX'ST'NG 5 SlDEWAl_K g R B E B R __BE B - SERVICE /’ 'é aL') %
— 7 4 c Q > H
0.70 MILES 7 DR. EATHER CIR. y 4 ., 1 3° E o K
g s GAYLORD C. S CT; :
BRIDGE TIHART RD. H
PRIVATE SIDEWALK ROSELAND | AVE. = TIHART RD. :
3 BOARD H
I%%ST LANSlNG WALK [ I B I 2 S| .\'.<‘//( “ %Y 200
) MILES 9 LK W
" p | § & i v e o
= SOUTH Em :
1 F;OPOSED ALTERNATE SURFACE PATHWAY g WARDCLIFF s VILLAGE 55 NORTH WERIOIN 5OAD PG
.9 MILES (UNPAVED) msiimimimimimimimimi s/ s | Y REENCLFF | DR, vy e =
EXISTING HERITAGE PATHWA'Y v mm < OCKWOOD%DR Il 2 2 /% N — é
37 M”_ES 7 77 77 7 | r I <DR. g BOARDWALKA: : o Eg- ; Li g J
= = @ (5555 v % S O z . H GERMANY
@ u Wi o o) od 3 - i : Ap.
TEMPORARY SIDEWALK s I l MANSFIELD DR. CHRIENER_PARK 2 @ & g i - 2 2 \t :
O 08 F % CENTRAL PARK DR. o/ ARTA%\ H % v\‘\ @ x e
. MH_ES I ! J\'o (173 ;/ u ¥ MARKET @\’3“ = © ::‘Z>
:P —=- ::°§ °: /// g\\l? y m ‘(_Y\’O 1 3
I  BRIDGES [ FF)’F%OPOSED CROSSWALK e e B ﬁ@_g/\ 3 ~ = = g Yy g N L
ROPOSED REBS e mmmé - Rmp & 2 2 ?3‘:;,":': /// éD 3 =) \_SEMINOLE DR. _I| Sheion o D 3 | (N o E
. u Qoo z y o IO Lif = H
FXISTING CROSSWALKS e e I N [ faz==s=s 22 4 \// " l TTAWA HILLS PARK E Zh S : § § E 2000
1 > w o RD =
EXISTING RFBS T S one—] 1 V 7 . oo £ ——) &
~ FlRVER RRACE DR > Ut MooRe. L, CEMETERY % mf: @ 3 éqQ 2
i > ARK il - » :
ANNEXATIONS WITH CITIES Spa - G:lﬂ 5 n| 4 £ |
Pt B\ Vo e . | R I < : i ]
2 GRAND TRUNK yES?Tf—ﬁf}Jff;77,,,,,,,,,,,,,/7—/ . . NEGHaGRHOOD PARK (. ! 8 L @(5"
T 1 0B ﬁ & TONAPAH TR : W H HHAH E
H = E,’ 3 HEIRLOOM _VIEW, v E = E
1o g — H o =
S 33 5 3 g —) : 3
HANNAH BLVD. ] 8 I : = 2
A = = z SEANTw E
N i &I il . it CR B
GHAM COUNTY PARK N M‘“’ £ & SILVERSTONE WAY S f) A —{AGATE RD.
: E : - é <§ ROLLING MEADOW LN =
REVISION D EYDE PARKWAY ¢ S : MO EE L l +H
; : :Ezﬁ: ¥ § g = zé VAN KTTA, WOODS PARK NATURE WAY ;
0 7/2 9/2 O 2 1 Twyckingham Elc':l:'% J § OWHEAD RD . § £l S E
g =z ’ L 8 j. =
6 S i . 2 asme 4| 2 - i = — o 2 ; =
VACATED BY I.C.R.C Sk g - ® ° g 2 FERGUSH E%MAHA ) 4 o | él £ 8 g E
.R.C. gi < % ; o ‘ FERGUSON . g i M Pond B E/ Pond_Dr. - -~y | gﬁugéﬁ%'gﬁoo._ ] e = E
Private Road IE oL TR R E 3 Z < / / — 3 TACOMA” HIL [ < : Mead é e ( I: EEE
I < = 3 5 7 <[ 2 restop Dr. -v goce m =
CITY OF EAST LANSING 3 5 E '6 g \/ // 1‘{\—'5 :E: W5 HILLSIDE DR. Crun-lv;ooc: Z _D é? Don;r::uq o % -,Uu E = _§
= = 7 -
— E - o COCHISE LN. NDIAN HILLS 5 vy SUMBAL - | LWABEEK DR EASTWOOD DR. % T":f‘;"’" it ) LsPcEwg = G
MOUNT HOPE RD. — g CR. T s |8 ° LIVER
= & ;7 ac. 19981 8 Pimlico PI. () Waterford Ct, S 3 — - OR.
= > O e 771 ONEIDA_DR.|| o Thistledown PI. QQ - T i
= 'g = % ) /\K o E C)_ )(@0 (I) HETHEL ST. - D
S ’ f MOUNT HOPE RD. - W TRL| |2 S IVYWOOD DR. “\ & SPICEW00D S Ei JS
SE & EASTWAY| ) SHAWNEE _TRL. : [ , e — :
F "= Ceo R © : & - & - & 3 EDGEWOOD Z|[ FOREST HILLS DR. roREST LS O® & L 4500
ZE RR gy, L e S 3 AGE | DR.| [ YEoee N [ gl [BLVD Z/| PonT 5 Bt g ORA "o o
g s ol | AWE =T — I (I —— ¢ | o IR e '
2 ; g =\ § [ . g I = y SHEETWOD o ‘ 2 =13
= ) — i \ Qé LAGOON DR.| |YUMA TRL MIRABEAU 6R. & 3w . ; © /’*l z
= 2 S HEE 00 SRS NN RPN A HULETT _RD. 3| & ' >
ul ; B SRR R aR AR RanaanannaERannanans RIVERWOOD _DR. ° 8 E E ]
= 4 X ] [
- PENOBSCOT | DR, 9 -
SRk BUTTERNUT DR.> § Z f
_ - [ = °
2 aE
S 5 i
H Rain Fgrest Cir 9(§ = / g
i i S— E iz EASTOATE PARK =
2 T LLLLL. i M
® CAPESIDE D @g : ° [
£ 3 evern Wa cOB z,
. 3 ;. ! : V;y d 4| [ Mosave cT. § s g g N 6;,00 r
N o % & i =88 3 74 z é : E . A
L a = - (] a TAQUAMENON = L < \‘»" T, 3
% - SOPHIEA PKWY 4 GRAYSTONE DR. i; : 3 z = 2 & %? % |E
: g ¢ ™ \ BRIDGE 5 = ~ 4 | rep oAKks O
g aus GARAGE e [ D i LEEWARD D
D : BT Ao0Ds " 2 —Ce, 3 STARBOARD DR. %0, i+
SCHOOL & R 5 _ 14 4, ES
- B Efist Lawn S S € & e o, T TURNER DR
a © a mgtrg Gargens ALK o f « 4
BENNETT RD 5 Z\\ TEane g/ &2 B WS
: BENNETT  RD 5 z LANE , 2 \\/P—\ z3 S &
................... ; * 2 i i ” @ ® Moot = GLEN RO 2 < 6
) CHA WS - | 2 i
- ] ,) BENNETT -SRD, KINAWA _DR. N BOOSTER STATION D
x o J - =
2 CARNOUSTIE DR. R 9& o,% & E(' ! M /—‘ Z-CHIMNEY OAKS DR.
< p Ot 5 z §| |¢| = 3 2 i g -CT BELDING CT. @ ©RR Z ‘ - £ 4000
- P»:(B\) 3 5 = 5 EOLIA o[ a’oé‘ b % - - REDCEDAR NA \ § & 5>
) BER o - ’ -. 3 @ o | DR L% g AES- g J ‘ § IR S ‘ HARRIS NATURE GENTER S g Sf
C I ACT 425 CITY OF LANSING s o > J) 8| & ; =% | [eace mvgy /€ > - g )8 z
11/03/95 7 - b e S e S NS — 3| ey : 2
B = < Morning Glory Dr. T a ? AW, = : ‘;‘7 / Z ? [~ é
| KITTANSET DR. & T ) KE %, | =\~ _ClubMeridian Dr. N § DR. v 7 4 i
" - G Topestry Dr.jz BRIDGE S\ o) o ¢ 7 s £
. g E & & : w g —° J " ic
2 Eld D Q 2 = o 7 < +
0 < eibf r. |n Knob . < o [} . 5 Z Bz +
" ) Ko, ) R 5| - - 3 - E
m " o L ey L1 r' F (& o ‘ i < n 4 £
g i i : s l~ T TAMARACK DR. I~ CIMARRO DR. \ ‘ SASHABAW R R Eg
5. SQUIUWEST SPORTS CENTER/HARTRICK NATURAL ./ 2 - Fieldstone Dr. ¢ ox2RRw oR ‘ ‘ ‘ i = e H
B =1 I C—— < ' 3 BELWOOD DR a = = : ‘ N =
. il ' 0 - T B s 5 D HIAWATHA DR. PN | :
& i. 3 "o © CREEKVIEW| [ — i3
" E|l DLEAF CT. % TERRACE g | | 0
% : N S , o ; WIND N WOODS DR,
o] £ *
3 . £ o = st LGOMA 7\ A O® JUNEBERR) i
- 2 LOON LN. ';&l;& : . ) ONR I E
14 . x
- OKEMOS UPINE DR, 2 g ¢ S FORSBERG DR/ | . & - E:
<on : SSOCIATI 8 . s g g . [ | E
& ; 3 ES : - WIN E3
E ™ :DQ":' ; D . ‘ E % E é é g é: é = . TERBERRY L‘N. 5:
g ERCR- SIE:: = L [ 2 = 3 = < g ¢ = 2 z ;
A JoL é COREOPS|sE L: ) o (Hampton_PI ::3 z g = i E 8 & R4y ) n ] b :
LY RD. = . o co COREOPSIS DR. 2l 5 8 o € = ¥ < x & S 2 m E = i
N Tl < P oL ul L —— L =) — o 3
! c 3 4 == 2 ] E JOLLY RD g WENONAH| | DR. ] i 2 2 E ~ 3 z g 3
3500 5 68 ™ o e ' ), ' s P 3
3000 & 3 = "‘ | [ e o P O PN g Ay gy - JOLLY—RD. z :
A g o WOODS EDGE DR, - & % =COMMONS | RKW. 10 11 | i | BN . 3500
ABBOTT RD 8 DR. f l‘..,m‘_ ;‘-Lﬁ'ﬁ#.h{.{aL{ @4&%\ 8000 18 13 14 BSZ=ciisiIESI2ISISZosiEiSIsIToociiacdiosciMNGANEEEEESamanaaaaa N A A SRS A A A JOLLY RD. c A
_ | :_—_‘\\ , Hi Zh e, 0 s e oo W s ey H
ACADEMIC WAY  M—14 SONITA CIR A COLUMBUS AVE. I-12 EAST REYNOLDS RD =N 27 oo ) T 772 N = \ 1500 = 16 17 18
AEOLIAN DR. C—7 BOULEVARD - ONS PKWY. ALDN. TWP < O] ' : Ik 1000
VARD DR. - . TWP. EAST SLEEPY HO - [l 20 =g - &
AL F—11 COMANCHE DR. _ LLOW LN. N-9 =I5
ALAIEDON PKWY.  ALDN. TWP. BRACKEN WOODS CT.  F—17 CONGDON DR. s EAST SUNWIND DR. cs e (I gl £ 4] ‘ M 0
ALGOMA DR ’ B—1 BREAKWATER DR. D—15 CONIFER CIR. F_8 EASTWAY DR. F—5 0 =L SsSjNe 2 MACK AVE SHAGBARK LN Cc—9
ALGONQUIN -1 BRECKINRIDGE DR. c—10 CONRAD DR EASTWOOD DR. G—12 g MA ' Q11 o SHAKER BLVD. _ TAYLOR CT. 0—11%
ATV I WA 8 BREEZY PONT DR. B—11 COPPER CREEK DR e EDSON ST. M—12 H 3 MADISON AVE. o R SHARBROOK WAY 19 TATLOR DR. 0—1 WA nANSTER WAY N—8
- - ENTWOOD AVE. _ : - ELDERBERRY DR. - % : K=12* OAKDALE DR. - _ TEAKWOOD : D-13
AMBASSADOR DR.  A-13 BRIARCLIFF DR. - COPPERHiILL DR. F-6 ELK LN, 8o HAGADORN RD. A—4 Je MAGENTA CT. M—16%  OAKENGLIFFE LN. 016 RABY RD. V8 N NEE TRAIL M—12 TEKONSHA TRALL T WHISPERWOOD DR. N—17
APACSETEAR DR. JF_‘| ; SRIARWIGK DR, 04 COREOPSIS CTVD. ﬁ—g EMERALD FOREST CIR.  K—7* HAMILTON RD. H—8 G—11 jﬁﬁlocBE TEE\DSFXVS DR. E-18 mh%ﬁgg SFI- P—14* OAK POINTE CT F—15 RAIN FOREST CIR. E—6* SHERBROOK AW\QE\'( ﬁ‘?o THAMES DR K ?2 m% ASH LN. L—-15
: - BRIDGEWATER CIR 7% y - EMERALD LAKE DR. HAMPTON PL ' AL gk . F—4%* : G-10 OAK PARK TRAI RAINDROP RD * - THISTLEWOO! _ OAKS DR. F—14
APPLE VALLEY RD. A—11* BRIDG - P—7 COREOPSIS DR. A—6 : K=7* ' A-9 JEANETTE MANSFIELD DR L P—14 ' 0-3 SHERWOOD RD. G- OD RD. C-10 WH
, EWATER LN e EMILY LN - HANNAH BLVD. - 0—10* : -6 OAKWOOD DR RALEIGH DR. _ 18 THISTLEDOWN ITE OWL WAY E-9
ARAPAHO TRAIL ~ H-6 BROOK \ 7 CORNELL RD. M—14 L—16 H-4 JESSALEE CIR MAPLE HILL DR ' E-12 C-9 SHOALS DR. E—13 PL. G—13* WHIT
HAVEN LN. O—4* ENDENHALL WAY _ HARBOR CUT F— . K-8 : 0-16 OKEMOS RD - RANDALL ST. - THORNGATE R EHALL DR. F—5*
LUNE CT. -4 ESOTERIC WAY - HARDY AVE. o : J—5 D. L_11*  OLIVER DR RAPHAEL RD. _ THRUSHWOOD EHILLS LAKES DR. ~ P-—6
ARBUTUS DR 51> oo P—4 COUNTRY DR. 1-17 H-4 3 JO PASS MARGATE LN : G-18 L-6 SHORTWOOD CIR. E—1 CIR. C—11 WHI
: DR. _ ESPERANZA CT _ HARDY DR. P 1 4% K—8 - P—4 OLMSTED ST RAVEN CIR. _ 4 TIHART RD TETAIL CIR. J—15
ARDMORE AVE o g Heg oo kb K—6 COUNTRY VIEW DR. c—11 : P—3* 14 JOLLY RD - MARIETTA WAY - I-12 D10 SILKWOOD DR. F— ' K12 Wi
: : EN WAY _ 3 ETHEL ST HARKSON DR _ : A1, A-14 D—9 ONEIDA DR RED CEDAR RD 16 13 TIMBER LAN LD BLOSSOM CT. L-7
ARROW HEAD RD.  G-7 BUGKI 0-3 COUNTRYWAY DR. E.  H-—11* - G-14 : 01 JOLLY OAK RD MARINER LN - F-10 ' E-16 SILVERLEAF CT. L—1 e ST K-5 WL
: NGHAM RD. Vil EVERETT LN - HART ST. _ - A-8 - E-14 ORLANDO DR REDONDO DR. _ S TIMBER MEA D CHERRY PATH E-9
ARUNDEL PLACE ~ C-9 BUCKT 13 COUNTY LINE RD. R—2 ' N-7 0-3 JONQUIL LN MARBOROUGH R : L-13 0-16 SILVERWOOD DR. E—14 DOW CT. P—6 WILD
HORN DR. - EYDE PARKWAY - HARVEY ST, N : c—11 D. G—12 OSAGE DR REDWING DR. _ TIMBERVIEW L GINGER TRAIL 0-15
ASCOT PLACE L—14 BUGLE 0-11 COVE CT. F—13 H—4 1 JUNEBERRY LN MARMON CT - F-10 E-10 SIOUX WAY -8 N. A-9 Wi
RS WAY - HASLETT RD. M5, M - B—17 : M—6%*  OSCODA RD REEF CT. _ TIMES SQUA LD HICKORY DR. L—7*
ASSOCIATION DR.  B—9* B CLE 0-5 COVENTRY CIR. N—8 HAT , M—6 MARSH RD : D—12 D-13 SIRHAL DR. - RE DR. J-11
. _ C . G-9, R— RES 5 WILD OAK DR. _
ASHLAND AVE. C-9 BURCHAM DR. e K™% 557 GRamb st 0% B-8 - HAVERSHAM DR 1 < MARTINIQUE CIR 5o OTTawa bR o012 REYNOLDS RD.. E. P—12 /5_184 SKYINE OF. 0-6 TOMAHAWK GIR Ml WILD RIS LN. 10
. —_ . . —_ * * - i - (2] . - —_ . _ . p—
6.5 REMOS RO W p-ii/p-iz  SUALL ACRES LN
. F—9 CRE . C— J— : - E ST. _ TRAIL — : -
AUTUMKWOOD LN, B~10 SUTTONWOUD BR. T-o_ CREEKLANONG, =~ MO FARHILLS DR a-10  HEARTWOOD DR F e KANSAS RD. A7 MEADOW WOoD DR. g RDGEPOND PLACE  R-8 SLEEPY HOLLOW LN. N5 TONAWANDA DR V13 Mo s b L-13
CREEKVIEW TERRACE B : F-5 ER CIR. -6 N ANN DR. F—4 MEDINA ' - P RIDGEWAY DR. M—13 SNOW BERRY LN. - TOWAR AVE. P—2 REEF R B-18
C SNem L et MRES S gmpe or Ehewr oo
CREST ST M-S FARM : - H—14 : H-8 MELVILLE DR _ OCK DR. C—13 NOLL DR. N—16 SONGBIRD POINTE L— g : Q-9 W : .
B CRESTWOOD CIR INS PARKWAY B—8* HEMMINGWAY DR. C—10 KENNETH DR. F—4* ' K-6 PAIGE CT RIVER TERRACE DR SONOMA VIS - TRAILS END A INDY HEICHTS DR. C-7
CABARET TRL 5-13  ORE : N-4 FARRINGTON CT. 0—4% HERITAGE AVE KENOSHA TRAIL MERCER DR. E—12 : M-oF R S Ife B-8 TRA b WINTERBERRY LN B-
: STWOOD DR _ . c-8 E-10 MER PANDA BEAR CIR. K— IVERWOOD DR. F—8 SOPHIEA PKWY _ ILWOOD LN. Cc—11 . 18
BABBITT ST. M—12 CADE ST M—1 - N—4 FENWICK CT 7% HERMANDA KENT ST EFORD CT. P—7* 6 - E-6 WOOD KNOLL DR -
Y —13 CROOKED CREEK R : Q-7 D CT. P 3% . H—8 PAR PL. _ ROBINS WAY. B— SOUTH CRYSTA TREETOP DR. G—13* : M—-16
SALLYBUNON WAY O3 CALGHRY BL1D. k8 CYPRESS ST. 0—11 FIFTH AVE. J—12% HIAWATHA DR. S, KEVERN WAY R, METHODIST ST- H-9 Rt PARTRIDGE ST O-14% ROE ST N - Soumhrory ot 1 2L TURNING LEAF LN b7 ooy o e ALDN. TWE
: O—11* BRIA DR. N—5 AVE. M—13 HICKORY ISLAND DR N—13 KEWANEE WAY Fo7 : P—11 PATRIOTS WA ' \- ROLLING HILLS D _ Sou ' - TURNBERRY LN. _ LIFFE LN. Q-7
BANDERA LN 013 CAMPUS HILL DR | FOOTMAN DR - HICKO ‘ KE MILENZ ST. P v N-5 R K=11 THRIDGE RD. 0-7 ‘ D17 WOODCRAFT RD
. . — 7% D - P—4 RYWOOD DR. _ WEENAW DR. - 13 PA ROLLI TWYCKING : G-7
Sﬁggsggrw RD. N—7 gﬁMERON OAKS L—9 SANBURY WA Egggg SILLS DR. F—12 HIDDEN LAKE DR. E_173 KINAWA DR. D-8 GD1111 M:E%QAJRS% G—11* PAWHEE %lRRAm 8_8 ROSE[‘ENE“)AE/Q\?EOW - HJ_1EE)3 §8@E§W§E&’D o E“S TWINGING %/;M 5;_14; wggBDFLD R -9
: 0—12 NOGA LN. M—16 Y H—10% D. F—1 HIDDEN MEADOWS CT. E-7 KINGS CROSS N. ‘M= ' F—11 PEBBLESTO — ROTHBURY LN. _ : ~ ' - LL DR. F—6
BAY MEADOWS CT. G—13* CAPESIDE DR. 7 DANBURY EAST H_10% FOSSUM LN. C—4 HIGH ST. P—10 KINGS CROSS M7 MISTYWOOD DR. 613 PENOBSCOT DR i ROXBURY AVE. re SPIGEWOOD DR S o WOODLAKE CIR. ALDN. TWP
BAULISTROL DR.  C-5 CARINO CT. P+ DAWN AVE. 0—6 FOSTER DR. P11 HIGHLAND TERRACE D7 KINGSWOOD DR. G-10 MgﬂAWK RD. -7 PERCH ST ' 8_” ROYCE CT. M:172 SPLICE CIR. o1t WOODLEAF CT. B-8
BAYONNE AVE. M—10 CARLTON ST. M_13 DAWN AVE., S. -6 FOX CHASE F—14 HIGHWOOD PLACE. C—10 KITTANSET DR. o4 ICAN LN. H—6 PERRY RD. —12 RUTHERFORD AVE 0 SPRING LAKE D—13 UNIVERSITY PARK DR. ALDN.TW WOODMONT CIR. N—17
BAYSHORE DR. M—13 CARNOUSTIE DR. C—6 DAYSPRING CT. D—6 FOX HOLLOW DR. B—8 HILLCREST AVE. -9 KNIGHTSFORD LN. 1-16 MOJAVE CT. E-12 PHEASANT ST e ' -3 SPRING MILL DDR' Al USIAK CIR C E-6x WOODSIDE_DR. M—14
BEAR LAKE DR.  K—6 CARRIAGE HILL CT. -, DEL MARDR. F5 FRANKLIN ST. M—12 HILLCURVE AVE. 0—11% KNOB HILL DR. B8+ MONTEBELLO AVE. N-11  PICADILLY DR. o STACECOACH DR M-Te - WOODVILLE RD. L-12
BEAUMONT RD. D3 CARRIAGE HILL DR. O ax DEVILLE CT. M_G* FRESNO WAY 0—9 HILLSIDE DR. G—12 KOALA DR. K—6 MONTEREY AVE. M—13 PIKE ST ' K12 STAR FLOW o AT WOODWIND TRAIL 0-14
BEECH TREE LN.  B-10 CAVALIER DR. B—9 DICKENS WAY N—7 HILLVIEW DR. M—14 KODIAK DR. K—6 mgNTESSORl F—6* PIMLICO PL O STARBOARDEFE)RDR' L0 Y WRIGHTWIND DR F-14
SELome or o 3Ty CHAMBERLAN DR 10 DOBEE CIF. ey HONEY GRE 0-11* N TooaE e KT o PINE CREEK CIR. e S STILL VALLEY CIR oL VALLEYBROOK DR. c-10
. - . L—11% - -1 EK CIR. - : - PIN ' - VAN _
GELVEDERE AVE.  -12 CHAGGAL (N 14 DOBERD. . A-T1, G ¢ HORIZON DR. N ] MOORE ST o=y bR G-S  PINE KNOLL DR. - SACRAMENTO WAY 09 STONEYCROFT OR A VENTURA BL. W14
R. B—9 NING WAY D—10 : c-9 HULETT RD. F—7 A5 : C-6 PINE RIDGE DR. _ SAGO B ST ' - VERANDA PL. _
BENCA CIR. E—g+ CHANTILLY LN K DONERAIL PL. o3+ GARCIN DR. e HUNT ' MOSS GLEN CIR. M— DR. M—14 WAY F—11 RAWBERRY LN. M—16 ' C—6*
_ _12 13 D-5 SVILLE DR. K—11% 6 PIONEER SA VICEROY
S ows o e gemMAc e ge wowwnuson o
D. D—1, D—8 ROKEE WAY F—8 R. G-15 - 0-3 HUTCHINSON 0—10% N. L—10 _ F=18, 1-5 POLLARD AV _ SANDO ' D SuU ‘ _ VILLAGE DR ' _
BENSON DR. M—11 CHERRY HILL DR F—1 DURYEA CT. M— 7 GIESBORO LN. _ HYAC LAFORET CIR. - M-78 N-5, R— E. 0-3 WN CT. G—13* MMERCGATE LN. A-10 ' N—9*
. 12 7 J—13 INTH ST. B—6* E-5 M , R=10 POND DR., W G—12% SANDRIDGE DR SUN RAPIDS DR YORK WAY
BENT TREE DR N_7 CHERRY TREE LN. 517 DUSTIN RD. F—6 GLEN EYRIE DR. F—17 LAGOON DR. F_9 YRTLE DR. A-7 PONDEROSA DR 2 SAPPHIRE ' E-9 ' ¢’ YOSEM o
. . - CIR. J—8 SUNDANCE LN. F_ W ITE DR. B—10
BENTLEY CT. M— 7* CHERRYWOOD DR. F_8 GLEN OAK DR. A—11% LAKE CT. N—11 PONTCHARTRAIN A-T4 U YUMA
DR. F—12 SAPPHIRE LN. J—8 SUNHOLLOW CT. - TRAIL F—10
BEUNA PARKWAY M—10 CHIEF OKEMOS CIR G—11 GOLDEN CIR. K—7% LAKE LANSING RD. O0—-1, 0—12 PORTER AVE SARAN DR SUNH Q-10
' ) ) — . _ OLLOW LN. - WABANINGO RD
BIBER ST. P_1 P4 CHIMNEY OAKS DR. D—17 E GOLDENWOOD DR. F—13 LAKE DR. Q-12, M—12 POTTER ST 0-3 SARANAC E-12 Q-10 . E—13
’ . _ LN. _ SUNNY MEADOW - WAB z
BINGHAMTON DR~ C—10 CHIPPENDALE CIR. B—11 EAGLES WAY COSSARD AVE. p—2* | LAKE DR, E. 0-11 N POWDERHORN DR b1 SASHABAW DR. o SUNSET AvE O MR, WANDERING WAY o
CH BLUFF DR. B-10 DR. F—7 EA N—15 GRAN . P—7* LAKEVIEW 0-11 POWELL RD. H—12 SATINWOOD DR F SUNWIND DR., W WARDCLIFF DR 3 ZAHARAS LN
BIRCH ROW DR. 0-3 CHIPPING CAMDEN LN. 1-16 RLIGLOW LN. M—16 D RIVER AVE. F-18, I-5 IEW ST. O—12* NAKOMA DR. G—8 . SCENIC LAKE D 13 SYLVAN GLEN RL C-6 W . J—6 7 ‘ C-5
BIRCHWOOD DR ” CIDER MILL DR. _ EAST ARBUTUS DR. A—12 GRANDVIEW AVE. -8 INDIAN GLEN DR. - LA MER LN. M—* NASSAU R. A=14 N RD. D-12 ASHINGTON HEIGHTS AVE. EPHYR DR. C—6
BIRD FARM LN ) EA 1126 CIMARRON DR 2_190 EAST BENCA WAY F—6 GRAYSTONE DR. E—7 INDIAN HILLS DR G—172 LAMPEN DR. L—-8 NATURE VSV;Y 1-12 ggHOOL o M—12 SWEENEY DR =14 v
BISCAYNE WAY L—13 CIRCLE PINES CT. 611 EAST BROOKFIELD J—5 GREEN LEAF ST. P_14% INDIAN WAY C—11% LEBARON CT. M—6* NAUBINWAY RD s SEBEWAING RO -8 SYEEREY DR C-4 oy Way B-8* x = PRIV
BLACKFOOT WAY  G—11* CLIFFDALE DR. M—14 EAST END CIR. M—7 GREEN RD. M—15, R—18 INDIANA RD. A7+ LEE ST. P—11 NAUTICAL DR. q SEMINOL ' E-13 TERFORD CT. G—13% = PRIVATE DRIVE
BLACKSTONE TRAIL G—11%* CLINTON ST. G—9 EAST END DR. M—7 GREENCLIFF DR. J—6 INNKEEPERS CT. 0—4* LEEWARD DR. E-13 NAVAHO TRAIL D14 SEM E DR -8 WAUSAU_RD. G-9
BLISS ST. P—12 CLOVERDALE AVE. c—11 EAST GOLFRIDGE DR. 0—6 GREENFIELD PKWY. J—5 IROQUIOS RD. -8 LELAND CIR. J-5 NEMOKE CT F—10 QUAIL_ ST. P-13 SEN'NOLE PLACE F-8 WELLINGTON DR. G-16
BLOOMFIELD DR H—10 CLUB MERIDIAN DR. c—8 EAST HIAWATHA DR. A—12 GREENMAN ST. N—11 ISAAC  LN. 0—9 LENORE LN. 0—11* NEMOKE TRAIL L= QUARRY RD. L-8 SE ECA DR G—11 WENONAH DR. A—12
BLUEBERRY LN.  K—17% COACH HOUSE DR. O—a EAST HIDDEN LAKE DR. K—7 GREENWOOD DR. F—12 ISLAND LAKE DR. P—6 LINDEN DR. K—6 NESTOR CT. tzp SESEI\?lAI'R-;\TbSlL G-6 T WEST ARBUTUS DR. A—12
BLUE HAVEN OT. K-8 COBBLERS DR. 4% EAST ISLAND LAKE DR. Q-6 IVYWOOD DR. F_13 t'VERANCE ST. G-8 NEW SALEM AVE. C_83 SEVILLE DR cr C12 wgg ggNHAM WAY E_7%
BLUE HAVEN DR. -6 COCHISE LN EAST LAKE DR. M—-13, P—13 ONG LEAF TRAIL E—9 NEWMAN RD. — SHAD \ E-7 LFRIDGE DR. 0—6
BLUE LAC DR. M—* COLBY ST c6 EAST LODGES DR. H—5 LONGVIEW DR., W., E. 0-6 H—18 NEWTON RD P SHADOW LAWN DR s TAGOMA OR. N WEST HIDDEN LAKE. e
BLYTHEFIELD DR -9 coLBY ST —12 EAST LONGVIEW DR. o6 LOON LN., B_6 NICOLE CIR . - . N-5 A CIR. E—10 HIDDEN LAKE DR. K-6
. _ R— . H—15 SHADOW RIDGE - TAHO WES
20IS ILE DR s COLLEGE . A EAST MEADOWS CT.  B-9* X e et E-13 NORTH CRYSTAL COVE DRR-T1 SHADYWOOD LN. 511 TAHQUAMENON RD. 12 ot Tomaos e ML
OLONY DR. N—5 ‘ OTE: PRVATE ROADS * HAVE AN ASTERISK LUPINE DR. B-6 NORTH WILD BLOSSOM DRL—7+ TANEOa OR B-8 WEST REVNOLDS G-12%
LYNDHURST WAY M—10 NORTHVIEW DR M DR.L—7* TANFORAN PL. G—13* WEST REYNOLDS RD.  P—11
) —5 TAOS TRAIL B—gx WEST SUNWIND DR. C—6
TAPESTRY DR. C_g*

COLUMBIA ST. 0—11



AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWNER RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PATHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED PATHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PAVED SHOULDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRIVATE SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED PAVED SHOULDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED CROSS COUNTRY*

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CROSS COUNTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
71.2 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
21 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
36.30 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
37.2 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
17.9 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.1 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.70 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING HERITAGE PATHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
.37 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED ALTERNATE SURFACE PATHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.9 MILES (UNPAVED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
11/7/06

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
3000

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text
4500

AutoCAD SHX Text
5000

AutoCAD SHX Text
5500

AutoCAD SHX Text
6000

AutoCAD SHX Text
6500

AutoCAD SHX Text
BATH TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILLIAMSTOWN TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARDWALK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARDWALK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
11/7/06

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
3000

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text
4500

AutoCAD SHX Text
5000

AutoCAD SHX Text
5500

AutoCAD SHX Text
6000

AutoCAD SHX Text
6500

AutoCAD SHX Text
BATH TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILLIAMSTOWN TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRIDGES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED CROSSWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIBER  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALLYBUNION  

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. Meadows Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
11/7/06

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAGNETIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARCIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTESSORI

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ED.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWAR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SNELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
REC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWAR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WARDCLIFF

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREATMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH FIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MUNICIPAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
POST OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SERVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIDDLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIBRARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MURPHY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILKSHIRE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST. MARTHA'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH/SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
3000

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text
4500

AutoCAD SHX Text
5000

AutoCAD SHX Text
5500

AutoCAD SHX Text
6000

AutoCAD SHX Text
6500

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RALYA

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMETERY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAPPHIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WARDCLIFF  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESEARCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONIFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LONG  LEAF  TR..

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOLDENWOOD DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERWOOD DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOREST RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLLEGE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENNETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLLEGE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENNETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAF

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHLAND TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(ded. 2000)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HULETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN ATTA RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN ATTA RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMBERVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELK LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BREEZY POINT DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BONANZA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BONANZA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
END

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINTERBERRY LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIND N WOODS DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAMUEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIZZEN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MACKINAC RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAYSTONE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNDANCE LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIDDLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINAWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIDDLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIPPEWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
Taos Trl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cir.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Taos

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURNER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
           CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FARM 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Indiana  Rd.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SONOMA VISTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHANNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINAWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HULETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHPORT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAYSTONE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEVILLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIDDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAPESIDE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AZTEC  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHADOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZEPHYR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUN RAPIDS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDY  HEIGHTS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAZY LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HULETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENNETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AEOLIAN .

AutoCAD SHX Text
KANSAS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  OAK  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  OAK  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS       RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASSOCIATION  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODLEAF CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARUNDEL PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX   HOLLOW  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAMARACK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BINGHAMTON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAVALIER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASHLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICEROY  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROOKED  CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
THISTLEWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
JONQUIL LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAILWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROOKED CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELDING  CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIXON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAVEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINAWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHADYWOOD  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRECKINRIDGE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
THRUSHWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAGBARK  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIMARRON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAINBOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
E.  HIAWATHA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E.  ARBUTUS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.  ARBUTUS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.  HIAWATHA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WENONAH   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALGOMA    DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIAWATHA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN  ATTA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PONDEROSA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAGECOACH  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FORSBERG DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SNOW  BERRY  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHERRY  TREE  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURNBERRY  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIMNEY  OAKS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED

AutoCAD SHX Text
OSCODA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HATCH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUFF CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BREAKWATER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEEWARD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPINNAKER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPLICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REEF CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STARBOARD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDREEF

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOALS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIZZEN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARBOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEEWARD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEBEWAING RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVE  CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHEBOYGAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAQUAMENON RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOJAVE CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL   RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHARF DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARINER  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOALS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WABANINGO  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAUBINWAY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SARAN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDIAN  GLEN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILD CHERRY PATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUGAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REDWING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIRCHWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERCER DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIONEER TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIRHAL  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. BROOKFIELD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNT  HOPE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNT  HOPE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FARM LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAUMONT RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Twyckingham

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER  TERRACE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Trails

AutoCAD SHX Text
Seven

AutoCAD SHX Text
(vac. 1998)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MADISON AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HULETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TACOMA  BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN  ATTA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN ATTA RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMALL ACRES LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
 DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOREST HILLS DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
METHODIST  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KENT  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEWEENAW

AutoCAD SHX Text
S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN  ATTA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIRCHWOOD    DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DANBURY  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blackstone 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blackfoot Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Indian Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Minoka Tr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. Pond Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. Pond Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Treetop Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pimlico Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cranwood Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thistledown Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Waterford Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Tanforan Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sandown Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Donerail Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Meadows

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bay

AutoCAD SHX Text
Campus  Hill  Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GERMANY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGATE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAGOON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAGO WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASTWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEL  MAR  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  RIVER  AVE.  (M-43)

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND RIVER AVE. (M-43)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAWTHORNE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEKONSHA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SARANAC LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOHICAN  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TONAPAH TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
 DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODHILL DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMANCHE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODHILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAUMEE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAKOMA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARROWHEAD  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIPPEWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTTAWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAKOMA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTTAWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARROWHEAD  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIPPEWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHEROKEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNT  HOPE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COCHISE LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDIAN HILLS      DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAWNEE  TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEWANEE  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HULETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCIENCE  PKWY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONEIDA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHERRYWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUTTERNUT  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAUSAU  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TACOMA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENOBSCOT  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAUSAU  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAWNEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOMAHAWK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONEIDA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
YUMA   TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TACOMA  BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEBBLESTONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONEYCROFT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CALGARY BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIRABEAU  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAKER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SENECA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKLAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARBOROUGH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PONTCHARTRAIN DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASTWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLSIDE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILKWOOD DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILVERWOOD 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHORTWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITE OAKS DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX  CHASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWEETWOOD DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHERRY  HILL  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELMWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARBOR  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HICKORYWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SATINWOOD   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALDERWOOD   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPICEWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISTYWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOREST  HILLS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IVYWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ETHEL  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  RIVER  AVE.  (M-43)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONGDON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLIVER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHERWOOD  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NICOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNMORROW  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WELLINGTON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEIRLOOM VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROLLING  MEADOW  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NATURE  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNNY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIPPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
KNIGHTSFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTRY  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUTTERCUP  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWMAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JO DON DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUE HAVEN DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANSFIELD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCKWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENCLIFF  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALGONQUIN  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEMINOLE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KENMORE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANDVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOOMFIELD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINGSWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  PARK  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  PARK  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANITOU  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SENECA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINGSWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAMILTON  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHVIEW  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE   RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WASHINGTON HGTS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL PARK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWMAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARDMORE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIVERANCE ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOORE    ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAMILTON  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLINTON ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEPPERIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAWN  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHGATE  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOXCROFT  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMBRIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BONITA

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRESTWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMITHFIELD AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRESTWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLONY    DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAYLOR  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(vac. 1997)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIFTH AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN  ATTA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIHART  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIHART  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK  LAKE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK  LAKE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAYONNE  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. SLEEPY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOIS  ILE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STARFLOWER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Hickory Island Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILVERLEAF

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEMOKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLIPPER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LADY

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAYLORD C. SMITH CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sapphire Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lake

AutoCAD SHX Text
Emerald

AutoCAD SHX Text
Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Forest

AutoCAD SHX Text
Emerald

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blossom

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. Wild

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
END

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Deville

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bentley

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Le Baron

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Duryea

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Royce

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Marmon

AutoCAD SHX Text
Maxwell Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Paige

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARTINUS ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARVEY ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CYPRESS ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENMAN ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAMON  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN  ATTA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLOW LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PKWY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMBER LANE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMBER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LELAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
MELVILLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROSELAND  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEATHER   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAHILL  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TERI TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINDEN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUE HAVEN CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHISTLER DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAPHAEL RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Golden Cir.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANDA

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KOALA

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KODIAK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRUIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARTINIQE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURCHAM  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BANYON TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAMPEN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JO  PASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JESSALEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURCHAM  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUARRY       RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROLLING

AutoCAD SHX Text
THAMES  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PICADILLY  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWNING  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIHART  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPER  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOESMITH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KNOLL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODMONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HONEYCREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREEN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD VALLEY DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FARM

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIRD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KNOLL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
KASEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
STRAWBERRY  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EARLIGLOW  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKWOOD  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASCOT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
VENTURA  PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CADE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODVILLE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACADEMIC  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORAL WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUCKINGHAM  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HALLENDALE   RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITE  ASH LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUCKINGHAM 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODSIDE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLIFFDALE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NESTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLAMINGO

AutoCAD SHX Text
BISCAYNE   WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILSHIRE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRANKLIN   ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAYSHORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TONAWONDA

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHERBROOK  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTEREY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BABBITT ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARLTON  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTEBELLO AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEUNA  PKWY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAYONNE  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAW  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
POTTER  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDSON  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLBY  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
 RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARNSBURY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
YORK WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVERETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DICKENS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVENTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINGS CROSS

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. KINGS CROSS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTMINSTER  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENT TREE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARNSBURY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATRIOTS  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
STILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
STILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHADOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUGLERS   WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURCHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABBOTT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARDY  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORTER  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWAR  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gossard  Ave.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Brook Haven. Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Briarwick

AutoCAD SHX Text
Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Coach House

AutoCAD SHX Text
Carriage Hill Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Carriage Hill 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Innkeepers Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Captains 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Brookline 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cobblers Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Endenhall 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Esperanza Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cir.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Towar 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Carino Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Farrington 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Hermandad Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. Raindrop Rd.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRIARWICK   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIRCH   ROW    DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOOTMAN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARGATE  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIBER  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARKSON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HORIZON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HART  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARDY   AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIBSON  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
POLLARD  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORTER  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RUTHERFORD  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWAR  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOSSARD  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cir.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH CRYSTAL COVE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bridgewater Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bridgewater

AutoCAD SHX Text
Trl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Graebear

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE  HOLLOW  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK  LAKE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
B. R. I-69  SAGINAW  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWTON  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Balog  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Hodge  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lenore Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Chamberlain Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KERNWOOD RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREEN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLEMAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUAIL  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E.   LAKE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Partridge  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Quail  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pheasant  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Greenleaf  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Hardy  Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sunset  Ave.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Mallard  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Crane  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKDALE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REDONDO DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEECHWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUCKTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIKE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASS  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERCH  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLISS  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMBIA  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOSTER DR..

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMBIA ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILENZ 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERRY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANDALL  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNHOLLOW LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROYAL  OAK  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE   ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEE   ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MACK  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILDER  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MICHAEL ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAKER  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNHOLLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWNER  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWTON  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITEHILLS  LAKES 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
THORNGATE RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDRUSH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gardens 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Melling 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERGLEN CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODCLIFFE LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKENCLIFFE LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGEPOND PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEREFORD CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENWICK CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LYNDHURST WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODWIND TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUTTONWOOD DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLES WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEATHER CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIEF 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRACKEN WOODS CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAUTICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WRIGHTWIND DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KENOSHA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANDRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAPLE LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMBASSADOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BANDERA    LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WANDERING WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SASHABAW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOVERDALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE   KNOLL DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTSEGO DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERITAGE AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN DYKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLOW LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. SLEEPY

AutoCAD SHX Text
Club Meridian Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Hampton Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLEMAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Songbird 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Crossing

AutoCAD SHX Text
Meridian

AutoCAD SHX Text
East Lawn

AutoCAD SHX Text
Memory Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cemetery

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN MALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
1982 GRAND RIVER AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Huntsville Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Montgomery Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PADDOCK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLENDALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMETERY

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sharbrook Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMILY LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EARLIGLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fieldstone Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOKOMIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Tr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOON LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROBINS WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACRAMENTO

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISAAC LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARIETTA WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cider Mill Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELVEDERE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAIDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELVEDERE AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NASSAU ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLMSTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMBUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Morning Glory Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Tapestry Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Elderberry Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Veranda

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COREOPSIS DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COREOPSIS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
HYACINTH ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUPINE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASTILBE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUPINE CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MYRTLE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COREOPSIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blueberry Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMES

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEMENTARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENNETT WOODS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  PARK  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREST ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEMOKE TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAPLE RIDGE RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. SUNWIND DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Glen Oak Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODS EDGE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUS GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BATH TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILLIAMSTOWN TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
 LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEDINAH  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAR  PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARNOUSTIE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAULISTROL DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KITTANSET DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZAHARAS LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOSSUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Conrad Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blueberry Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF EAST LANSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACT 425 CITY OF LANSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
11/03/99

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOPHIEA PKWY

AutoCAD SHX Text
Kevern Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Usiak Cir

AutoCAD SHX Text
Benca Cir

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. Benca Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Laforet Cir

AutoCAD SHX Text
Rain Forest Cir

AutoCAD SHX Text
Benham 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Benham

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOPHIEA PKWY

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
* = PRIVATE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANACOSTIA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TWINGING DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMERON OAKS DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURNING BUSH

AutoCAD SHX Text
Glen Eyrie Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text
Grand River Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODLAKE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIVERSITY PARK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMONS PKWY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWIMMING

AutoCAD SHX Text
POOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARCIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIESBORO LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
500

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODLAKE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIVERSITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALAIEDON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PKWY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODLAKE CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
HANNAH BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESOTERIC  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EYDE  PARKWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEN   EYRIE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Farrins Parkway

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHWEST SPORTS CENTER/HARTRICK NATURAL AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED CEDAR NATURAL CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
NATURAL AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTTAWA HILLS PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
RUTH MOORE PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRATTIN WOODS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE LANSING MARSH

AutoCAD SHX Text
INGHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSHALL PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPENGLER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLBROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOOSTER STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
TACOMA HILLS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NATURAL AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARTRICK PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WONCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERGUSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMUNITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NANCY L. MOORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
HISTORICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE LANSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN ATTA WOODS PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH MERIDIAN ROAD PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEDAR BEND HEIGHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEIGHBORHOOD PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDIAN HILLS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGG PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASTGATE PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARRIS NATURE CENTER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARKET

AutoCAD SHX Text
FARMERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORLANDO PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANSFER STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAFETY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN TWP. PARKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
INGHAM COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKS DEPT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOAT LAUNCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATHERTON  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
West Lodges Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
East Lodges Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
INGHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
INGHAM COUNTY PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND PRESERVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
28-326-033

AutoCAD SHX Text
WANGLER-HOWE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINTER-DUNHAM/BORROUGHS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLYVAN GLEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUMBAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STURK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
RYSBERG PT. DONATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUBBELL   DONATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
POTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHWEST PROPERTIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWMAN EQUITIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
KUZMA DONATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOSTER-CROUSE DONATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAVIS-FOSTER PRESERVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Karen Ann

AutoCAD SHX Text
Janice Lee

AutoCAD SHX Text
Kenneth

AutoCAD SHX Text
Whitehall Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABBOTT RD    O-1  O-1  ACADEMIC WAY     M-14  M-14  AEOLIAN DR.       C-7 ALAIEDON PKWY.   ALDN. TWP. ALDERWOOD DR.    F-13 F-13 ALGOMA DR.       B-11 ALGONQUIN WAY   I-8  I-8  ALLEY ST.          N-13* N-13* AMBASSADOR DR.   A-13  A-13  AMBER DR.         K-6  K-6  ANACOSTIA DR.     J-13  J-13  APACHE DR.        F-7  APPLE VALLEY RD.  A-11* A-11* ARAPAHO TRAIL    H-6  H-6  ARBOR DR.         E-13 E-13 ARBUTUS DR.       B-12 B-12 ARDMORE AVE.     G-8, H-9 ARROW HEAD RD.   G-7 G-7 ARUNDEL PLACE    C-9  ASCOT PLACE      L-14 ASSOCIATION DR.    B-9* B-9* ASHLAND AVE.      C-9  C-9  ASTILBE DR.        A-6 A-6 ATHERTON WAY    D-10 D-10 AUTUMNWOOD LN.   B-10  B-10  AZTEC WAY        E-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENT TREE DR.     N-7  BENTLEY CT.       M-7*  BEUNA PARKWAY    M-10  M-10  BIBER ST.         P-1, P-4 P-1, P-4 BINGHAMTON DR.    C-10  C-10  BIRCH BLUFF DR.   B-10  BIRCH ROW DR.     O-3  BIRCHWOOD DR.    E-12  E-12  BIRD FARM LN.     M-16  BISCAYNE WAY      L-13 L-13 BLACKFOOT WAY    G-11* G-11* BLACKSTONE TRAIL  G-11*  G-11*  BLISS ST.          P-12  P-12  BLOOMFIELD DR.   H-10 H-10 BLUEBERRY LN.   K-17*  K-17*  BLUE HAVEN CT.    K-6  K-6  BLUE HAVEN DR.    J-6  J-6  BLUE LAC DR.      M-9* BLYTHEFIELD DR.    N-5  BOIS ILE DR.       M-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
BABBITT ST.        M-12  M-12  BAKER ST.         P-11 BALLYBUNION WAY  C-5   BALOG DR.         O-11*  BANDERA LN.       O-13 O-13 BARNSBURY RD.    N-7  BASS ST.          O-12  BAY MEADOWS CT.  G-13* BANYON TRAIL      K-9  K-9  BAULISTROL DR.   C-5  C-5  BAYONNE AVE.      M-10  M-10  BAYSHORE DR.      M-13 M-13 BEAR LAKE DR.     K-6  K-6  BEAUMONT RD.     D-3  BEECH TREE LN.    B-10 BEECHWOOD DR.   O-16  O-16  BELDING CT.        C-9  C-9  BELVEDERE AVE.    I-12 I-12 BELWOOD DR.       B-9  B-9  BENCA CIR.        E-6*  BENHAM WAY       E-6*  E-6*  BENNETT RD.      D-1, D-8 D-1, D-8 BENSON DR.        M-11M-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
BONANZA DR.   A-15  A-15  BONITA CIR.           N-4  N-4  BOULEVARD DR.      F-11 F-11 BRACKEN WOODS CT.   F-17 F-17 BREAKWATER DR.     D-15 D-15 BRECKINRIDGE DR.    C-10 C-10 BREEZY POINT DR.    B-11 B-11 BRENTWOOD AVE.     J-5 J-5 BRIARCLIFF DR.         G-4 G-4 BRIARWICK CT.          0-4* 0-4* BRIARWICK DR.         0-4 0-4 BRIDGEWATER CIR.    P-7* P-7* BRIDGEWATER LN.     P-7*  P-7*  BROOK HAVEN LN.     O-4* O-4* BROOKLINE CT.      P-4*  P-4*  BRUIN DR.             K-6  K-6  BUCKDEN WAY       O-3* O-3* BUCKINGHAM RD.     M-13 M-13 BUCKTHORN DR.      O-11 O-11 BUGLERS WAY         O-5 O-5 BURCHAM DR.      K-9,  L-7     K-9,  L-7 BURNING BUSH DR.     E-9 E-9 BUTTERCUP LN.     H-17 H-17 BUTTERNUT DR.      F-9 F-9 BUTTONWOOD DR.    N-15N-15

AutoCAD SHX Text
CABARET TRL.    B-13  B-13  CADE ST.             M-13  M-13  CAHILL DR.            K-6  K-6  CALGARY BLVD.      F-11  F-11  CAMBRIA DR.          N-5  N-5  CAMPUS HILL DR.    I-7* I-7* CAMERON OAKS      L-9 L-9 CANOGA LN.          M-16  M-16  CAPESIDE DR.          E-7  E-7  CAPTAINS WAY       P-4*  P-4*  CARINO CT.           P-3*  P-3*  CARLTON ST.         M-13 M-13 CARNOUSTIE DR.     C-6 C-6 CARRIAGE HILL CT.     O-4* O-4* CARRIAGE HILL DR.     O-4* O-4* CAVALIER DR.         B-9  B-9  CENTRAL PARK DR.     I-10 I-10 CHAMBERLAIN DR.     L-11* L-11* CHAGGAL LN.    J-14  J-14  CHANNING WAY      D-10 D-10 CHANTILLY LN.       K-12 K-12 CHEBOYGAN RD.     E-13 E-13 CHEROKEE WAY      F-8  F-8  CHERRY HILL DR.    F-12  F-12  CHERRY TREE LN.    B-17 B-17 CHERRYWOOD DR.    F-8  F-8  CHIEF OKEMOS CIR.   G-11 G-11 CHIMNEY OAKS DR.    D-17 D-17 CHIPPENDALE CIR.     B-11 B-11 CHIPPEWA DR.        F-7  F-7  CHIPPING CAMDEN LN.  I-16  I-16  CIDER MILL DR.      N-9  N-9  CIMARRON DR.       C-10  C-10  CIRCLE PINES CT.    C-11 C-11 CLIFFDALE DR.    M-14  M-14  CLINTON ST.          G-9 G-9 CLOVERDALE AVE.      C-11 C-11 CLUB MERIDIAN DR.     C-8  C-8  COACH HOUSE DR.     O-4* O-4* COBBLERS DR.        P-4*P-4*

AutoCAD SHX Text
COCHISE LN.          G-6  G-6  COLBY ST.             N-12  N-12  COLEMAN RD.         R-18  R-18  COLLEGE RD.        A-1, F-1  A-1, F-1 COLONY DR.            N-5  N-5  COLUMBIA ST.         O-11O-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMBUS AVE.   I-12 I-12 COMMONS PKWY.  ALDN. TWP.  COMANCHE DR.      G-6  G-6  CONGDON DR.         F-18  F-18  CONIFER CIR.          E-8  E-8  CONRAD DR.           K-17* COPPER CREEK DR.     M-16* COPPERHILL DR.     F-6  F-6  CORAL WAY            M-13  M-13  COREOPSIS BLVD.    A-6 A-6 COREOPSIS CT.          A-6 A-6 COREOPSIS DR.         A-6 A-6 CORNELL RD.          M-14  M-14  COTTAGE DR.          P-14*  COUNTRY DR.          I-17  I-17  COUNTRY VIEW DR.    C-11 C-11 COUNTRYWAY DR. E.   H-11* COUNTY LINE RD.    R-2  R-2  COVE CT.           E-13  E-13  COVENTRY CIR.      N-8  N-8  COYOTE CREEK DR.    B-8  B-8  CRANE ST.             P-14*     P-14* CRANWOOD CT.         G-13*  CREEK LANDING.     M-10 M-10 CREEKSTONE TRAIL     F-6 F-6 CREEKVIEW TERRACE    B-11 CREEKWOOD LN.     M-16  M-16  CREST ST.              P-11 P-11 CRESTWOOD CIR.     N-4 N-4 CRESTWOOD DR.      N-4 N-4 CROOKED CREEK RD.   C-10 C-10 CYPRESS ST.           O-11O-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
DANBURY WAY         H-10*  DANBURY EAST      H-10*     H-10* DANBURY WEST      H-10*      H-10*  DAWN AVE.             O-6  O-6  DAWN AVE., S.         I-6  I-6  DAYSPRING CT.       D-6  D-6  DEL MAR DR.           F-5  F-5  DEVILLE CT.            M-6*  M-6*  DICKENS WAY         N-7  N-7  DIXON CIR.             C-10 C-10 DOBIE CIR.              E-11  E-11  DOBIE RD.       A-11, G-11 DONOVAN PL.         C-9  C-9  DONERAIL PL.          G-13*  DOWNING ST.         K-12   K-12 K-12 DUNMORROW DR.        G-15     G-15 DURYEA CT.            M-7*  M-7*  DUSTIN RD.             E-6E-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLES WAY      N-15 N-15 EARLIGLOW LN.         M-16  M-16  EAST ARBUTUS DR.      A-12  A-12  EAST BENCA WAY       E-6  E-6  EAST BROOKFIELD       J-5  J-5  EAST END CIR.          M-7  M-7  EAST END DR.          M-7  M-7  EAST GOLFRIDGE DR.   O-6  O-6  EAST HIAWATHA DR.     A-12  EAST HIDDEN LAKE DR.   K-7  EAST ISLAND LAKE DR.   Q-6  EAST LAKE DR.   M-13, P-13

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST REYNOLDS RD.  O-11  O-11  EAST SLEEPY HOLLOW LN. N-9  EAST SUNWIND DR.       C-6 EASTWAY DR.           F-5 EASTWOOD DR.          G-12 G-12 EDSON ST.             M-12 M-12 ELDERBERRY DR.        B-6  ELK LN.               B-10  B-10  ELMWOOD DR.         F-12 F-12 EMERALD FOREST CIR.   K-7* EMERALD LAKE DR.      K-7*  K-7*  EMILY LN.              L-16 ENDENHALL WAY     P-3* P-3* ESOTERIC WAY         H-4  H-4  ESPERANZA CT.        P-3*  P-3*  ETHEL ST.              G-14  G-14  EVERETT LN.           N-7  N-7  EYDE PARKWAY      H-4H-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAIRHILLS DR.        B-10  B-10  FAIRLANE DR.         F-5  F-5  FARM LN.               E-2  E-2  FARM MEADOWS CT.    E-11 E-11 FARRINS PARKWAY      B-8* B-8* FARRINGTON CT.         O-4* O-4* FENWICK CT.           Q-7* Q-7* FIELDSTONE DR.         B-8*  FIFTH AVE.            J-12*  FLAMINGO AVE.    M-13 M-13 FOOTMAN DR.         P-4  P-4  FOREST HILLS DR.       F-12 F-12 FOREST RD.             E-1  E-1  FOSSUM LN.            C-4  C-4  FORSBERG DR.        B-14  B-14  FOSTER DR.             P-11 P-11 FOX CHASE             F-14  F-14  FOX HOLLOW DR.      B-8 B-8 FRANKLIN ST.         M-12 M-12 FRESNO WAY          O-9O-9

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARCIN DR.     D-5* D-5* GAYLORD C. SMITH CT.  J-9  GIBSON AVE.           0-3  0-3  GIESBORO LN.         J-13  J-13  GLEN EYRIE DR.      F-17  F-17  GLEN OAK DR.         A-11*  GOLDEN CIR.           K-7* K-7* GOLDENWOOD DR.        E-13 E-13 GOSSARD AVE.        P-2*  P-2*  GRAEBEAR TRL.      P-7*  P-7*  GRAND RIVER AVE.  F-18, I-5 GRANDVIEW AVE.   H-8  H-8  GRAYSTONE DR.        E-7  E-7  GREEN LEAF ST.       P-14* GREEN RD.       M-15, R-18 GREENCLIFF DR.         J-6 J-6 GREENFIELD PKWY.     J-5 J-5 GREENMAN ST.       N-11 N-11 GREENWOOD DR.     E-12E-12

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN RD.          A-4,          A-4, N-4 HALLENDALE RD.  L-13  L-13  HAMILTON RD.      H-8, G-11 HAMPTON PL.           A-9* A-9* HANNAH BLVD.        H-4  H-4  HARBOR CUT            E-14  E-14  HARDY AVE.            O-3  O-3  HARDY DR.            P-14*  HARKSON DR.          O-1 O-1 HART ST.               O-3  O-3  HARVEY ST.             N-11  N-11  HASLETT RD.      M-15, M-6 HATCH RD.             E-11 E-11 HAVERSHAM DR.        K-12 K-12 HAWTHORNE LN.       G-5  G-5  HAZY LN.           C-6 C-6 HEARTWOOD DR.       F-6 F-6 HEATHER CIR.         J-6  J-6  HEATHER DR.          J-6  J-6  HEIRLOOM VIEW          H-14 H-14 HEMMINGWAY DR.        C-10 C-10 HERITAGE AVE.          C-8 C-8 HERMANDAD CT.         P-3* P-3* HERRON RD.            G-5 G-5 HIAWATHA DR.          A-12 A-12 HICKORY ISLAND DR.    N-13 HICKORYWOOD DR.       F-13 F-13 HIDDEN LAKE DR.        K-7  K-7  HIDDEN MEADOWS CT.   E-7 HIGH ST.               P-10 P-10 HIGHGATE AVE.          N-5 N-5 HIGHLAND TERRACE     D-7 HIGHWOOD PLACE.       C-10 C-10 HILLCREST AVE.         I-9 I-9 HILLCURVE AVE.        O-11* HILLSIDE DR.            G-12  G-12  HILLVIEW DR.           M-14  M-14  HODGE ST.            O-11*  HONEY CREEK CIR.      N-16 N-16 HORIZON DR.            O-4  O-4  HULETT RD.        F-7, A-5 HUNTSVILLE DR.        K-11* HURON HILL DR.        G-7 G-7 HUTCHINSON           O-10* HYACINTH ST.           B-6*B-6*

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDIAN GLEN DR.       E-12 E-12 INDIAN HILLS DR.        G-7 G-7 INDIAN WAY            G-11* INDIANA RD.            A-7* A-7* INNKEEPERS CT.         0-4* 0-4* IROQUIOS RD.           I-8  I-8  ISAAC  LN.             O-9  O-9  ISLAND LAKE DR.       P-6 P-6 IVYWOOD DR.           F-13F-13

AutoCAD SHX Text
JACOB MEADOWS DR.   E-18 E-18 JANICE LEE DR.        F-4* F-4* JEANETTE             0-10*  JESSALEE CIR.       K-8  K-8  JO DON DR.            J-5  J-5  JO PASS               K-8  K-8  JOLLY RD.       A-1, A-14  JOLLY OAK RD.         A-8  A-8  JONQUIL LN.            C-11 C-11 JUNEBERRY LN.         B-17B-17

AutoCAD SHX Text
KALORAMA WAY        J-13 J-13 KANSAS RD.            A-7  A-7  KAREN ANN DR.        F-4*  F-4*  KASEY LN.             L-16  L-16  KENMORE DR.          H-8 H-8 KENNETH DR.         F-4*  F-4*  KENOSHA TRAIL        E-10  E-10  KENT ST.              H-8  H-8  KERNWOOD RD.         R-7 R-7 KEVERN WAY           E-7* E-7* KEWANEE WAY          F-7 F-7 KEWEENAW DR.         G-11 G-11 KINAWA DR.        D-8, D-11 KINGS CROSS N.        M-7  M-7  KINGS CROSS           M-7 M-7 KINGSWOOD CIR.        G-10 G-10 KINGSWOOD DR.        G-10 G-10 KITTANSET DR.         C-4 C-4 KNIGHTSFORD LN.        I-16   I-16  KNOB HILL DR.         B-8*  B-8*  KOALA DR.             K-6  K-6  KODIAK DR.           K-6K-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAC DU MONT DR.  M-10  M-10  LADY SLIPPER LN.      L-10 L-10 LAFORET CIR.          E-5  E-5  LAGOON DR.           F-9  F-9  LAKE CT.              N-11  N-11  LAKE LANSING RD. O-1, O-12  LAKE DR.       Q-12, M-12  LAKE DR., E.           O-11  O-11  LAKE ST.              O-11 O-11 LAKEVIEW ST.          O-12*  LA MER LN.           M-9*  M-9*  LAMPEN  DR.           L-8  L-8  LEBARON CT.          M-6*  M-6*  LEE ST.               P-11  P-11  LEEWARD DR.          E-13 E-13 LELAND CIR.            J-5  J-5  LENORE LN.            O-11* LINDEN DR.             K-6  K-6  LIVERANCE ST.          G-8  G-8  LONG LEAF TRAIL       E-9 E-9 LONGVIEW DR., W., E.    O-6  O-6  LOON LN.,           B-6 B-6 LUFF CT.            E-13  E-13  LUPINE CT.          B-7  B-7  LUPINE DR.          B-6 B-6 LYNDHURST WAY     M-10M-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
MACK AVE.      Q-11 Q-11 MACKINAC RD.       E-13  E-13  MADISON AVE.         K-12* MAGENTA CT.          M-16*  MAIDEN LN.          I-12  I-12  MALLARD ST.       P-14* P-14* MANITOU DR.        G-10 G-10 MANSFIELD DR.        I-6  I-6  MAPLE HILL DR.       O-16  O-16  MAPLE RIDGE RD.     L-11* L-11* MARGATE LN.         P-4  P-4  MARIETTA WAY        D-9 D-9 MARINER LN.         E-14 E-14 MARBOROUGH RD.    G-12  G-12  MARMON CT.        M-6*  M-6*  MARSH RD.     G-9, R-11 G-9, R-11 MARTINIQUE CIR.      L-6 L-6 MARTINUS ST.        N-11  N-11  MAUMEE DR.          F-7  F-7  MAXWELL CT.         M-6*  M-6*  MEADOW WOOD DR.    Q-6 Q-6 MEDINAH  DR.         D-4  D-4  MELLING WAY        P-3*  P-3*  MELVILLE DR.         K-6  K-6  MERCER DR.         E-12 E-12 MEREFORD CT.       P-7*  P-7*  MERIDIAN RD.  A-18, L-18 METHODIST ST.       H-9 H-9 MICHAEL ST.         P-11  P-11  MILENZ ST.          P-13  P-13  MINOKA TRAIL       G-11* MIRABEAU DR.       F-11 F-11 MISTYWOOD DR.      G-13  G-13  MIZZEN DR.         D-14  D-14  MOHAWK RD.          I-7 I-7 MOHICAN LN.          H-6  H-6  MOJAVE CT.         E-12 E-12 MONTEBELLO AVE.    N-11 N-11 MONTEREY AVE.      M-13 M-13 MONTESSORI          F-6* F-6* MONTGOMERY CT.    K-11* MONTROSE AVE.        H-8   H-8  MOORE ST.            G-9   G-9  MORNING GLORY DR.      C-6  MOSS GLEN CIR.        M-16  MOUNT HOPE RD.   G-1, G-8  M-43             F-18, I-5  M-78            N-5, R-10  MYRTLE DR.          A-7A-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAKOMA DR.     G-8  G-8  NASSAU ST.        I-12  I-12  NATURE WAY    H-18  H-18  NAUBINWAY RD.      E-12 E-12 NAUTICAL DR.        D-14  D-14  NAVAHO TRAIL       F-10  F-10  NEMOKE CT.          L-11  L-11  NEMOKE TRAIL       L-11  L-11  NESTOR CT.          L-13    L-13  L-13  NEW SALEM AVE.     C-8  C-8  NEWMAN RD.        I-10,     I-10, H-18 NEWTON RD.       O-8  O-8  NICOLE CIR.           H-15  H-15  NORTH CRYSTAL COVE DR.R-11 NORTH RAINDROP       P-3*  P-3*  NORTH WILD BLOSSOM DR.L-7*  NORTHVIEW DR.        G-12 G-12 NORTHWIND DR.         I-5 I-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKDALE DR.         O-16 O-16 OAKENCLIFFE LN.      R-8 R-8 OAKLAWN RD.         F-11   F-11  OAK POINTE CT.       F-15  F-15  OAK PARK TRAIL     P-14 P-14 OAKWOOD DR.         E-12 E-12 OKEMOS RD.      A-8, O-8 A-8, O-8 OLIVER DR.           G-18 G-18 OLMSTED ST.          I-12  I-12  ONEIDA DR.          F-10  F-10  ORLANDO DR.        L-13  L-13  OSAGE DR.           F-10 F-10 OSCODA RD.          D-12  D-12  OTSEGO DR.         B-12 B-12 OTTAWA DR.           G-8  G-8  OVERGLEN CT.         Q-7Q-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
PADDOCK DR.         G-13  G-13  PAIGE CT.           M-6*  M-6*  PANDA BEAR CIR.      K-6  K-6  PAR  PL.             C-6  C-6  PARK LAKE RD.        I-6,      I-6, R-6 PARTRIDGE ST.    O-14*  PATRIOTS WAY         N-5 N-5 PAWNEE CIR.          G-9 G-9 PAWNEE TRAIL        G-9 G-9 PEBBLESTONE DR.     F-11 F-11 PENOBSCOT DR.       F-10 F-10 PEPPER RIDGE DR.     O-11 O-11 PERCH ST.           O-12  O-12  PERRY RD.           Q-12 Q-12 PHEASANT ST.         O-14* PICADILLY DR.        K-12 K-12 PIKE ST.              O-11  O-11  PIMLICO PL.         -12*  -12*  PINE CREEK CIR.       P-11  P-11  PINE HOLLOW DR.      Q-6  Q-6  PINE KNOLL DR.       C-11  C-11  PINE RIDGE DR.      M-14 M-14 PIONEER TRAIL         G-5  G-5  PIPER RD.            K-15 K-15 POLLARD AVE.         O-3  O-3  POND DR., W.          G-12* PONDEROSA DR.      A-14 A-14 PONTCHARTRAIN DR.    F-12 F-12 PORTER AVE.          O-3 O-3 POTTER ST.          M-12 M-12 POWDERHORN DR.     B-10 B-10 POWELL RD.         H-12 H-12 .

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUAIL ST.         		P-13 P-13 QUARRY RD.           	L-8L-8

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY RD.          M-8 M-8 RAINBOW CT.            A-11  A-11  RAIN FOREST CIR.       E-6* E-6* RAINDROP RD.           O-3* O-3* RALEIGH DR.            C-9 C-9 RANDALL ST.           Q-12 Q-12 RAPHAEL RD.           L-6  L-6  RAVEN CIR.             D-10  D-10  RED CEDAR RD.        E-16* REDONDO DR.           O-16 O-16 REDWING DR.           E-10  E-10  REEF CT.               D-13 D-13 RESEARCH CIR.          E-8 E-8 REYNOLDS RD., E. P-12/P-14 REYNOLDS RD., W. P-11/P-12 RIDGE ST.       P-11 P-11 RIDGEPOND PLACE      R-8 R-8 RIDGEWAY DR.          M-13  M-13  RIVER GLEN DR.        F-17  F-17  RIVER KNOLL DR.        N-16  N-16  RIVER TERRACE DR.      H-4 H-4 RIVERWOOD DR.         F-8  F-8  ROBINS WAY.           B-7 B-7 ROCKWOOD DR.          J-6  J-6  ROE ST.                P-11  P-11  ROLLING HILLS DR.       K-11 K-11 ROLLING MEADOW LN.   H-18 ROSELAND AVE.         J-5 J-5 ROTHBURY LN.          P-4* P-4* ROXBURY AVE.          C-9  C-9  ROYAL OAK DR.         P-10  P-10  ROYCE CT.            M-7* M-7* RUTHERFORD AVE.       O-3O-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACRAMENTO WAY     O-9  O-9  SAGO WAY              F-11  F-11  SAMUEL OAKS DR.       E-18 E-18 SANDLEWOOD DR.        C-9 C-9 SANDOWN CT.          G-13* SANDRIDGE DR.          E-9 E-9 SAPPHIRE  CIR.         J-8 J-8 SAPPHIRE  LN.          J-8  J-8  SARAN DR.             E-12 E-12 SARANAC LN.           H-6  H-6  SASHABAW DR.          C-11 C-11 SATINWOOD DR.         F-13 F-13 SCENIC LAKE DR.        A-14 A-14 SCHOOL ST.            M-12  M-12  SCIENCE PARKWAY       E-8 E-8 SEBEWAING RD.          E-13 E-13 SEMINOLE DR.           I-8 I-8 SEMINOLE PLACE        F-8 F-8 SENECA DR.            G-11  G-11  SEQUOIA TRAIL          G-6  G-6  SEVEN TRAILS CT.      G-12* SEVILLE DR.             E-7  E-7  SHADOW LAWN CT.       N-5 N-5 SHADOW LAWN DR.      N-5 N-5 SHADOW RIDGE          E-6 E-6 SHADYWOOD LN.         D-11D-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAGBARK LN.       C-9  C-9  SHAKER BLVD.          F-11 F-11 SHARBROOK WAY        N-12  N-12  SHAW ST.              M-12  M-12  SHAWNEE TRAIL         F-8 F-8 SHELDRAKE AVE.        C-9 C-9 SHERBROOK WAY        N-10 N-10 SHERWOOD RD.          G-18 G-18 SHOALS DR.            E-13 E-13 SHOESMITH RD.          O-17 O-17 SHORTWOOD CIR.        E-14 E-14 SILKWOOD DR.           F-13 F-13 SILVERLEAF CT.         L-15 L-15 SILVERWOOD DR.         E-14  E-14  SIOUX WAY             I-8  I-8  SIRHAL DR.             J-5  J-5  SKYLINE CT.            O-6  O-6  SKYLINE DR.            O-5  O-5  SMALL ACRES LN.       I-6 I-6 SMITHFIELD AVE.         N-4  N-4  SLEEPY HOLLOW LN.     N-9  N-9  SNOW BERRY LN.        B-17  B-17  SOLAR WAY             E-6 E-6 SONGBIRD POINTE        L-9* L-9* SONOMA VISTA          B-8 B-8 SOPHIEA PKWY.         E-6  E-6  SOUTH CRYSTAL COVE .  R-11  S. WILD BLOSSOM CT.   L-7* L-7* SOUTHPORT CIR.         E-8 E-8 SOUTHRIDGE RD.         O-7 O-7 SOUTHWOOD DR.         N-5  N-5  SOWER BLVD.           E-8 E-8 SPICEWOOD DR., N.      G-14 G-14 SPICEWOOD DR., S.      G-14 SPINNAKER LN.          D-14 D-14 SPLICE CIR.             D-13  D-13  SPRING LAKE DR.        A-11 A-11 SPRING MILL DR.        M-16 M-16 STAGECOACH DR.        A-14  A-14  STAR FLOWER DR.       L-10 L-10 STARBOARD DR.         D-13  D-13  STILL VALLEY CIR.       N-5  N-5  STILL VALLEY DR.        N-5 N-5 STONEYCROFT DR.       F-11 F-11 STRAWBERRY LN.        M-16 M-16 SUGAR MAPLE LN.       E-10 E-10 SUMMERFIELD LN.        O-17 O-17 SUMMERGATE LN.  A-10  A-10  SUN RAPIDS DR.     C-7  C-7  SUNDANCE LN.          E-7 E-7 SUNHOLLOW CT.         Q-10 Q-10 SUNHOLLOW LN.         Q-10 Q-10 SUNNY MEADOW CIR.   H-18 SUNSET AVE.           P-14 P-14 SUNWIND DR., W.        C-6  C-6  SYLVAN GLEN RD.       D-12 D-12 SWEETWOOD DR.         F-14 SWEENEY DR.           C-4C-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
TACOMA BLVD.          G-10 G-10 TACOMA CIR.          E-10  E-10  TAHOE CIR.             E-10 E-10 TAHQUAMENON RD.     E-12     E-12 TAMARACK DR.          B-8 B-8 TANFORAN PL.         G-13* TAOS CIR.              B-8*  TAOS TRAIL             B-8* B-8* TAPESTRY DR.          C-6*

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAYLOR CT.           O-11*     O-11* TAYLOR DR.             O-1 O-1 TEAKWOOD CIR.          L-14 L-14 TEKONSHA TRAIL         H-6  TERI TERRACE           K-6 K-6 THAMES DR.            K-12 K-12 THISTLEWOOD RD.        C-10 C-10 THISTLEDOWN PL.      G-13* THORNGATE RD.         Q-6 Q-6 THRUSHWOOD CIR.       C-11 C-11 TIHART RD.             K-12 K-12 TIMBER LANE ST.        K-5 K-5 TIMBER MEADOW CT.    P-6 P-6 TIMBERVIEW LN.         A-9  A-9  TIMES SQUARE DR.        J-11  J-11 TITANIUM TRL.         M-16* TOMAHAWK CIR.          G-9  G-9 TOMAHAWK RD.          G-9 G-9 TONAPAH TRAIL         H-6 H-6 TONAWANDA DR.         M-13 M-13 TOWAR AVE.            P-2  P-2  TOWAR GARDENS CIR.    P-3* TOWNER RD.            Q-9  Q-9  TRAILS END             A-15 A-15 TRAILWOOD LN.         C-11 TREETOP DR.           G-13*     G-13* TRILLIUM CT.            D-17 D-17 TURNING LEAF LN.       D-7 D-7 TURNBERRY LN.         D-17 D-17 TWYCKINGHAM           G-4* G-4* TWINGING DR.           J-13J-13

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIVERSITY PARK DR. ALDN.TW USIAK CIR              E-6*E-6*

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEYBROOK DR.       C-10  C-10  VAN ATTA RD.    A-16, M-16 VENTURA PL.          M-14 M-14 VERANDA PL.           C-6*  C-6*  VICEROY DR.            B-11 B-11 VICTORIAN HILLS DR.    D-18 D-18 VILLAGE DR.            N-9*N-9*

AutoCAD SHX Text
WABANINGO RD.         E-13 E-13 WABEEK DR.            G-10 G-10 WANDERING WAY         B-13 B-13 WARDCLIFF DR.           J-6  J-6 WASHINGTON HEIGHTS AVE. G-1 Water Lilly Way          B-8* B-8* WATERFORD CT.        G-13* WAUSAU RD.            G-9 G-9 WELLINGTON DR.         G-16 G-16 WENONAH DR.           A-12  A-12  WEST ARBUTUS DR.      A-12  A-12  WEST BENHAM WAY      E-7*  E-7*  WEST GOLFRIDGE DR.     O-6  WEST HIAWATHA DR.     A-12  WEST HIDDEN LAKE DR.   K-6 WEST LODGES DR.       H-5*      H-5*  WEST LONGVIEW DR.    O-6   O-6  WEST POND DR.         G-12*     G-12* WEST REYNOLDS RD.    P-11  WEST SLEEPY HOLLOW LN. N-9 WEST SUNWIND DR.       C-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTMINSTER WAY    N-8  N-8  WHARF DR.      D-13 D-13 WHISPERWOOD DR.       N-17 WHISTLER DR.           K-6  K-6  WHITE ASH LN.          L-15  L-15  WHITE OAKS DR.         F-14  F-14  WHITE OWL WAY         E-9 WHITEHALL DR.          F-5* F-5* WHITEHILLS LAKES DR.    P-6 WHITETAIL CIR.          J-15  J-15  WILD BLOSSOM CT.       L-7  WILD CHERRY PATH       E-9  WILD GINGER TRAIL      O-15  WILD HICKORY DR.       L-7*  WILD OAK DR.           L-7*  L-7*  WILD IRIS LN.           L-10  L-10  WILDER CT.             P-10  P-10  WILDER ST.             P-10 P-10 WILSHIRE RD.            L-13 L-13 WIND-N-WOOD DR.      B-18 WINDREEF CT.           D-14 D-14 WINDRUSH LN.           P-6  P-6  WINDY HEIGHTS DR.      C-7 WINTERBERRY LN.       B-18  WOOD KNOLL DR.       M-16  WOOD VALLEY DR.       N-16 WOODS EDGE DR.  ALDN. TWP. WOODCLIFFE LN.         Q-7 WOODCRAFT RD.         G-7 WOODFIELD RD.          E-9 WOODHILL DR.           F-6 F-6 WOODLAKE CIR.    ALDN. TWP WOODLAKE DR.    ALDN. TWP WOODLEAF CT.          B-8  B-8  WOODMONT CIR.         N-17 WOODSIDE DR.           M-14 M-14 WOODVILLE RD.          L-12 L-12 WOODWIND TRAIL        O-14 WRIGHTWIND DR.         F-14

AutoCAD SHX Text
YORK WAY              O-7  O-7  YOSEMITE DR.           B-10  B-10  YUMA TRAIL            F-10F-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZAHARAS LN.         C-5  C-5  ZEPHYR DR.            C-6C-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
Private Road

AutoCAD SHX Text
VACATED BY I.C.R.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Rothbury Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Buckden Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLVIEW DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Countryway Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CABARET TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Garcin Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lakeview St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEMINOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WABEEK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEMENTARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIAWATHA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTESSORI

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGEWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH 

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DONLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHRIENER PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
KALORAMA WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHWIND  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAWN  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  RIVER  AVE.  (M-43)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRESNO

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
23.4 ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
La Mer Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blue Lac Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lac Du Mont

AutoCAD SHX Text
Village Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST LODGES DR.       H-5  EAST LONGVIEW DR.    O-6  O-6  EAST MEADOWS CT.     B-9*  B-9*  EAST POND DR.        G-13* 

AutoCAD SHX Text
12/21/99

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF EAST LANSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
  SOFTBALL  COMPLEX

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLEEPY   

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROYAL OAK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUE HAVEN DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROBINS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAGGAL LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINTERFIELD COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHRIDGE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACRAMENTO WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: PRVATE  ROADS *  HAVE AN ASTERISK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SERAFINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEMOKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MITROKA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINN TIHART

AutoCAD SHX Text
TANK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANDER FARM NATURAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRESERVED AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH RFB

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CROSSWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BOARDWALK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST LANSING WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.6 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CROSSWALKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARDWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANDENBERG

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILVERSTONE WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANNEXATIONS WITH CITIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.08 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPORARY SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
Titanium Trl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Copper Creek Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text
Magenta Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARDWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING RFBS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED RFBS

AutoCAD SHX Text
  Pointe

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CROSSWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH RFB

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOREST HILLS 

Nunn
Line

Nunn
Line

Nunn
Line

Nunn
Line

Nunn
Line

Nunn
Line

Nunn
Oval

Nunn
Callout
CROSS CMS ROW N OF ROBINS WAY

Nunn
Callout
E-W FROM OKEMOS TO CSX RR

Nunn
Callout
N-S FROM GRAND RIVER (M-43) TO CSX RR / LEGG PARK

Nunn
Callout
N-S FROM HASLETT ROAD TO GRAND RIVER (M-43)

Nunn
Callout
NE-SW FROM MARSH ROAD TO GREEN ROAD


10.A

CONSENT AGENDA
BOARD
COMMUNICATIONS
APRIL 26, 2022




To: Meridian Township Board

From: Ari and Jessi Adler, 1580 Hillside Drive, Okemos. Parcel 33-02-02-427-006
Re: Protesting Daniels Drain Assessment

Date: April 2022

To the Meridian Township Trustees:

For the official record, we, the homeowners of 1580 Hillside Drive (Parcel 33-02-02-427-006)
object to the Daniels Drain Special Assessment for our parcel in the estimated amount of
$6,589.23 based on the factors listed below (Note: this amount is higher than the amount you
provided us in the fall of 2021). Through this letter we are reserving our right to file an appeal
to the State Tax Tribunal and also request that the entire assessment roll and factors be looked
at more closely for the sake of the entire neighborhood and the township to ensure equity and
legality.

The residents of Forest Hills, Cornell Woods and other property owners in the Daniels Drain
district NEVER asked for this drain project and in fact were unaware of it until it began in
summer of 2021. The request for the project came solely from the Board of Directors of the
Walden Ponds Cooperative Homes, Inc. Had they not petitioned for this project and the ICDC
and/or the township decided to do this project on their own, we would not be paying such
outrageous amounts for this project — again, a project the overwhelming majority of residents
did not ask for, nor knew anything about until it began. Therefore, the residents of the Forest
Hills neighborhood believe the Ponds Cooperative Homes should be the sole responsible
party to pay for this project.

Or, it should be Meridian Township’s responsibility to pay for the entirety of it. We don’t
disagree with the need for repair due to the collapsing tile and gunk-filled pond, but this
township has made numerous zoning, rezoning, and property development mistakes since the
drain/pond installation dating back to the 1940s that run contrary to the master plan (and even
basic common sense). These decisions made by the township have been negatively impacting
this drain and surrounding developments for decades, yet the township has turned a blind eye
to the consequences in favor of more money from developers. The pond and drains were too
small and falling apart for the number of houses in Forest Hills, New Forest Hills, Cornell Woods,
and on Dobie Road, that the township continued to approve for building. And, yet, they never
required developers or the ICDC to fix the drains or build a new retention pond to take the load
off the current pond, even when they knew our pipes and pond couldn’t handle the current
water load. Every bit of new road, driveway, and rooftop added more runoff that wasn’t being
absorbed into the ground and instead dumped into the Daniels Drain pipes and pond that were
not infrastructurally capable of handling that much. Therefore, it should not be the current
homeowners’ responsibility to pay for all of the development and infrastructure mistakes
made by township officials that have led to the drain’s failure.



We also do not agree with the so-called “benefits” and “proximity to tangible improvements,”
which the assessment indicates for our property. In fact, this project is more detrimental than
beneficial for the following reasons:

We have never had any issues with flooding or water on our property.

We have a completely fine culvert pipe under our driveway and a deep and clean ditch
in our yard (But just last week someone came to cut off the end of our driveway to tear
it all up and put in a new pipe and tear up the road — again, we didn’t need this, ours
was working fine, yet, we are being forced to pay for a new road and pipe that we didn’t
need, and at an expense we cannot afford and that gives us no new benefits.)

We back up to the natural area and water on our yard soaks in to the ground and helps
replenish the aquifer to our well that we rely on for daily water.

We have no curb or gutter on our street, thus no driveway approach. The only
pavement on our property is our driveway.

The project removed an unnecessary, massive number of trees directly behind our
house that not only helped with runoff and filtration, but will result in a loss of
property/resale value for us because, as the realtors say “location, location, location.”
The destruction of the nature and privacy we enjoyed by having thick woods behind our
house in the natural areas is a significant blow to any future sale of our house.

The so-called “landscaping improvements” to the pond and planned sidewalks around
the pond will be off-limits to the residents of Forest Hills such since that is private
property owned by the Ponds Cooperative and there are no trespassing signs
everywhere. So, we will get NO benefit from the landscaping improvements.

Trees and plantings? You cut down at least 600, 50+ year old mature trees and are only
replacing them with a handful of small trees. This is NOT an improvement of any kind
and does not benefit my property in any way. In fact, now | can see directly into the
windows of the condos, and they can see into my backyard — this is a detriment to both
sides who used to enjoy privacy.

Therefore, considering all of the above, the special assessment dollar amount for our
property is not reasonably proportionate to the so-called “benefits” and we would like it
reconsidered and lowered to reflect reality. Ideally, the appropriate parties (the Ponds Co-Op
and Meridian Township) should pay for the entirety of this project that we never asked for
and has caused undue harm to our property with no tangible benefits for the debt we are
being forced to incur against our will.

Thank you,
Jessi and Ari Adler



Township Board; PW; BJ Markham Daniels Drain
assessment
Tuesday, April 12, 2022 11:33:18 AM

i

Relative to the Daniels drain assessments:

We submitted the letter below to the board after the meeting last October. We did have a
meeting with the DPW engineer to review our concerns.

However, we received no feedback as to any adjustments or lack thereof and our assessment
went up without explanation.

Attached are a few slides that I would like to present at today's board meeting.
Thank you
Brian Markham

This email 1s to request a review of the data and calculation used to determine the Daniels drain
assessment for 4424 Satinwood Drive per the offer made at the public hearing on November 16,
2021.

We are generally around except for around the Thanksgiving holiday and Tuesday's tend to be
one our better availability days.

Screen Shot 2021-11-18 at 11 25 22 AM png

Some notes for the discussion:

In our effort to try to understand the assessment, we extracted the NLCD 2016 Land Cover for
the Daniels Drain area (attached). The map clearly shows the influence of the wide roads in the
Cornell Woods Neighborhood on the development intensity classifications. Pixels abutting the
road are generally classified as medium density and those not adjacent to the road as low
density or lower. The pixel size data product is around 1/4 acre and the classification of an
mndividual pixel is influenced by an area considerably larger than the pixel size. With the
average lot size in the area around 1/3 acre, almost all the pixels assigned to a given plot will be
mixture of different land cover elements and many will be influenced by the road. Houses at
the four corners of an intersection with be influenced by roads on two sides, tending to give
them (unfairly) a higher intensity rating. Other factors, like where the pixels actually fall
relative to a plot, mis-registration errors and classification errors in the product will have
localized effects as well. I expect that there is no easy answer on a way to make the land cover
classification fairer, though, as was suggested in the meeting, using the zoning classification
might be better. The Cornell Woods neighborhood looks relatively uniform in aerial images.

We detailed in our other letter our concern over the proximity classification (P2) of our lot,
which we would like to discuss as well. We would be less unhappy with the P2 designation if
the road had actually been repaved next to our house as opposed to being damaged by the work
being done (o1l stains and surface scrapings, etc).




Comments on Daniels Drain Assessments

* Commend team for developing a reasonable plan to fairly assign
assessments to properties in the region

* Nearly impossible task

* Despite best efforts, inequities remain
* Land cover classification
* Proximity



NLCD 2016 Product

e Based on Landsat 8 imagery
* Landsat 8 (and NLCD) Pixel size 30 meters by 30 meters (0.22 acres)

 Light measured by Landsat 8 sensor comes from larger area (up to 60 by 60 meters —
0.89 acres)

* Impact on Daniels Drain assessment
* Typical lots in assessment area are ~0.33 acre
* Any NLCD pixel will be influenced by the surrounding area, that is, it will not be
purely the target of interest (even if perfectly centered in the lot)
* Lots adjacent to roads will tend to be marked as higher development intensity
* Lots adjacent to fields and forests will tend to be marked as lower development intensity
* This is evident in the Land use classification in the Daniel Drain assessment

* Houses on corners usually have higher intensity classification (roads on two sides)
* One side of street has higher assessment than other (location of original pixels)



Propensity of Corner lots to be higher assessment
also one side of street more than other

Hickorywood
Satinwood

Alderwood

Silkwood

Up to ~35% difference in assessment for Land Cover for similar lots and houses - is this reasonable?
Consider treating all equally or Not to exceed value, e.g. 0.30 maximum (allows undeveloped land to be lower)



Proximity Factor

e Current approach appears to assign a proximity factor of 1.20 for all
property that touches any of the replaced pipe regions (includes new
main pipe (benefits everyone), perhaps new connections to pipe and
replaced pavement)

* Same 1.20 factor if area fully repaved in front of house to 1 foot replaced
* |Is this reasonable?

* Consider scaling improvement factor based on how much of road
frontage was improved, say in increments of 10% (this does not look
like a big effort as most sites have all road front replaced (or none).



Backup



Landsat Pixel Response

Normalized Spatial Response

Object Space Distance (meters)

== Along-Track == Across-Track



Screen Shot 2021-11-18 at 11 13 42 AM png



Attachments:

CETEENEEET B

Open Water (11)

Perennial Ice/Snow/ (12)
Developed, Open Space (21)
Developed, Low Intensity (22)
Developed, Medium Intensity (23)
Developed, High Intensity (24)
Barren Land (Rock/Sand/Clay) (31)
Deciduous Forest (41)

Evergreen Forest (42)

Mixed Forest (43)

Dwarf Scrub(AK only) (51)
Shrub/scrub (52)
Grasslands/Herbaceous (71)
Sedge/Herbaceous(AK only) (72)
Lichens (Ak only) (73)

Moss (AK only) (74)

Pasture/Hay (81)

Cultivated Crops (82)

Woody Wetlands (90)

Emergent Herbaceous Wetlands (95)




/————\ FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE
anie April 12,2022
MERIDIAN

TOWNSHIP‘?

| CONTACT: LeRoy Harvey, Environmental Programs Coordinator
517.853.4466 | harvey@meridian.mi.us

Spring Clean and Recycle Unwanted Items
Local Organizations & Businesses Partner to Reduce, Reuse and Recycle

Meridian Township, MI - On Saturday, April 30 from 9:00 am to 2:00 pm at the Chippewa Middle
School (4000 Okemos Road, Okemos), the parking lot will be filled with volunteers accepting items
to be recycled. All residents in the region can safely recycle a variety of unwanted items.

Accepted Items:

e Metals:
o Washers, dryers, stoves, water heaters, air conditioners, fridges/freezers,
dehumidifiers, mowers, snow blowers. Including bikes and bike parts.
o Can be working or non-working.
o $10 fee if item contains Freon.
e Document Shredding:
o Staples, paper clips and small spiral binders accepted.
o Placed in confidential locked storage until shredded.
e Egg Cartons:
o Dozen-size egg cartons only.
e Paint:
o Latex and oil based/stains only. Can be liquid or dry.
o $2/quart can, $3/gallon can, $10/bucket.
o Please keep in original can, don't mix colors.

Non-Accepted Items:

e No gasoline, oil or light bulbs in metal appliances. No x-rays, 3-ring binders, large binder clips,
VHS tapes or CDs. No electronics.

e NOTE: An electronics collection will be held on October 8, 2022.

e Visit www.midmichiganrecycles.org for where to recycle these items.

The event is generously supported by sponsors Absolute Solar, Clerical Technical Union of MSU, Delta
Dental, Granger Waste Services, Hammond Farms Landscape Supply and My Green Michigan Food Scrap
Management.

For additional information or to sign up as a volunteer, visit www.meridian.mi.us/GreenMeridian. For
questions, email recycle@meridian.mi.us or call 517.853.4466.

H#it#

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community

that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles.
v A PRIME COMMUNITY

meridian.mi.us



From: Brad Lewis

To: Board
Subject: Roads
Date: Wednesday, April 13, 2022 10:39:06 AM

Good morning,

My name is Brad Lewis and | live at 1843 Birchwood Dr Okemos. We are in the back of Tacoma Hills
subdivision. | grew up in this house and recently moved in after my father, Ben Lewis passed away in
2018. Our circle on the corner of Manitou and Birchwood is in horrible shape. On your scale itis a 1-
3, which as you know is the worst. They were here last year paving Manitou. They paved all the way
up to our circle and stopped! | asked the workers why they are not doing our circle and | didn’t get
an answer.

| understand that the American Rescue Plan have Meridian Township 4.3 million and | would really
appreciate if some of that money was used for roads, especially our circle on Manitou and
Birchwood. The reason | am pushing so hard for this is because all of us who live in the circle have
small children ages 2-9. Right now because the road is so bad, the kids can’t ride their bikes,
skateboard or simply play. Growing up here we loved playing in the circle and never had an issue
with bad pavement.

Thank you for listening and hopefully before too long, maybe even this summer you will be able to
us some of that 4.3 million to pave the circle so the kids can enjoy before they are too old.

Thanks again

Prad Lewis
Executive Recuuiter, Managing Partner
TALENT ACQUISITION PARTNERS, LLC




Board; PW; BJ Markham
Re: Daniels Drain assessment Wednesday, April 13, 2022
1:11:47 PM

B

Attachments:

Thank you for the opportunity to present at last evening's board meeting.

I found the drain commissions and dpws (and consultants) presentations useful for
understanding how we got to where we are. I have a couple remaining questions/comments that
were not addressed:

» The DPW's consultant, Spicer, I think, indicated in last evening's presentation relative to the
"C" value determination, something to the effect of " a previous version of the assessments
used the zoning classification to determine the C factor, but it was decided that this was not
representative of the land use (by discussion with property owners, I think). It was therefore
decided to use the NLCD to perform the determination" I personally have not seen a
version of the assessments based on zoning; the version I saw from last fall's meeting
used the NLCD methodology. I would like to see this earlier version and understand
why it was not acceptable. I do not find the NLCD appropriate, at least by itself, to use
for the C factor determination either, as indicated in my presentation last evening. The
NLCD, for a number of parcels, indicates that the development density is higher than the
zoning classification would allow. This implies that either the parcel owner is violating the
zoning or the NLCD is not measuring what is needed. I believe it is the latter, 1.e., the NLCD
1s too coarse to provide a reliable land cover measure for the typical size of lots in the
assessment region. Perhaps a hybrid approach would be more appropriate, e.g., assign a
zoning based classification to each parcel (presumably what was used in the initial
classification), but allow the value to be lower if the NLCD indicates such, which would
generally be the case if the owner had not developed the lot as intensely as allowed. But don't
allow the number to be higher than the zoning classification. Not perfect by any means, but
perhaps better.

» The DPW's consultant also showed an example of how the "C" value was calculated for a
sample parcel. This was not clear to me. I've attached a chart that shows my
interpretation of how the C value was determined for an example parcel. Please indicate
if this is correct. Note that how the parcel is located relative to the NLCD grid and what
the parcel's neighbors are (e.g., roads), the calculated C value will vary and not
represent well the actual parcel land cover.

Relative to the Daniels drain assessments:

We submitted the letter below to the board after the meeting last October. We did have a
meeting with the DPW engineer to review our concerns.

However, we received no feedback as to any adjustments or lack thereof and our assessment
went up without explanation.

Attached are a few slides that I would like to present at today's board meeting.
Thank you

Brian MarkhamThis email is to request a review of the data and
calculation used to determine the Daniels drain assessment for
4424 satinwood Drive per the offer made at the public hearing on
November 16, 2021. We are generally around except for around the
Thanksgiving holiday and Tuesday's tend to be one our better
availability days.

Screen Shot 2021-11-18 at 112522 AM png




Screen Shot 2021-11-18 at 11 13 42 AM png



Attachments:

CHTEENEEET B

Open Water (11)

Perennial Ice/Snow/ (12)
Developed, Open Space (21)
Developed, Low Intensity (22)
Developed, Medium Intensity (23)
Developed, High Intensity (24)
Barren Land (Rock/Sand/Clay) (31)
Deciduous Forest (41)

Evergreen Forest (42)

Mixed Forest (43)

Dwarf Scrub(AK only) (51)
Shrub/Scrub (52)
Grasslands/Herbaceous (71)
Sedge/Herbaceous(AK only) (72)
Lichens (Ak only) (73)

Moss (AK only) (74)

Pasture/Hay (81)

Cultivated Crops (82)

Woody Wetlands (90)

Emergent Herbaceous Wetlands (95)




Example C factor calculation — not real lot and approximate numbers

30 m by 30 m NLCD pixel grid
(0.22 acres each)

Sample 1/3 acre parcel

Even if sensor were perfect, no
pixels are “purely” within the lot;
Pixel B is half neighbors lot;
Pixels A, E and F are ~ 1/3 road
Pixel D is ~1/2 road, etc.

o o O X

Pixels A, D, E, F likely labeled
lower permeability class in

NLCD causing C factor for parcel
To be higher.

Any given parcel will have a
Different alignment with the
NLCD grid and different influences
From varying adjacent neighbors
And roads.

Parcel “C” value~=0.1A+03B+0.1C+0.1D+0.3E+0.1F



L/

COMCAST

April 7, 2022

Ms. Brandie Yates, Communications Manager
Meridian Township

5151 Marsh Road

Okemos, MI 48864

RE: Programming Advisory
Dear Ms. Yates:

As part of our ongoing commitment to keep you and our customers informed about changes to
Xfinity TV services, we wanted to inform you of the following changes:

Effective May 12, 2022, Fox Sports 1 will no longer be offered as part of Digital Economy.
These channels are available as part of Popular TV, Sports & News, and Digital Starter.

Please feel free to contact me at 734-359-2077 if you have any questions.

Sincerely,Mm/—

Benjamin Miller

Director, External Affairs
Comcast, Heartland Region
1401 E. Miller Rd.
Lansing, MI 48911



April 15, 2022

Supervisor Pat Jackson

And Meridian Township Board
5151 Marsh Road

Okemos, MI 48864

RE: Daniels Drain Drainage District Project
Commons Areas Drain Assessments

Dear Supervisor Jackson and Board:

This letter is to request a review of the methodology on a portion of the assessment on the
Daniels Drain Drainage District project. What is the thinking behind removing the commons
areas from the drain assessment and taking that amount of assessment and spreading it only to
those parcels within the drainage district also within that particular HOA?

Let me start with the fact that | am not certain how assessments are divided under Act 188, but
under the Drain Code, it is not possible to spread an assessment on a parcel not located within
the Drain District boundary. In this case, the Township has tentatively offered to spread the
commons area assessment only onto those parcels in that development which are also within
the drainage district boundary.

That brings up the question: There are other parcels within that development whose owners
also have use of that commons area for enjoyment, yet they are paying nothing for that
privilege. That is not right either.

| can certainly agree that the commons areas should not be rolled back into the whole roll
which would result in my having to pay for part of the Whispering Oaks Commons without
having any privilege to picnic there. But by the same token, the other members of that
development who do have use of that commons should also pay their fair share for the
commons. That would only happen if you send the bill to the HOA and let them decide how to
divide that charge—evenly, or apportionately, whatever. All effected development parcels
would then be paying for the use of that commons not just those directly benefiting from the
redesigned, improved drain.

Sincerely,

A , M
UL A Zbﬂx A

Cecelia Kramer
4560 Oakwood
Okemos, M| 48864




FOSTERSWIFT

FOSTER SWIFT COLLINS & SMITH PC || ATTORNEYS Lansing | Southfield | Grand Rapids | Detroit | Holland | St. Joseph
Lansing Southfield Grand Rapids
313 S Washington Square 28411 Northwestern Highway - Suite 500 1700 E. Beltline NE - Suite 200
Lansing MI 48933 Southfield M1 48034 Grand Rapids MI 49525
Detroit Holland St. Joseph
333 W. Font Street - Suite 1400 151 Central Avenue — Suite 260 800 Ship Street — Swite 105
Detroat MI 48226 Holland MI 49423 St Joseph MI 49085
Walter S. Foster Brian G Goodenough Benjamun J. Price Anna K. Gibson Stephen W. Smuth Hilary J. McDaniel Stafford
1878-1961 Matt G Hrebec Michael R Blum Patricia . Scott Mark T Koerner Emily R Wisniewski
Richard B. Foster Deanna Swisher Jonathan J. David Nicholas M. Oertel Warren H. Krueger, 111 Amanda ] Dernovshek
1908-1996 Thomas R. Meagher Andrew C. Vredenburg Alicia W. Birach Sarah ] Gabis Lydia H Kessler
Theodore W. Swaft Douglas A Mielock Julie I Fershtman Adam A Fadly Amanda Afton Martin Brandon M. H. Schumacher
1928-2000 Scott A. Chernich Todd W. Hoppe Michael J. Liddane Steven J. Tjapkes Alexander J. Thibodeau
John L. Collins Paul J. Millenbach Jenmifer B. Van Regenmorter Ryan E. Lamb Jacquelyn A Dupler Cody A Mot
1926-2001 Dirk H Beckwith Thomas R. TerMaat Chifford L. Hammond Daniel S. Zick Alaina M Nelson
Brian J. Renaud Fredenck D. Dilley Matthew S. Fedor Scott R Forbush Caroline N. Renner
Webb A Smith Lynwood P. VandenBosch Dawvid R Russell Andrea Badalucco Taylor A Gast Joseph B. Gale
Scott A Storey Lawrence Korolewicz Joel C_ Farrar John W. Mashni Rachel G. Olney Sydney T Steele
Charles A Janssen James B. Doezema Laura J. Genovich Stefania Gismondi Tyler J. Olney Kaitlyn E. Manley
Charles E. Barbien Anne M Seurynck Karl W. Butterer, Jr Leslie A Abdoo Mark J. DeLuca Kathrine A Ruttkofsky
Scott L. Mandel Michael D Homuer Mindi M Johnson Julie L. Hamlet Thomas K. Dillon Anthony M. Dalimonte
Michael D Sanders Scott H Hogan Ray H. Littleton, 11 Michael C. Zahrt Robert A. Hamor Jim W Scales
Brent A Titus Richard C. Kraus Jack L Van Coevenng Gilbert M. Fimet Michael A Cassar Benjamin C. Dilley
Writer's Direct Phone: 517.371 8155 Fax: 517.367.7155 Reply To: Lansing Email: CBarbieri@fosterswift com

April 15,2022

/ ' Email
First Class Mail

Township Board Members
Charter Township of Meridian
5151 Marsh Road

Okemos, M1 48864

To Whom It May Concern:

Re:  Continued Objection to Daniels Drain Project Special Assessment Roll

As you know, we represent The Ponds Cooperative Homes, Inc. (“The Ponds™). We previously wrote to
you on November 11, 2021 and February 22, 2022 to raise objections to the Township’s proposed
assessment for funding the ongoing improvements to the Daniels Drain. We write now, subsequent to
Board Member of The Ponds having attended the Township’s April 12, 2022 meeting.

We are very concerned by Treasurer Deschaine’s comments as it relates to The Ponds. Treasurer
Deschaine indicated that he did not feel that the 1.4 P Value for The Ponds was an appropriate place for
The Ponds to “end up,” suggesting that The Ponds should be assessed higher. Treasurer Deschaine’s
comments appear to be in response to The Ponds having denied his request to open access to Walden
Pond, the docks and pathways around Walden Pond.

In addition, we are also concerned by Assistant Township Manager Opsommer’s statement that there
would be “internal meetings™ to discuss the P Values for the properties in the Daniels Drain Special
Assessment and that there could be adjustments to the proposed assessments after that meeting.
Moreover, Trustee Hendrickson commented that he was glad that those internal meetings were to be had
as he believed that The Ponds’ P Value should be “dramatically reevaluated” because The Ponds have
“been unwilling to make concessions to allow access™ to Waldon Pond to nearby neighborhoods.

fosterswift.com



FOSTERSWIFT

HPC |l AT

Township Board Members
April 15, 2022
Page 2

The comments of Treasurer Deschaine and Trustee Hendrickson suggest a “substantial” or “dramatic”
increase in The Ponds” assessments based upon The Ponds’ refusal to provide public access to its private
property. The “threat” of a substantially higher assessment for failure to provide access to private
property could be construed as an attempted taking of private property for public use without just
compensation, in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the Michigan Constitution. In addition, the
internal meetings the Township is conducting to address the P Values of the special assessments,
including the assessment of The Ponds, could be in violation of Michigan’s Open Meetings Act.

As we previously indicated to Treasurer Deschaine and the Township, The Ponds’ Bylaws prohibit
public access to its private common features. The Ponds, like any public citizen who owns property, has
the right to protect its property and to ensure the safety and security of its residents. The limitation on
public access is consistent with that right. This is also in accordance with The Ponds” obligation to limit
potential liabilities and to avoid undesired increases in insurance premiums. The Ponds’ position of
limiting access is also consistent with the responsibilities that The Ponds has for purposes of complying
with the easement that it has agreed to with the drainage district and drain commissioner in connection
with the drain improvements.

Further, while Treasurer Deschaine and Trustee Hendrickson would like the assessment increased, they
have provided no factual basis to establish that any proposed increase is reasonably proportionate to the
benefit derived from the improvement. Kadzban v City of Grandville, 442 Mich 495, 505; 502 NW2d
299 (1993). Moreover, as stated by GEI Consultants at the meeting, Waldon Pond is a regional
detention basin taking all the water from the surrounding properties within the drainage district. Waldon
Pond is 2.6-acre storage basis for stormwater from the Daniels Drain Drainage District. Each and every
property within the Daniels Drain Drainage District contributes stormwater to Waldon Pond, and, as a
result, each and every property within the drainage district receives a benefit.

In addition, The Ponds has executed various easements in 2019, as well as in 2021, over both its parcels,
without receipt of any payment, which provide the Ingham County Drain Commissioner the right to
unlimited temporary and permanent access to perform maintenance work needed to expand and maintain
Walden Pond. This, again, benefits all property owners in the Daniels Drain Drainage District. In
addition, while The Ponds continues to own the property, all of its property on Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 not
covered by a building is encumbered by the existence of the easements which amounts to about 50% of
the combined parcels. The easements prevent The Ponds from constructing non-movable or permanent
structures in the entirety of the easement area. It also is required as part of the easement for The Ponds
to assume the obligation to maintain the pathway for future access by the Drainage District. In addition,
it is our understanding that the current design is expanding Waldon Pond beyond its current boundaries
estimated to be about 1.5 acres in size, limiting the amount of land usable by The Ponds. The plans also
include a forebay/wetland feature which would further restrict the available land for The Ponds’ use. As
a result, these encumbered areas are not benefited by the Daniels Drain Project, as their use is limited by
the project; thus, they should be removed from the assessment area.




FOSTERSWIFT

R SWIFT COLLINS & SM
Township Board Members
April 15, 2022
Page 3

At the Township Board meeting, Trustee Hendrickson further indicated that the assessment on the Ponds
should be greater as its two parcels represent ““189 units of the total of 335 units in the special
assessment district.” This is inaccurate. The Ponds represents only 144, not 189, of the total 335 units in
the special assessment district.

Finally, a substantially higher special assessment on The Ponds, coupled with the recent increase in
property taxes levied on The Ponds by the Township. will create financial hardships of The Ponds” low
income or fixed-income residents resulting in the potential loss of their homes, with no comparable
housing available in the area.

In short, The Ponds objects to the Township conducting “internal meetings” to adjust the special
assessments in the Daniels Drain Spectal Assessment District, to the extent they would be violative of
the Open Meetings Act. The Ponds further objects to the increase of the assessment to The Ponds based
upon a failure to grant access to Waldon Pond, and objects to the proposed special assessment based
upon the fact that it is not reasonably related to the benefit received by The Ponds. An attempt to
change the assessment will be viewed as arbitrary and capricious conduct.

Thank you for your attention to this matter.
Sincerely,

FOSTER SWIFT COLLINS & SMITH PC

(hd's [Brdsin

Charles E. Barbieri

CEB/MTK

29465:00011:6268771-1




April 16, 2022

Dear Ms. Guthrie and Members of the Meridian Township Board,

Based on the information we have been provided through media and the Meridian Township public
hearing on April 12, 2022, we believe the Township has been duped to petition the Ingham County Drain
Commission (ICDC) for a project that was unnecessary. As a result, the Township and residents in the
Daniels Drainage District are responsible for paying the price.

Here are the facts as we see them.

The entity who owns the pond (whether this be the ICDC or Ponds Cooperative Homes) is
responsible for maintaining the pond. Removing sediment periodically (generally once it
reaches 40-50% the height of the basin) is part of maintenance. Therefore, dredging should
have been occurring on a regular basis and this has not appeared to have been the case.

We have not observed or heard any evidence suggesting that flooding has been occurring at the
pond or other areas of the drainage district. However, it has often been mentioned that the
capacity of the pond has been decreased due to accumulated sediment. Other improvements,
such as the addition of 2 sediment forebays, are being made instead of relying on necessary
maintenance. The pond can be maintained by the IDCD or Ponds Cooperative Homes without
the addition of the forebays.

There have been complaints of algal blooms and odor (likely due to decaying vegetation and the
blooms senescing). Excessive nutrients (primarily phosphorus) are a prime cause of algal blooms
and because phosphorus binds to the sediments and continues to release, the only way to
completely address this issue is to dredge the sediment. This appears to be a driving factor in
wanting this project to proceed.

Although the pond was dredged, piles of sediment currently can be observed in the center of
the pond above the water level.

Some of the improvements being made do not appear to be related to drainage (ex. walking
path around the pond, fishing docks on the pond, replacing roadside ditches with swales and
catch basins). Yet these improvements are being allocated to all residents in the drainage
district.

It was stated that some of the sewer work was a result of poor condition of the storm sewer
(the size did not change). However, they should have a useful life of 50 — 100 years.

Sections 535 and 480, respectively, of Chapter 20 of the Drain Code states in part that work can
be done for public health or to “locate, establish and construct the drain or to improve or
supplement the same, including bridges and culverts and any lands or rights of way necessary
thereto”. Much of the work performed under this project does not relate to the protection of
public health or to improve drainage.

Section 490 of Chapter 20 of the Drain Code states that land especially benefitting by the drain
projects may be assessed a greater amount of the cost. However, as has been documented
during the latest public hearing, the owner of the condominiums where the pond is located is
not being assessed any cost of the project.

It appears that Section 468 of Chapter 20 of the drain code provides a mechanism for the
County to assume cost of the drain project if 2/3 of the members elect of the county board of
commissioners vote in favor thereof.



Based on the above and information presented at the public hearing, we have the following
questions/comments:

1.
2.

7.

We would like to see sewer maps of the area to see how the drainage district was created.

It is apparent that items outside of drainage are included in the project. We would like a
complete project description with cost breakdown of the project. Additionally, we would like an
explanation for all costs assessed to our property that do not directly impact its drainage.

How old was the sewer relaced in Cornell Woods and Whispering Oaks? What was the NASSCO
Pipeline Assessment Certification Program (PACP) rating? It is highly questionable that sewers
under 50 years of age with a PACP under 4 should need replacing in-kind.

Provide flow data showing that increasing the size of the sewers was necessary for drainage.
There appears to have been a lot of mistakes when determining the assessment of properties
(ex. using the correct C factor). We would like an explanation of how the assessment for our
property was calculated.

Which sewers were televised as part of the drainage project? The owners of the sewer should
be responsible for televising the sewers and it is questionable whether this cost should have
been part of the project.

What will be done to address the sediment still remaining in the pond?

Although it is too late to stop this project, it is not too late to ensure the appropriate parties are
assessed equitably.

Thank you for your assistance in correcting this situation.

Jon and Cheri Meyer
1486 lvywood Drive
Okemos, M| 48864



April 19, 2022

Supervisor Pat Jackson

And Meridian Township Board
5151 Marsh Road

Okemos, M| 48864

RE: Daniels Drain Drainage District Project
Dobie Road Parcels; Oakwood/Forest Hills Drive; Commons Areas

Dear Supervisor Jackson and Board:

A second look at the Drain assessment for the Daniels Drain reveals the several parcels on
Dobie Road who have received a remarkable reduction in their assessment based on their
parcels being underserved by the drain from a lack of driveway culvert and drainage ditch.

It would appear that the Drain Project is looking to rectify that problem with monies in the
contingency outside the currently-drafted project. A culvert and ditch system should allow
their front yards use of the drainage provided by the Daniels. | would assume that the original
assessment obligation (as adjusted by other successful appeals throughout the roll) would then
be restored in full or part. As it stands now, that additional assessment money was spread to
the remainder of the 328 parcels. Once Dobie Road parcels receive full benefit of the drainage
for their parcels, their parcels should be recalculated using a “new” proximity factor.

Further, it would be my hope that the length of road outside the drain district, but used as a
haul route for the loaded trucks (some double bottom), backhoes and other machinery, namely
Oakwood and west Forest Hills Drive could receive some re-pavement/resurfacing attention
after the project, paid for not out of Subdivision Road Millage, but from the project
contingency. These two subdivision streets were in good condition prior to the project startup,
but have been beaten up with the weight of the project equipment being run multiple trips per
day.

| continue in my opposition to having a small number of parcels pay for the whole subdivision’s
commons property drainage assessment. All parcel-owners within that subdivision will use and
enjoy the drainage offered by the Daniels for their commons area even if they personally-own
property outside the district. They have an interest in the commons area. While you cannot
legally levy to parcels outside the district, you can levy to the HOA which owns the commons. It
is unfair to assess only those parcels within the district for their portion of the project plus the
commons portion of the project. All parcels within that subdivision own a portion of the
commons, they all should be responsible for that area’s upkeep. It is the duty of the HOA Board
to handle the maintenance and upkeep for that parcel as fee-simple owner of that parcel.
Should the Board not be fully constituted until the subdivision is all sold, the developer as the



parcel owner of the remaining unsold parcels would sits on the board and represent those
currently absent owners until the subdivision land sales are closed out. The Board would
continue to pay the annual fee along with the In-district parcel owners for their portion of the
commons and the developer would recoups any paid funding from new purchasers at the
change of ownership. You cannot have only the current owners pay for the entire commons,
nor should the commons go “free” with its assessment spread to the remainder of the district.

Thank you for your continued efforts to make the assessment on this very complex project fair
and equitable for all parcels in the district.

Sincerely,

<y /
k"& (@8 { L ene \(_A UAAdn_
Cecelia Kramer
4560 Oakwood

Okemos, M| 48864



EAST LANSING — MERIDIAN WATER AND SEWER AUTHORITY
2470 BURCHAM DRIVE — EAST LANSING, MICHIGAN 48823
PHONE: (517) 337-7535 FAX: (517) 337-7240

Agenda

East Lansing-Meridian Water and Sewer Authority

BOARD OF TRUSTEES
NICOLE MCPHERSON
Chair
DAN OPSOMMER
Vice-Chair
CHUCK PETERSON
Secretary
BRADLEY BROGREN
Trustee
JAMES CLELAND 2 '
Trustee
JAMES ECKLUND
Trustee
JILL FELDPAUSCH 4
Treasurer ‘
-
CLYDE DUGAN 3.
Operator/Manager

April 21,2022

11:00 A.M.

Roll call.

Approval of minutes of the March 17, 2022 meeting.
A. Motion to approve.

Communications.

Public Comments.

Treasurer’s Report.

Resolution 2022-4-1.

A. Motion to Authorize Issuance of Water Supply System
Junior Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2022.

Resolution 2022-4-2.

A. Motion to Tentatively Award Construction Contractor
for the Okemos Rd. Raw Water Main project.

Resolution 2022-4-3.

A. Motion to Tentatively Award Construction Contractor
for the Backwash Recovery System.

Long Term Planning update.

Manager’s Report.
A. Expenditure list (Motion to acknowledge).

Other Business.

Adjournment.



/———\ FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE
anie April 20, 2022
MERIDIAN

TOWNSHIPAY

| CONTACT: Ken Plaga, Police Chief
517.853.4896 | plaga@meridian.mi.us

Meridian Township Police Donates to Small Talk Children’s Advocacy Center
$5,000 of Police Forfeiture Money to Support Abused Children and Their Families

Meridian Township, MI - The Meridian Township Police Department (MTPD) has announced a
$5,000 donation will go to the Small Talk Children’s Advocacy Center in recognition of Child Abuse
Prevention Month.

Small Talk Children's Advocacy Center is a non-profit organization dedicated to providing hope,
healing and justice for children and families impacted by abuse in Ingham and Eaton counties. MTPD
works closely with Small Talk Children’s Advocacy Center and celebrates their strong commitment
to the community.

"The Meridian Township Police are happy to support Small Talk Advocacy Center and the work they
do with children who have been the victims of abuse. Small Talk assists law enforcement in seeking
justice and healing for these children," stated Police Chief Ken Plaga.

The donation will come from the Police Department’s Forfeiture Fund. It is a requirement of the State
of Michigan that 25% of the criminal forfeiture fund revenue be utilized toward victims. According
to the letter from the Small Talk Children’s Advocacy Center, this donation would be equal to
supporting 75 abused children through their first counseling session.

“We can'’t thank Chief Plaga and our valued partners at the Meridian Township Police Department
enough for this generous donation. The impact this donation is hard to quantify because the financial
support allows Small Talk to continue to provide a safe space for children to heal from trauma. It’s
truly a gift to have partners who care like the Meridian Township Police Department,” stated Alex
Brace, Executive Director for Small Talk Children’s Advocacy Center.

The Township Board approved the donation at their April 12 meeting.

According to the 2020 Child Maltreatment Report, child abuse reports involved 7.1 million children.
Residents are reminded to report suspected abuse or neglect at any time by calling the Michigan
Department of Health and Human Services, Children’s Protective Services hotline at 855.444.3911.
For emergencies, dial 9-1-1.

H#Hit#

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community

that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles.
v A PRIME COMMUNITY

meridian.mi.us



(T 10.B
SR N

="

CONSENT AGENDA
PROPOSED BOARD MINUTES
April 26,2022

PROPOSED MOTION:

(1) Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Regular Meeting
of April 12,2022, as submitted.

ALTERNATE MOTION:

(1) Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Regular Meeting
of April 12, 2022 with the following amendment(s):

[insert amendments]




CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN

REGULAR MEETING TOWNSHIP BOARD 2022 -DRAFT-
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198

853-4000, Township Hall Room

TUESDAY, April 12th, 2022 6:00 pm

PRESENT: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees Wilson,
Hendrickson

ABSENT: Trustees Wisinski, Sundland

STAFF: Assistant Township Manager and Director of Public Works Opsommer, Fire Chief

Hamel, Chief of Police Plaga, Community Planning and Development Director
Schmitt, Human Resources Director Tithof, IT Director Gebes, Economic
Development Director Clark, Director of Project Management and Operations
Massie, Clerk’s Assistant Zachary Lemaster

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER

Supervisor Jackson called the meeting to order at 6:01 pm.
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS
Supervisor Jackson led the Pledge of Allegiance.
3. ROLLCALL
Clerk’s Assistant Lemaster called the roll of the Board.
Trustees Wisinski and Sundland Absent. All others Present.

Supervisor Jackson introduced new board members Trustee Marna Wilson and Trustee Scott
Hendrickson.

4. PRESENTATION - NONE

5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS

Supervisor Jackson opened public remarks at 6:04 pm

Amy Salisbury, 1585 Picadilly Dr., Haslett, MI introduced herself as a candidate for the Ingham
County Commission.

Supervisor Jackson closed public remarks at 6:09 pm

6. TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT

Page 1



7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

Treasurer Deschaine
e Welcomed Trustees Wilson and Hendrickson to the Township Board

8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Trustee Hendrickson moved to approve the agenda as presented. Seconded by Treasurer
Deschaine.

VOICE VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees
Wilson, Hendrickson

NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0

9. CONSENT AGENDA

Supervisor Jackson reviewed the Consent Agenda.

Treasurer Deschaine moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. Seconded by
Trustee Wilson.

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees
Wilson, Hendrickson

NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0
A. Communications
Treasurer Deschaine moved that the communications not already assigned for disposition
be referred to the Township Manager or Supervisor for follow-up. Seconded by Trustee

Wilson.

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees
Wilson, Hendrickson

NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0

B. Approval of Minutes - March 15th, 2022 Special Meeting and March 15th 2022 Regular
Meeting

Page 2



Treasurer Deschaine moved to approve and ratify the minutes of March 15t Regular
Meeting and March 15t Special Meeting, as presented. Seconded by Trustee Wilson.

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees

Wilson, Hendrickson
NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0

C. Bills

Treasurer Deschaine moved to approve that the Township Board approve the Manager’s

Bills as follows: Seconded by Trustee Wilson.

Common Cash
Public Works
Trust & Agency
Total Checks

Credit Card Transactions
09/16/2021 to 09/29/2021
Total Purchases

ACH Payments

$ 392,076.07
$ 777,673.13
$ 668.74
$ 1,170,417.94

$ 36,064.14
$ 1,206,482.08
$ 3,021,746.38

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees

Wilson, Hendrickson
NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0

D. MDOT Performance Resolution

Treasurer Deschaine moved to adopt the 2022 MDOT performance resolution and authorize
the following positions to apply to MDOT for the necessary permits to Work within the State
Highway Right of Way on behalf of the Charter Township of Meridian: Director of Public
Works and Engineering, Chief Engineer, Superintendent of Public Works, Senior Project

Engineer, and Project engineer. Seconded by Trustee Wilson.

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees

Wilson, Hendrickson
NAYS: None

Motion carried: 5-0

Page 3



E. Ratification of New Full Time Paramedic/Firefighter

Treasurer Deschaine moved to authorize the Fire Department to appoint Timothy Brighton
to Full-Time Paramedic/Firefighter. Seconded by Trustee Wilson.

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees
Wilson, Hendrickson

NAYS: None

Motion carried: 5-0

F. Fireworks Display Permit - Celebrate Meridian
Treasurer Deschaine moved to approve the fireworks permit for celebrate meridian festival
on Saturday, June 25, 2022, by pyrotechnic operator night magic displays. Seconded by
Trustee Wilson.

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees
Wilson, Hendrickson

NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0
G. Liquor License- Celebrate Meridian
Treasurer Deschaine moved to approve the Parks & Recreation request to apply for One-Day
Liquor License from the Michigan Liquor Control Commission (MLCC) for the Celebrate

Meridian event on June 25, 2022. Seconded by Trustee Wilson.

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees
Wilson, Hendrickson

NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0

10. QUESTIONS FOR THE ATTORNEY - NONE

11. HEARINGS
A. Daniels Drain Public Drain Improvement SAD#21

Supervisor Jackson opened the Public Hearing at 6:14 pm.

Page 4



Assistant Manager Opsommer gave a presentation on the Daniels Drain Public Drain
Improvement SAD#21 for Public Hearing. He explained recent changes to the assessment
roll and stated the cost of the project has been reduced by 5.38%.

Cecelia Kramer, 4560 Oakwood Dr., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the handling of the
Daniels Drain project as it relates to Forest Hills.

Ronald Potterpin, 1250 Ethel St., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll and Project.

John Leone, 4544 Dobie Rd., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll and provided letters to the board.

Marlene Osborn, 1494 Forest Hills Dr., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll and Project.

Michael Osborn, 1494 Forest Hills Dr., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll and project.

Sabir Biswas, 4504 Mistywood Dr., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll and Project.

Brian Markham, 4424 Satinwood Dr., Okemos, MI spoke about the Daniels Drain Assessment
Roll and explained the specifics and mechanics of the Assessment Roll.

Ross Lucas, 4555 Cornell Rd., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll.

Quenda Story, 4526 Marlborough Rd., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll.

Mike Zavadil, 1378 Ivywood Dr., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll.

Koray Gurbus 4562 N. Spicewood Dr., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of how the Daniels
Drain project has been administrated.

Kim-Van T. Beers 1406 Ivywood Dr., Okemos, MI spoke about the Daniels Drain Assessment
Roll.

Todd Cordill, 1484 Forest Hills Dr., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll.

Piotr Pawlak 1441 Ivywood Dr., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll.

Ludmilla Wilson 4590 Marlborough Dr., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll.

Page 5



Brian Harris, 4597 Marlborough Rd., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll.

Paul Doher, 4451 Satinwood Dr., Okemos, MI spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain
Assessment Roll.

Sabir Biswas, 4504 Mistywood Dr., Okemos, MI asked what happens if someone sells their
property that is on the assessment roll.

Todd Cordill, 1484 Forest Hills Dr., Okemos, MI stated he believes this project should be paid
for with ARPA funds.

Mike Osburn, 1494 Forest Hills Dr., Okemos spoke in opposition of the Daniels Drain Project.

Ken Bills, 4566 Mistywood Dr., Okemos, MI spoke about benefits received by the Daniels
Drain Project and should be paid for with ARPA funds.

Hiroshi Tanimoto, 4417 Hickorywood Dr., Okemos, MI, spoke in opposition of the Daniels
Drain Assessment Roll..

Supervisor Jackson closed the Public Hearing at 7:16 pm.
12. ACTION ITEMS
A. Economic Development Corporation Member Appointment

Director Clark outlined Economic Development Corporation Member Appointment and
introduced Trisha Bird to the board.

Trisha Bird, 5625 Ventura PI., Haslett, MI spoke about her credentials and why she should
become a member of the Economic Development Corporation.

Clerk Guthrie moved to appoint Trisha Bird to the Economic Development Corporation for a
term ending 12/31/27. Seconded by Trustee Wilson.

VOICE VOTE: YEAS: Clerk Guthrie Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees Wilson, Hendrickson,
Supervisor Jackson,

NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0

B. Letter of Agreement between the Township and the DPW and the DPR Technical,
Professional and Officeworkers Association of Michigan (TPOAM)

Assistant Manager Opsommer outlined the letter of Agreement between the Township and
the DPW and the DPR Technical, Professional and Officeworkers Association of Michigan.

Page 6



Treasurer Deschaine moved to adopt the letter of agreement between the Charter Township
of Meridian and the Department of Public Works and the Department of Parks and
Recreation Technical, Professional and Officeworkers Association of Michigan (TPOAM)
union effective March 17, 2022. Seconded by Trustee Hendrickson.

Treasurer Deschaine spoke in support of this item.

Clerk Guthrie spoke in support of this item.

Supervisor Jackson further explained this item and explained it is an amendment to the
current contract and is being presented as a trial run.

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees Wilson, Hendrickson,
Supervisor Jackson

NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0
C. Ingham County Broadband Task Force Appointment
Supervisor Jackson outlined the County Broadband Task Force Appointment.
Trustee Hendrickson moved to appoint Clerk Guthrie to replace Patricia Herring Jackson to
serve as Meridian Township’s representative on the Ingham County’s Broadband Task Force.
The appointment is contingent on the approval of Ingham County officials. Seconded by
Treasurer Deschaine.
Trustee Hendrickson spoke in support of this item.

Trustee Wilson spoke in support of this item.

VOICE VOTE: YEAS: Treasurer Deschaine Trustee Wilson Trustee Hendrickson,
Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie

NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0

Clerk Guthrie spoke about her credentials that make her a good candidate for the County
Broadband task Force.

D. 2021 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Resolution #4 - Set Public Hearing for May 3, 2022
Assistant Manager Opsommer outlined 2021 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Resolution #4.

Clerk Guthrie moved to approve the 2021 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Special Assessment
District #19 Resolution #4, which files the proposed Special Assessment Roll with the office

Page 7



of the Township Clerk and sets the date for a Public Hearing on Tuesday, May 3, 2022.
Seconded by Trustee Wilson.

Clerk Guthrie spoke in support of this item.

Trustee Hendrickson asked if this is a maintenance program and not an improvement
program.

Assistant Manager Opsommer stated that is correct.

Treasurer Deschaine stated the residents also have the opportunity to repair the sidewalk
themselves.

Supervisor Jackson asked what areas are being repaired.

Assistant Manager Opsommer replied the areas being repaired are located at Briarwood;
Briarwood #3, #4, #5; East Meadows Condominium, Heritage Hills; Heritage Hills #2, #3,
#4.

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Wilson Trustee Hendrickson,
Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie

NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0
E. Imposing Escrow Conditions for Permitted Work by Telecommunication Within the ROW

Assistant Manager Opsommer outlined Imposing Escrow Conditions for Permitted Work by
Telecommunication within the Right-Of-Way.

Trustee Wilson moved to authorize the Director of Public Works and Engineering to require
telecommunication providers who are applying for permitted work within the public rights-
of-way to deposit escrow amounts that are of reasonable cost per permit as a condition of
their permit to cover performance standards and compliance with permit requirements and
specifications to ensure that the public rights-of-way are returned to their original condition
during and after the telecommunications provider's access and use, as provided under
Section 70-184, permit application procedures, in the code of ordinances. Seconded by
Treasurer Deschaine.

Clerk Guthrie asked about the difference between escrow and performance bond.

Assistant Manager Opsommer stated they are predominantly interchangeable terms, but
went into the specifics of what is different.

Clerk Guthrie asked if the township has more leverage using this method.

Assistant Manager Opsommer replied that is correct.

Page 8



Clerk Guthrie asked what some of the costs are.

Assistant Manager Opsommer stated it takes 4-5 Department of Public Works employees
and takes 4-5 hours.

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Trustees Wilson, Hendrickson, Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie,
Treasurer Deschaine

NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0

13. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS

A. Daniels Drain Public Drain Improvement SAD #21

Assistant Manager Opsommer outlined Daniels Drain Public Drain Improvement SAD #21 for
discussion. He explained what has changed from the last assessment roll, and how each
assessment was made.

Max Clever from Spicer group further outlined Daniels Drain Public Drain Improvement SAD
#21 for discussion. He explained what has changed from the last assessment roll, and how
each assessment was made explaining the calculations used for C-values. He stated he would
look at the parcel for each person that spoke today.

He outlined how the A-Values were found using assessing records and P-Values were set by
proximity to drainage pipes.

Assistant Manager Opsommer stated staff is having an internal meeting about P factors and
stated if you increase the P-value of any parcel that the other parcels will have their
assessment lowered.

Clerk Guthrie asked if residents could see the reason against for their assessment.

Opsommer stated the hours required to write the formulae used would be very high and he
would need a team to do that.

Clerk Guthrie asked if this is the normal process.

Assistant Manager Opsommer stated Spicer was chosen because they have experience in this
kind of assessment. He further stated the drain boundary is set by the county and the
township has no authority to set drain boundaries. He showed how some residents have had
their assessments lowered by concerns they raised.

Clerk Guthrie asked if there is another methodology that can be used for an assessment like
this.

Assistant Manager Opsommer stated the P-value is not always used, but the C and A-values
are standard. He further stated the contract is with Hoffman, and the county drain office.

Page 9



Trustee Hendrickson asked how many units are in the ponds.

Assistant Manager Opsommer replied around 189.

Trustee Hendrickson stated the P value of The Ponds properties should be reevaluated.
Trustee Wilson asked if there is a deadline to finalize the assessment roll.

Assistant Manager Opsommer replied the deadline is April 26th meeting or the May 3rd
meeting.

Trustee Wilson asked if the assessment cost is attached to the property in case of a sale.

Assistant Manager Opsommer stated the assessment would have to be paid off when closing
on a home.

Assistant Manager Opsommer explained the Whispering Oaks assessment changes. He
encouraged people to email him or come in to see their unique parcel number and that he can
explain your assessment cost to the cent.

Supervisor Jackson asked how we got to this point of the project.

Assistant Manager Opsommer stated this is a Chapter-20 drain meaning the only part of the
drain work that is the responsibility of the township is the assessment roll and stated
residents are paying 40.5% of the total cost of the project. He stated ARPA funds could not
cover the cost of the drain work as it is considered a debt from the county.

Paul Pratt Deputy Drain Commissioner addressed the board and stated he is proud of this
project and feels it is necessary.

Mr. Cenci went over the history of Daniel’s Drain, explaining previous construction started by
petition, the age of the infrastructure, the regional water detention system, improving the
regional water detention system to hold more water, why the drain tile hasn’t been replaced
in almost 100 years, the loss of depth and volume of the retention system. He broke down cost
sharing among the three parties involved in a Chapter-20 drain. He detailed the process the
drain office goes through to improve all drainage systems in the county. He detailed each area
that would be worked on, why it would be worked on, what kind of repairs would be done
and with what kind of materials. He addressed some citizen questions, such as taxes not being
used to pay for drains, and that it is not normal to know exact costs before work in drain
work.

Trustee Wilson asked why the benefitted area is so irregular.

Mr. Censie stated the border line comes from the lidar map which is based on where the
watershed is located and is then confirmed during field work.

Trustee Wilson asked if you could have a higher assessment because of your driveway.

Page 10



Assistant Manager Opsommer stated driveways were taken into account only by satellite
imagery.

Treasurer Deschaine asked about communicating this presentation to residents.

Mr. Censie stated he did communicate some information to residents.

Assistant Manager Opsommer asked about overlapping drain district boundaries.

Mr. Censie stated it’s not uncommon to be in multiple drain districts.

Clerk Guthrie asked if a fence can be added to a portion of the pond.

Mr. Censie stated the area will be screened, and the pathway will be moved.

Trustee Hendrickson asked if the construction is on schedule and if the project is on budget.
Mr. Censie stated it is.

Trustee Hendrickson asked what happens if the project goes over or under budget.

Mr. Censie stated if it went over budget you would have to borrow more money but this has
never happened in the 200+ drains he’s worked on. If it goes under budget there will likely
not be any kind of any refund but the extra money should be used for maintenance in future
assessments of this drain over a 21-year period.

Paul Pratt Deputy Drain Commissioner spoke about Chapter-20 drains, their history of being
mostly established in the 70’s, how they’ve worked in the past, and how the Drain
Commission is established to perform assessment rolls. He stated it is unfortunate the
township must perform their own assessment in this case and under normal circumstances
the drain commission would address citizens long before construction begins. He further
stated contingency is limited to 10%, or just under $600,000 in this project. He further stated
Drain Code states contingency could be refunded to the payers, but not until the bonds are
paid, however it usually is left for maintenance.

Assistant Manager Opsommer stated this item will come back.

B. Ordinance 2022-09 - Rezone 2260 Jolly Oak Drive — PO to C-2

Director Schmitt outlined for discussion Ordinance 2022-09 - Rezone 2260 Jolly Oak Drive -
PO to C-2.

Clerk Guthrie moved to suspend the rules to handle new business after 10:00 pm. Seconded
by Trustee Wilson.

VOICE VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees
Wilson, Hendrickson

Page 11



NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0
Applicant Becky Beauchine spoke to the board about her application.

Trustee Hendrickson asked if there is any concern of inserting Professional Office Zoning into
a portion on Commercial Office.

Director Schmitt stated there is not.
Trustee Hendrickson asked if the applicant plans on making any renovations to the building.

Ms. Beauchine states they will remove their drive-through, and make an addition for a
goldsmith and storage.

Clerk Guthrie asked for the timeline on this project.

Applicant stated it should be done by December, or during the first quarter of next year.
C. Zoning Ordinance Updates

Director Schmitt outlined Zoning Ordinance Updates for discussion.

Trustee Hendrickson spoke in support of these updates.

Treasurer Deschaine spoke in support of these updates.
D. Juneteenth

Clerk Guthrie outlined Juneteenth for discussion.

Trustee Wilson spoke in support of this item.

Treasurer Deschaine spoke in support of this item.
E. Small Talk Children’s Advocacy Center Donation

Chief Plaga outlined Small Talk Children’s Advocacy Center Donation for discussion.

Treasurer Deschaine moved to suspend the rules and take action on this item tonight.
Seconded by Clerk Guthrie.

VOICE VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees
Wilson, Hendrickson

NAYS: None

Motion carried: 5-0
Page 12



Treasurer Deschaine moved to move to authorize the donation of $5,000.00 of police
forfeiture money to the small talk children’s advocacy center to support abused children and
their families. Seconded by Trustee Hendrickson.

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees
Wilson, Hendrickson

NAYS: None
Motion carried: 5-0
14. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC
Supervisor Jackson Opened Public Remarks at 10:24 pm.
NONE
Supervisor Jackson Closed Public Remarks at 10:24 pm.

15. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS-NONE

16. ADJOURNMENT

Clerk Guthrie moved to adjourn. Seconded by Trustee Wilson.
VOICE/HAND VOTE: Motion carried 5-0

Supervisor Jackson adjourned the meeting at 10:25 pm.

PATRICIA H. JACKSON, DEBORAH GUTHRIE
TOWNSHIP SUPERVISOR TOWNSHIP CLERK

Page 13



TOWN H | PA? ! 10.C
To: Board Members
From: Miriam Mattison, Finance Director
Date: April 26,2022
Re: Board Bills

Charter Township of Meridian
Board Meeting
4/26/2022

MOVED THAT THE TOWNSHIP BOARD APPROVE THE MANAGER'S
BILLS AS FOLLOWS:

COMMON CASH S 595,788.71

PUBLIC WORKS ] 18,522.84

TRUST & AGENCY S -
TOTAL CHECKS: S 614,311.55

CREDIT CARD TRANSACTIONS

04/07/22 to 04/20/2022 S 10,413.45
TOTAL PURCHASES: S 624,725.00
ACH PAYMENTS S 612,419.62

o . . . S— A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community: = e




04/21/2022 12:13 PM
User: GRAHAM

INVOICE APPROVAL BY INVOICE REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/26/2022 - 04/26/2022

DB: Meridian BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJQURNALIZED OPEN AND PAID
BANK CODE: GF
Vendor Name
Description Amount Check #
1. ATRGAS GREAT LAKES
ACCT #1456978 - MEDICAL OXYGEN 627.24
ACCT #145678 - MEDICAL OXYGEN 162.17
TOTAL 789.41
2. ASAP PRINTING
BUSINESS CARDS - S. HENDERICKSON/M. WILSON 62.76
TOWNSHIP BUSINESS CARDS - D. BUDZYNSKI & J. BARROW 62.76
TOTAL 125.52
3.AT &« T
APR 7 2022 THRU MAY 6 2022 - TEL + 100 MB INT 831- 1,182.80
4. AT & T
APRIL 2022 LEGACY TELEPHONE NUMBERS - 517.349.1200 31.49
MAR 2 - APR 1, 2022 - HVAC @QTHB 517.347.1710 201 50.10
MAR 2 - APR 1, 2022 - PSB FAX 517 347-4285 924 0 52.00
MAR 2 - APR 1, 2022 - THB HVAC 517 347.6021 564 8 145.00
MAR 2 - APR 1, 2022 - PSB FAX 517 347 6826 173 5 51.74
MAR 2 - APR 1, 2022 - S-1 TO FIRE#92 - 517 R01-163 318.14
MAR 2 - APR 1, 2022 - THB DS1 TO COEL 517 ROl 560 365.20
TOTAL 1,013.67
5. AT & T MOBILITY
MAR 5 2022 - APR 4 2022 DISPATCH NON-EMERGENCY - 2 76.05
MAR 7 - APR 6, 2022 - AT&T FIRST NET 22 CELL SERVI 42.29
TOTAL 118.34
6. BARBARA L. CATERINO
REIMB FOR AMBULANCE OVERPAYMENT 82.13
7. BECKS PROPANE
GLENDALE - PROPANE 2022 459.11 106994
8. BINGHAM ARS INC
ARBITRAGE REBATE COMPLIANCE BOND YR 2 & FEE 900.00
9. BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF MICHIGAN
BCBS PPO 5/1/22 - 5/31/22 HEALTH INS PMT 4,372.50
10. BOYNTON FIRE SAFETY SERVICE
2022 ANNUAL BACKFLOW INSPECTION/RE-CERTIFICATION 65.00
BUILDINGS - 2022 ANNUAL FIRE EQUIPMENT INSPECTIONS 370.00
POLICE BLDG 2022 SPRINKLER/BACKFLOW INSP RE-CERTIF 540.00
TOTAL 975.00
11. BRIGHTLINE TECHNOLOGIES
COMPREHENSIVE IT NETWORK TECHNOLOGY ASSESSMENT 27,000.00
12, BS&A SOFTWARE
TRAINING FOR TREASURER & UB STAFF 1,200.00
13. CBT NUGGETS, LLC
APR 12 2022 - APR 12 2023 - ONLINE I.T TRAINING C 1,198.00
14, CDW
GETAC A140 COMPUTER FOR 2022 POLICE FLEET UPGRADE 1,832.70
GETAC Al140 COMPUTER FOR 2022 POLICE FLEET UPGRADE 2,331.06
TOTAL 4,163.76
15, CEI MICHIGAN LLC
BUILDINGS- CENTRAL FIRE - EMERGENCY ROOF LEAK REPA 1,391.00
16. CENTRALSQUARE TECHNOLOGIES LLC
CENTRALSQUARE SUPPORT FOR POLICE RMS/CAD 2022 5,279.60
17. CMP DISTRIBUTORS INC.
PATROL RIFLE PURCHASE 1,933.44
18. COLUMBIA COLLISION CENTER LLC
MOTOR POOL - REPAIRS TO UNIT 667 6,022.89
19. COMCAST
APR 15 2022 TO MAY 13 2022 - HOM TV 323.41
APR 16 2022 TO MAY 15 2022 - FIRE #91 TV + INET 85 166.85
APR 20 2022 TO MAY 19 2022 - FD 'FREE' DROP 9.11

TOTAL

499.

37



04/21/2022 12:13 PM INVOICE APPROVAL BY INVOICE REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN
User: GRAHAM EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/26/2022 - 04/26/2022
DB: Meridian BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN AND PAID
BANK CODE: GF
Vendor Name

Description Amount Check #
20. CORECOMM INTERNET SERVICES
DNS HOSTING SEMI-ANNUAL 4/14/22 TO 10/13/22 59.95 106991
21. DAVID BORNEMAN, LLC
LAKE LANSING NORTH PRESCRIBED BURN 6,975.00
22. DOMINION VOTING SYSTEMS, INC
ADJUDICATOR & SCANNER FOR ELECTIONS - BUDGETED FOR 35,496.12
23. FAHEY SCHULTZ BURZYCH RHODES PLC
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 412.50
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 2,991.00
LEGAL FEES MARCH 2022 916.00
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 1,062.50
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 1,800.00
LEGAL FEES MARCH 2022 5,836.00
LEGAL FEES MARCH 2022 315.00
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 3,327.00
LEGAL FEES MARCH 2022 5,265.00
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 552.34
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 1,549.79
LEGAL FEES MARCH 2022 2,828.47
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 819.40
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 2,736.00
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 444 .50
LEGAL FEES MARCH 2022 45.00
LEGAL FEES MARCH 2022 330.50
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 45.00
LEGAL FEES -~ MARCH 2022 616.00
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 112.50
LEGAL FEES - MARCH 2022 784.50
TOTAL 32,789.00
24, FAMILY GRADE & GRAVEL
LIMESTONE INSTALLED AROUND RECYCLING CENTER & ACCE 3,500.00
25. FIRST COMMUNICATIONS
MARCH 2022 ANALOG TELEPHONE LINES # 3142216 1,442.12
26. FISHBECK, THOMPSON, CARR & HUBER
WUP 18-01 SERVICES RENDERED THROUGH 11/28/2021 1,295.85
27. FORESIGHT GROUP
TOWNSHIP ENVELOPES 325.98
WATER BILLS AND POSTAGE 4/1/2022 1,336.98
TOTAL 1,662.96
28. GALLAGHER BENEFIT SERVICES, INC
APRIL 2022 HEALTH INS CONSULTING FEES 2,741.69 106992
29. GOODYEAR COMMERCIAL TIRE
MOTOR POOL - TIRES UNIT #137 294.48
30. GRANGER
ACCT #17334070 - APRIL 2022 RECYCLING SERVICES 86.96
APR 2022 - ACCT #1106100 & #2706910 - RUBBISH SERV 114.33
ACCT #1106200 - APRIL 2022 RECYCLING/RUBBISH SERVI 260.50
ACCT #1106300 - APRIL 2022 RUBBISH SERVICES 76.00
ACCT #2509750 - APRIL 2022 RUBBISH SERVICES 89.00
DISPOSE OF POLE BARN ROOF - 5280 OKEMOS RD 268.00
TOTAL 894.79
31. GREGORY & BRENDA LEMANSKI
REIMB DMG INVISIBLE FENCE @ KINGS CROSS NORTH 165.00
32. HASLETT-OKEMOS ROTARY
2022 2ND QTR MEMBERSHIP FEE FOR D. GUTHRIE 145.00
ROTARY 2022 2ND QTR DUES - F. WALSH 145.00
TOTAL 2%0.00
33. HAWORTH INC
ZODY TASK CHAIR FOR JOHN HINES 532.05
34. I.C.M.A.
JULY 1, 2022 - JUNE 30, 2023 MEMBERSHIP RENEWAL - 1,387.84

35. INGHAM COUNTY DRAIN COMMISSIONER
ASSESSMENT DANIELS DRAIN MAY 1 2022 ICDC 308,802.58



04/21/2022 12:13 PM
User: GRAHAM
DB: Meridian

Vendor Name

INVOICE APPROVAL BY INVOICE REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/26/2022 - 04/26/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN AND PAID
BANK CODE: GF

Description Amount Check #
36. INGHAM COUNTY HEALTH DEPT
2022 SURFACE WATER SAMPLING (MAY THRU SEPT- 22 WEE 2,481.60
37. JERRY FEDEWA HOMES, INC
OVRPMT BUILDING PERMIT FEES 9.00
38. JOHNSON CONTROLS
BUILDINGS - JOHNSON CONTROLS HVAC CONTROLS APRIL 4,497.00
39. LAFONTAINE AUTOMOTIVE GROUP
UNIT #116 - REPAIR PARTS 91.75
40. LANSING SANITARY SUPPLY INC
CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES - MAR 31 2022 ORDER 287.32
CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES - APR 7 2022 ORDER 286.34
MISC CLEANING SUPPLIES - APRIL 8 2022 ORDER 161.37
TOTAL 735.03
41, LANSING UNIFORM COMPANY
BOOTS - D. KING 199.95
UNIFORM ITEMS - T. BOOMS 252.85
UNIFORM ITEMS - BRIGHTON/ULMAN & STOCK 359.75
BOOTS - B. ANDERSON 199.95
TOTAL 1,012.50
42, LEAK PETROLEUM EQUIPMENT INC
MOTOR POOL - FUEL ISLAND REAPIRS 162.00
43, LEXISNEXIS CLAIMS SOLUTIONS INC
LEXIS NEXIS IEYTEK ANNUAL MAINTENANCE FOR POLICE E 2,003.40
44, LOGICALIS
LOGICALIS IT HELP DESK SERVICE APRIL 2022 3,345.00
45, MANNIK AND SMITH
NEPA CLEARANCE, SHPO COORD & PROJ MGT 641.15
PLANT SURVEY MAP, CORRESPONDENCE & PROJ MGT 294.00
TOTAL 935.15
46. MCKESSON MEDICAL-SURGICAL GOC SOL
ORDER #62685428 - MEDICAL SUPPLIES/EQUIPMENT 196.84
ORDER #54757244 - MEDICAL SUPPLIES/EQUIPMENT 237.09
TOTAL 433.93
47. MORGAN C. ARNOUTS
REFUND OVRPMT AMBULANCE FEE 141.10
48. PRINT MAKERS SERVICE INC
‘ 2022 KIP COPIER SERVICE CONTRACT & METER CHARGES 38.56
49. PROGRESSIVE AE
L. LANSING MGT SERVICES THRU MAR 25 2022 2,600.81
50. QUALITY TIRE INC
UNIT #87 TIRES 501.04
51. R & R FIRE TRUCK REPAIR INC
MOTOR POOL - FIRE - REPAIRS UNIT #137 1,629.23
52. RICHARD JANKA PSY.D
PROFESSIONAL PSYCHOLOGICAL EVALUATION SERVICES 600.00
53. SAVE-A-SHAKE
ROOF REPAIR FROM WIND DAMAGE AT HISTORICAL VILLAGE 4,772.50
54, SIGNATURE FORD INC.
2022 POLICE INTERCEPTOR UTILITY AWD (TWO) 65,508.00
2022 FORD POLICE INTERCEPTOR UTILITY AWD 33,369.00
TOTAL 98,877.00
55. SUZANNE MUMY
REIMB FOR AMBULANCE OVERPAYMENT 290.00
56. TOP HAT CRICKET FARM
MARCH 2022 LIVE ANIMAL FOOD HNC 42.68
57. TRAVERSE FULLER
REIMB FOR CDL TEST ON 4/17/2022 175.00
58. TRI-COUNTY REGIONAL PLANNING
GREATER LANSING REGIONAL COMM FOR STORMWATER MGMT 5,917.65
59. UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE
POSTAGE FOR 2022 PRIME MERIDIAN MAGAZINE 4,894.72 106995
60. VARIPRO BENEFIT ADMINISTRATORS

MARCH 2022 FLEX SPENDING ADMINISTRATION COST 154.00




04/21/2022 12:13 PM
User: GRAHAM

INVOICE APPROVAL BY INVOICE REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/26/2022 - 04/26/2022

DB: Meridian BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN AND PAID
BANK CODE: GF
Vendor Name
Description Amount Check #
61. VERIZON CONNECT
03/01/22-03/31/22 - VEHICLE DATA UPLINK - MERIO7 1,359.96
62. WASTE MANAGEMENT
2100 GAYLORD C SMITH CT - 4/1/22-4/30/22 178.21
63. YOUNG ST JOHNS CHEVROLET
MOTOR POOL - FIRE - UNIT 135 760.35
64. ZACHARY LEMASTER
AUGUST 2021 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT - REISSUED 37.41
MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT MAMC CONF - REISSUED CHECK 76.16
TOTAL 113.57

TOTAL - ALL VENDORS

595,788

.71



04/21/2022 12:12 PM
User: GRAHAM
DB: Meridian

Vendor Name

INVOICE APPROVAL BY INVOICE REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/26/2022 - 04/26/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN AND PAID

BANK CODE: PWHRZ

Description Amount Check #
1. FERGUSON WATERWORKS #3386

ORDER #000055740 - BRASS CUSTOMER INSTALLATION 9,100.00

ORDER #000055301 - BRASS FOR CUSTOMER INSTALLATION 512.20

WATER - MAIN REPAIR CLAMPS 1,935.00

TOTAL 11,547.20

2. GALLAGHER BENEFIT SERVICES, INC

APRIL 2022 HEALTH INS CONSULTING FEES 508.31 28946
3. KALAN BRIGGS

RETURN COST OF WATER CONNECTION - 630 PIPER. OWNER 812.66
4, SCARLETT EXCAVATING

GRAND RIVER 16 INCH GATE VALVE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 3,930.00
5. SME

1/2/2022 TO 2/6/22 MISC TESTING SME PROJ #088686. 1,183.00
6. VERMEER OF MICHIGAN, INC

WATER - VERMEER BORE MACHINE REPLACEMNET RODS 541.67

TOTAL - ALL VENDORS

18,522.

84



Credit Card Report 04/07/2022 - 04/20/2022

Posting Date Merchant Name Transaction Amount Name

2022/04/08 MIDWEST POWER EQUIPMENT $37.98 MARK VROMAN
2022/04/08 CDW GOVT #V571894 $470.80 STEPHEN GEBES
2022/04/08 AMZN MKTP US*1A6K53TB1 $21.55 MICHELLE PRINZ
2022/04/08 PIONEER ATHLETICS $717.25 CATHERINE ADAMS
2022/04/11 THE HOME DEPOT #2723 $79.72 LAWRENCE BOBB
2022/04/11 THE HOME DEPOT #2723 $34.97 LAWRENCE BOBB
2022/04/11 THE HOME DEPOT #2723 $19.12 TYLER KENNELL
2022/04/11 WESCO - # 3255 $105.60 TYLER KENNELL
2022/04/11 WAL-MART #2866 $32.38 ALLISON GOODMAN
2022/04/11 THE HOME DEPOT #2723 $9.80 JACOB FLANNERY
2022/04/11 THE HOME DEPOT #2723 $11.89 JACOB FLANNERY
2022/04/11 ELECTRICAL TERMINAL SERVI $199.63 TODD FRANK
2022/04/11 MEIJER # 025 $47.24 DARLA JACKSON
2022/04/11 AMZN MKTP US*1H51V5SE2 $53.07 MICHELLE PRINZ
2022/04/11 AMAZON.COM*1H1PD9SU2 AMZN $31.98 MICHELLE PRINZ
2022/04/12 LOCAL DIFFERENCE LLC $100.00 BRIDGET CANNON
2022/04/12 AMZN MKTP US*1A7TV6601 $49.69 KRISTI SCHAEDING
2022/04/12 IN *JOHNSON, ROBERTS, & A $17.50 KRISTI SCHAEDING
2022/04/12 PAS*PASSPT LANSING PR $0.52 ED BESONEN
2022/04/13 THE HOME DEPOT #2723 $169.59 LAWRENCE BOBB
2022/04/13 MITA, INC. $75.00 NYAL NUNN
2022/04/13 SOLDAN S PET SUPPLIES $10.74 ALLISON GOODMAN
2022/04/13 MEIJER # 113 $30.50 BRIDGET CANNON
2022/04/13 PP*MOURER FOSTER $51.63 DANIEL OPSOMMER
2022/04/13 AMZN MKTP US*1A2K55NF0 $30.98 DANIEL OPSOMMER
2022/04/13 4ALLPROMOS $212.93 KRISTI SCHAEDING
2022/04/13 PANERA BREAD #600715 O $32.00 MARK VROMAN
2022/04/13 MID MICHIGAN EMERGENCY E $105.00 TODD FRANK
2022/04/13 ZEEDIAMEDIA.COM $297.00 BRANDIE YATES
2022/04/13 MEIJER # 025 $232.09 MICHAEL DEVLIN
2022/04/14 GRAND TRAV RESORT ($174.00) MIRIAM MATTISON
2022/04/14 MTU-CASHIERS OFFICE WEB $30.00 NYAL NUNN
2022/04/14 GALLS $81.35 KYLE ROYSTON
2022/04/14 HAMMOND FARMSLANDSCAPE SU $170.00 KYLE FOGG
2022/04/14 SP FIREHOSEDIRECTCOM $216.00 WILLIAM RICHARDSON
2022/04/14 4ALLPROMOS $318.76 KRISTI SCHAEDING
2022/04/14 LEOS CONEY ISLAND $18.55 ROBIN FAUST
2022/04/14 WAL-MART #2866 $62.62 LUANN MAISNER
2022/04/14 WAL-MART #2866 ($10.32) LUANN MAISNER
2022/04/14 MICHIGAN TOWNSHIPS ASS ($189.00) MICHELLE PRINZ
2022/04/14 PAS*PASSPT LANSING PR $0.52 ED BESONEN
2022/04/15 THE HOME DEPOT #2723 $165.31 LAWRENCE BOBB
2022/04/15 MENARDS LANSING SOUTH MI $159.98 LAWRENCE BOBB
2022/04/15 ADMIRAL #181 $17.01 LAWRENCE BOBB
2022/04/15 THE HOME DEPOT #2723 $41.30 ROBERT STACY
2022/04/15 THE HOME DEPOT #2723 $37.94 ROBERT STACY
2022/04/15 WESCO - # 3255 $77.44 TYLER KENNELL
2022/04/15 MACOMB COMMUNITY COLLEGE $1,300.00 ANDREW MCCREADY
2022/04/15 THE HOME DEPOT #2723 $175.10 EMMA CAMPBELL
2022/04/15 PANERA BREAD #600715 O $14.38 CHRISTINE CASSIDY
2022/04/15 MI ASSOC B* INV-2591 $300.00 BRANDIE YATES
2022/04/15 ATT*BILL PAYMENT $202.46 DARLA JACKSON
2022/04/15 ALDI 67018 $4.75 LUANN MAISNER
2022/04/15 HORROCKS FARM MARKET LA $518.23 LUANN MAISNER



2022/04/15
2022/04/15
2022/04/18
2022/04/18
2022/04/18
2022/04/18
2022/04/18
2022/04/18
2022/04/18
2022/04/19
2022/04/19
2022/04/19
2022/04/19
2022/04/19
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20
2022/04/20

HAMMOND FARMSLANDSCAPE SU
PAS*PASSPT LANSING PR
EATON FARM COOP MASON
THE HOME DEPOT #2723

OLIVE GARDEN 0021187

MEIJER # 253

FREEP.COM

LANSINGSTATE JOURNAL
COVERT SCOUTING

UNIQUE TAILOR AND CLEANER
AMAZON.COM*1023K76A1 AMZN
WAL-MART #2866

HEARST NEWSPAPERSMIDWEST
PAS*PASSPT LANSING PR

THE HOME DEPOT 2723

AC&E RENTALS INC

PANERA BREAD #606120 P
MICHIGAN ELECTRIC SUPPLY
NATIOAL ASSOCIATION OF
NATIOAL ASSOCIATION OF
POLICE RECORDS MGMT
POLICE RECORDS MGMT
SOLDAN S PET SUPPLIES
MEIJER # 025

LUCKY'S STEAKHOUSE - OKEM
HUTSON OF Mi WILLIAMSTON
ZOOM.US 888-799-9666
OFFICEMAX/OFFICEDEPT#3379
COURTYARD OKEMOS

AMZN MKTP US*101RTOKW1

$235.00
$0.52
$545.50
$32.93
$195.00
$3.39
$9.99
$9.99
$32.99
$15.45
$52.38
$12.36
$9.95
$0.52
$283.22
$31.50
$32.77
$42.00
$335.00
$65.00
$259.00
$259.00
$10.14
$30.26
$102.19
$286.13
$514.85
$9.49
$132.50
$37.90

DAN PALACIOS

ED BESONEN
ROBERT STACY
TYLER KENNELL
MICHAEL HAMEL
ALLISON GOODMAN
MICHELLE PRINZ
MICHELLE PRINZ
ED BESONEN
TIMOTHY BOOMS
KRISTI SCHAEDING
KENNITH PHINNEY
MICHELLE PRINZ
ED BESONEN
LAWRENCE BOBB
ROBERT STACY
MICHAEL HAMEL
KYLE FOGG
SAMANTHA DIEHL
SAMANTHA DIEHL
ANDREW MCCREADY
ANDREW MCCREADY
ALLISON GOODMAN
TIMOTHY BOOMS
FRANK L WALSH
TODD FRANK
STEPHEN GEBES
TAVIS MILLEROV
KEN PLAGA
CATHERINE ADAMS

Total

$10,413.45




ACH Transactions

Date Payee Amount  Purpose
4/7/2022 ICMA S 39,596.61  Payroll Deductions 04/08/2022
4/8/2022 Invoice Cloud S 1,250.90  Utility Transaction Fees
4/8/2022 Nationwide S 6,084.91  Payroll Deductions 04/08/2022
4/8/2022 IRS S 103,759.13 Payroll Taxes 04/08/2022
4/8/2022 Various Financial Institutions S 283,108.20  Direct Deposit 04/08/2022
4/8/2022 State of Michigan S 15,378.86 Ml Business Tax
4/11/2022  Delta Dental S 14,056.86  Employee Dental Insurance
4/13/2022  Consumers Energy S 55,610.32  Utilities
4/13/2022  MCT Utlities $ 739.21  Water/Sewer for MCT
4/14/2022 Blue Care Network S 30,998.38 Employee Health Insurance
4/18/2022 ELAN S 35,427.15  Credit Card Payment
4/20/2022  Blue Care Network S 26,409.09 Employee Health Insurance

Total ACH Payments S 612,419.62




10-D

To: Board Members

From: Phil Deschaine, Treasurer

Date: April 21,2022

Re: First Quarter 2022 Investment Report

Attached is the third quarter of 2022 Investment Report from the Treasurer’s office. It lists the
current fixed and non-fixed Meridian Township investments, transfers and the financial
institutions that are holding Township investments. With interest rates currently increasing due
to the Federal Reserve’s recent actions, we are likely to see better returns in the three remaining
quarters of 2022.

— A PRIME COMMUNITY =
meridian.mi.us

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community.




CURRENT NON-FIXED INVESTMENTS 3/31/2022
PURCH. FUND ACCOUNT INVESTMENT PRINCIPAL CURRENT INVESTMENT TYPE
DATE NUMBER RATE
08/01/02 GF RMB-005463 MBS $ - 0.00% money market
05/12/08 GF 0289-0001 MI Class $ 6,654,360.18 0.4547% pooled funds
12/23/21 GF 0289-E001 MI Class Edge $ 2,996,602.51  0.6161% pooled funds
05/20/09 GF 367213-06 MSU Fed. CU $ 500 0.00% savings
05/28/09 GF 367213-26 MSU Fed. CU $ 758,841.58  0.20% money market
GF CASH MBS $ 2,052,289.51 0.00% cash
Total $ 12,462,098.78
08/01/02 LP RMB-007923 MBS $ - 0.00% money market
05/12/08 LP 0289-0006 MI Class $ 1,707,528.41 0.4547% pooled funds
LP CASH MBS $ 146,592.11 0.00% cash
Total $ 1,854,120.52
08/01/02 LP-R RMB-008103 MBS $ - 0.00% money market
01/16/09 LP-R 7602000113 Horizon $ 209,624.10  0.180% money market
05/12/08 LP-R  0289-0008 MI Class $ - 0.00% pooled funds
Total $ 209,624.10
08/01/02 PM RMB-008145 MBS $ - 0.00% money market
09/30/08 PM 0289-0007 MI Class $ 536  0.4547% pooled funds
Total $ 5.36
08/01/02 SF RMB-007907 MBS $ - 0.00% money market
Total $ -
12/01/09 PA RMB-027657 MBS $ - 0.00% money market
Total $ -
02/08/13 TA 0289-0003 MI Class $ - 0.00% pooled funds
Total $ -
08/01/02 WF RMB-007915 MBS $ . 0.00% money market
05/22/09 WF 0289-0005 MI Class $ 513,971.69  0.4547% pooled funds
Total $ 513,971.69
03/09/17 BP 0289-0009 MI Class $ 424,649.24  0.4547% pooled funds
Total $ 424,649.24
03/09/17 RDS  0289-0010 MI Class $ - 0.00% pooled funds
Total $ -
12/6/2019 RDIMP RMB-039025 MBS $ - 0.00% money market
Total $ =
Total Non-Fixed Investments $ 15,464,469.69
Total Fixed and Non-Fixed Investments $ 25,572,084.34




3/31/2022 CURRENT FIXED MATURITY INVESTMENTS

Maturity Fund Investment Principal Purc Date Int. Rate Certificate
10/01/23 general fund FNMA (MBS) 389,377.91  07/30/19 2.030% 3138LFWKO
07/31/30 general fund JP Morgan Chase (MBS) 90,000.00 07/31/20 1.200% 48128UHQ5
09/30/26 general fund First Natl Bk Amer (MBS) 1,000,000.00 09/23/21 0.850% 32110YUJ2

1,479,377.91
10/01/24 land presres ~ FNMA (MBS) 893,712.64 07/30/19 2.470% 3138LK5L7
09/01/31 land presres  FNMA (MBS) 948,610.00 10/28/19 2.305% 3140HVYK4
10/28/26 land presres  Federal Home Ln (MBS) 500,000.00 12/01/21 1.150% 3130APGT6
12/30/24 land presres  Federal Home Ln (MBS) 330,000.00 12/30/21 1.000% 3130AQA37
2,672,322.64
09/29/28 publicworks  First Natl Bk Amer (MBS) 2,000,000.00 9/23/2021 1.100% 32110YUG8
2,000,000.00
07/06/22 road imp MSUFCU 1,045,388.36  03/06/20 2.145% Co
08/06/22 road imp MSUFCU 1,045,388.36 03/06/20 2.145% C1
09/06/22 road imp MSUFCU 1,045,388.36 03/06/20 2.145% c2
10/06/22 road imp MSUFCU 819,749.02  03/06/20 2.145% c3
3,955,914.10

Total Fixed Investments $ 10,107,614.65




Bank Amount Fixed Amount Non-Fixed | Total Investment
Horizon $ - $ 209,624.10 | $ 209,624.10
MBS $ 6,151,70055 | $ 2,198,88162 | $ 8,350,582.17
MI Class 3 - $ 12,297,117.39 | $ 12,297,117.39 |X
Commercial Bank $ - $ -
MSU Federal CU $ 3,955914.10| % 758,846.58 | $ 4,714,760.68
First Nat'| Bank of Amer $ - 3 - $ -
Independent $ - $ - $ -
PNC $ & $ - $ -
Totals $10,107,61465 | $ 15,464,46969 | $ 25,572,084.34
% of total investment 39.52597104 60.47402896 100

Each investment institution has received and signed the Meridian Charter Township Investment
Policy and Agreement to Comply.

The signed agreement specifies that they are adhering to Public Act 20.




FIXED MATURITY INVESTMENT TRANSACTIONS FOR JANUARY - MARCH 2022

1/25/2022 GENERAL FUND
Principal payment received on MBS agency fund 711.02
1/25/2022  GENERAL FUND
Final Principal payment received on MBS agency fund 2,037,976.29
1/25/2022 LAND PRESERVATION
Final Principal payment received on MBS agency fund 146,592.11
1/31/2022 ROAD DEBT IMPROVEMENT
Monthly interest received on 4 MSU CD's 7,168.82
2/25/2022  GENERAL FUND
Principal payment received on MBS agency fund 713.10
2/28/2022 ROAD DEBT IMPROVEMENT
Monthly interest received on 4 MSU CD's 6,486.88
3/25/2022  GENERAL FUND
Principal payment received on MBS agency fund 826.00
3/31/2022 ROAD DEBT IMPROVEMENT
Monthly interest received on 4 MSU CD's 7,163.72
NON FIXED INVESTMENT TRANSACTIONS FOR OCTOBER - DECEMBER 2021
1/25/2022 GENERAL FUND
Ach'd funds from MBS money market to Horizon Checking 7,667.13
1/25/2022 LAND PRESERVATION
Ach'd funds from MBS money market to Horizon Checking 357.25
1/25/2022 LAND PRESERVATION RESERVE
Ach'd funds from MBS money market to Horizon Checking 3,882.10

1/25/2022 PUBLIC WORKS



Ach'd funds from MBS money market to Horizon Checking
2/25/2022 GENERAL FUND

Ach'd funds from MBS money market to Horizon Checking
2/25/2022 LAND PRESERVATION RESERVE

Ach'd funds from MBS money market to Horizon Checking

1,868.49

2,075.40

3,882.10




2/25/2022 PUBLIC WORKS

Ach'd funds from MBS money market to Horizon Checking
3/25/2022 GENERAL FUND

Ach'd funds from MBS money market to Horizon Checking
3/25/2022 LAND PRESERVATION RESERVE

Ach'd funds from MBS money market to Horizon Checking
3/25/2022 PUBLIC WORKS

Ach'd funds from MBS money market to Horizon Checking

1,747.94

2,143.99

3,506.41

1,808.22




10.E

To: Township Board Members

From: Dan Opsommer, Assistant Township Manager
Director of Public Works & Engineering

Younes Ishraidi, P.E., Chief Engineer
Date: April 21,2022

Re: Re-appointments to the Lake Lansing Watershed Advisory Committee

The plan adopted for the Lake Lansing Watershed Management Special Assessment District
created an Advisory Committee. It consists of four lakefront property owners (Tier 1), two off-lake
(Tier 2) property owners, the Ingham County Drain Commissioner, Ingham County Parks, and a
Township staff person.

The purpose of the committee is to implement the watershed management plan. The six property
owners serve staggered 2-year terms, ending April 30, with 50% overlap. Meetings are informal
and are held in the Meridian Township Municipal Building, voluntarily promulgated under the
Open Meetings Act.

The following members will continue to serve until April 30, 2023:

Susan Andrews 6076 Columbia St Tier One
Ronald Rowe 6247 E Lake Dr Tier One
Larry Wagenknecht 6097 Partridge St Tier Two

The Lake Lansing Advisory Committee recommends the following persons be re-appointed to the
Lake Lansing Advisory Committee for terms expiring April 30, 2024. Their qualifications and past
applications are already on file with the Clerk’s office:

Roger Taylor 6089 E Lake Dr Tier One
Curtis Armbruster 6411 E Reynolds Rd  Tier One
Steven Culling 6193 Columbia St Tier Two

Proposed Motion:
“Move to re-appoint the following property owners to the Lake Lansing Watershed

Advisory Committee for terms expiring April 30, 2024: Curtis Armbruster, 6411 E Reynolds
Rd; Roger Taylor, 6089 E Lake Dr; Steven Culling, 6193 Columbia St.”

— A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming and sustainable prime community

meridian.mi.us



7 s 12.A & 14.A

M

Y

Qo

To: Meridian Township Board Members

From: Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director Amber Clark

Date: April 26,2022

RE: Village of Okemos LLC, Meridian Redevelopment Fund Request No. 2
Summary

April 26, 2022 the Township Board will receive comments regarding the Village of Okemos,
LLC’s request for the use of the Meridian Redevelopment Fund for public infrastructure
improvements on Clinton, Ardmore, Hamilton, and Methodist streets around the project
site. The recommendation from the Meridian Economic Development Corporation is to
support the public infrastructure with costs not to exceed $1,250,000. The public hearing
granted members of the community the opportunity to review the request and give
comments. After the public hearing, the Township Board will have the final authority to
approve, partially approve or deny the request.

History

The Village of Okemos, LLC submitted a request of $3.3M to the Meridian Economic
Development Corporation (EDC) through the Meridian Redevelopment Fund (MRF)
application process. The Meridian EDC members recommended the creation of a
subcommittee with two members elected from the Meridian Township Board governing
body, to review the application request. The Township Board at their February 15th
meeting, elected Supervisor Patricia Jackson and Treasurer Phil Deschaine to join the
executive members of the Meridian EDC as the creation of the "Village of Okemos, LLC
Subcommittee”. The subcommittee reviewed the application to the Meridian
Redevelopment Fund, for the intent of the MRF, which approves, partially approves, or
denies the request to utilize the funds for public infrastructure improvements for the
project.

The Village of Okemos, LLC Meridian Redevelopment Request No. 2 Subcommittee, held its
first meeting Tuesday, March 1, 2022 to review the application and discuss approval,
partial approval or denial of the request. The developers requested $3.3M in funding to
address underground water, sewer, utility work and repaving of Ardmore, Clinton,
Hamilton, and Methodist at the project site. The Village of Okemos, LLC Subcommittee after
discussion, formally recommended to the Meridian EDC board at their regular

meeting Thursday, March 3, 2022 to support the Village of Okemos, LLC MRF request for
an amount not to exceed $1,250,000. The Meridian EDC also moved to support an
additional review of the use of the Redevelopment fund later in the budget cycle for the
Township. Tuesday, March 15, 2022 the Meridian Township board made the motion for



OWN y/]

0 S H | Pala
\f\
the Economic Development Director to set a public hearing date

according to the Economic Development Corporation Act to hear
public comment on the request for the Village of Okemos LLC, for the use of the MRF for
public infrastructure improvements.

Budgetary Considerations

The DDA Tax Increment Financing (TIF) may serve as a reimbursement avenue to the
Meridian Redevelopment Fund (MRF) after the project is complete and the property taxes
have been evaluated. The DDA TIF is a reimbursement financing tool for a developer to use
to support redevelopment in the district. The DDA TIF was written to support funding for
public improvements near the project site. Allowing the use of the MRF assists the
developer to have a flow of funding resources upfront to complete the necessary utility
work for the site. The initial ask for the use of the MRF was about $3.3M and the Meridian
Economic Development Corporation moved to approve the suggested amount of $1.25M of
the fund for the project. Due to the public street improvements being held off to a later
phase of the development project, it is their recommendation to apply what is necessary for
the State approvals for gap financing of the project. At a later time, the developer may
submit a request for additional funding for the Township Board(s) to review.

Township Board Actions

The request for the Township board today is to discuss approval of the use of the MRF to
support improvements of public infrastructure within the right of way on the project. The
Board may suspend its rules and move to action to approve the recommended amount of
$1,250,000 for public infrastructure improvements. The Board after adopting the attached
resolution will give final authorization for the creation of a Development Agreement to set
the terms of the funding with the developer.

Township Board Motion: Move approve the request of the Village of Okemos, LLC and
adopt the attached resolution authorizing Township Staff to create a Development
Agreement with the Village of Okemos, LLC for the use of the Meridian Redevelopment

Fund; and set the terms of the funding request with the developer not to exceed
$1,250,000.



RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND APPROVAL Meridian Redevelopment Fund
Village of Okemos, LLC

Request No. 2

Township Board

RESOLUTION
At the regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County,
'Michigan, held in said Township on the ___th day of , 2022 at 6:00 p.m., Local Time.
PRESENT:
ABSENT:
The following resolution was offered by and supported by

WHEREAS, the Township Board, at its meeting on April 26, 2021, held a public hearing to receive
comments regarding the request of the Village of Okemos, LLC to use the Meridian Redevelopment
Fund in support of public infrastructure improvements near the project site; and

WHEREAS, an application to the Meridian Redevelopment Fund dated January 31, 2022 was
submitted by the Village of Okemos, LLC. The Meridian Economic Development Corporation
requested the creation of a subcommittee comprised of the executive offices of the Meridian
Economic Development Corporation and two members of the Township Board. This initiated the
Village of Okemos, LLC MRF Subcommittee; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Okemos, LLC Meridian Redevelopment Fund Subcommittee held a public
meeting on Tuesday March 1, 2022 to review the application from the Village of Okemos, LLC. The
Village of Okemos, LLC requested the use of the Meridian Redevelopment Fund to support public
infrastructure improvements for $3,286,262. The improvements will stormwater management, gas
and electric utility connection, address water, sewer, utility updates all within the public right of
way surrounding the project site. The funding will also address repaving of Ardmore, Clinton,
Hamilton and Methodist roads at the project site.

WHEREAS, the Village of Okemos, LLC subcommittee made a motion to recommend to the Meridian
Economic Development Corporation the use of the Meridian Redevelopment Fund, not to exceed
$1,250,000. At the regular meeting of the Meridian Economic Development Corporation on March 3,
2021, the Meridian Economic Development Corporation Board heard the request for the use of the
Meridian Redevelopment Fund and recommended approval of the proposal from the Village of
Okemos LLC, Subcommittee to authorize the use of $1,250,000; and

WHEREAS, the Meridian Economic Development Corporation submitted a formal recommendation
to the Township Board for their review of the request. The Township Board at their regular
meeting March 15, 2022 made the motion authorizing staff to set a public hearing to receive public
comment regarding the recommendation from the Meridian Economic Development Corporation in
support of public infrastructure improvements around the project site; and

WHEREAS, Pursuant to PA 338 of 1974, the Meridian Township Board after passing of this
resolution formally adopt the proposed project plan for the use of the Meridian Redevelopment



RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND APPROVAL Meridian Redevelopment Fund
Village of Okemos, LLC

Request No. 2

Township Board

Fund in support of the Village of Okemos, LLC request for updates to public infrastructure. The
contribution

of the Township will also count as the “local match” with regard to application submitted to the
Michigan Economic Development Corporation as overall support of the revitalization of the
Downtown district; and

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF
MERIDIAN hereby adopts the above resolution and authorizes Meridian Township staff to create a
Development Agreement to set the terms by which the funding will be used and issued to the
Village of Okemos, LLC for their request for the use of the Meridian Redevelopment Fund.

YEAS:

NAYS:

STATE OF MICHIGAN)
) ss
COUNTY OF INGHAM)

[, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Township Board of the Charter
Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true
and complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the
___ thdayof , 2022.

Deborah Guthrie
Township Clerk



m CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY
M E R I D I A N ? LEGAL AD NOTICE: Public Hearing Meridian Redevelopment Fund

JOW N SHI P‘Y Village of Okemos, LLC Request
(Village of Okemos, LLC)

Tuesday, April 5, 2022

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN
LEGAL NOTICE
Meridian Redevelopment Fund Request
Village of Okemos, LLC
Public Hearing

Notice is hereby given that the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian will hold
a public hearing on Tuesday April 26t, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. in the Meridian Municipal Building,
Town Hall Room, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 (phone 517-853-4560) to hear all
persons interested in a request from Village of Okemos, LLC for the use of the Meridian
Redevelopment Fund in support of public infrastructure improvements.

The developer introduced the request for the use of the Meridian Redevelopment Fund to
address infrastructure improvements in public right of ways and easements (i.e. water,
sewer, other utility work, and repaving) of Ardmore, Clinton, Hamilton and Methodist streets
February 3, 2022. A subcommittee established by the Township Board met Tuesday March 1,
2022 to hear the request of the development team. The subcommittee recommended a
partial approval not to exceed $1,250,000 of the Meridian Redevelopment Fund to
the Township Board. At the regular Township Board meeting Tuesday March 15, 2022,
the Township Board made a motion for a public hearing to be set according to the
requirements as established in the Economic Development Corporation Act, to hear
public comment regarding the Village of Okemos, LLC request of the Meridian
Redevelopment Fund not to exceed $1,250,000 for infrastructure improvements on
Ardmore, Hamilton, Clinton and Methodist near the project site. The following parcels
are included in the project: 21-405-008, 21-405-009, 21-405-005, 21-405-010,
21-409-001, 21-409-002, 21-409-003, 21-409-004, 21-409-008, 21-409-006, and
21-409-009.

Information may be examined at the Department of Economic Development, 5151
Marsh Road, Okemos, Michigan 48864-1198, between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.,
Monday through Friday and on the Township website at https://www.meridian.mi.us/
government/at-your-fingertips/current-applications-before-meridian-township.

Written comments may be sent prior to the public hearing to Amber Clark, Neighborhoods
& Economic Development Director, Charter Township of Meridian, 5151 Marsh Road,
Okemos, Michigan, 48864, or by email to Clark@meridian.mi.us.

Publish: . Deborah Guthrie
Lansing State Journal Township Clerk
Friday April 8, 2022

1 Affidavit, please

— A PRIME COMMUNITY

meridian.mi.us

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community.



m?
OWN

Charter Township of Meridian

Meridian Economic Development Corporation (EDC)-Subcommittee Village of Okemos, LLC
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864

Tuesday, March 1, 2022- Minutes -DRAFT

Members

Present: Assistant Manager Dan Opsommer (for Township Manager Frank Walsh), Chair Kim
Thompson, Treasurer Phil Deschaine, Vice Chair Brenda Chapman, and Supervisor Jackson

Members

Absent: None

Others

Present: Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director Amber Clark, Executive Assistant
Michelle Prinz, and Eric Helzer, Advanced Redevelopment Solutions

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER

Chair Thompson called the meeting to order at 8:00 am.
2. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA
Discussion to remove the consent agenda from the agenda.

MOTION BY VICE CHAIR CHAPMAN TO APPROVE THE AMENDED AGENDA. SUPPORTED BY
TREASURER DESCHAINE. MOTION PASSES 5-0.

3. PUBLIC REMARKS
None.
4. NEW BUSINESS
a. Village of Okemos, LLC Redevelopment Fund Request No. 2 Discussion

Mr. Helzer reviewed the recent history of the project and the previous meetings. In
September, a meeting was held and determined that the project had a shortfall of funding
of $2,469,153. This total included all public improvements. Since that meeting, the
project shortfall has grown to $3,200,000. This is just the estimate and only includes
public infrastructure. The project still has to go through the bidding process. There is a
new grant through the MEDC WRAP Program that will fund up to $1,000,000 for
development as it relates to placemaking and infrastructure. This project has been
identified as a strong grant candidate. The Township would partner with the developer on
the grant.



There was discussion that there is $2,000,000 in the Meridian Redevelopment Fund and
that is for both Okemos and Haslett. With the current $3,200,000 shortfall in the project
and a possible $1,000,000 grant from the MEDC, discussion centered on what would be a
reasonable Meridian Redevelopment Fund grant amount? A recommendation of a
$1,250,000 grant for the year 2022 was suggested. It was discussed that the DDA TIF
could reimburse the Township for these funds. This would allow for an additional grant
application in 2023 for the approximately $950,000 shortfall.

MOTION BY CHAIR THOMPSON TO RECOMMEND TO THE EDC AN AWARD NOT TO EXCEED
$1.25 MILLION FOR THE VILLAGE OF OKEMOS LLC, NO. 2 MERIDIAN REDEVELOPMENT
FUND REQUEST. SUPPORTED BY TREASURER DESCHAINE. MOTION PASSES 5-0.

MOTION BY MANAGER OPSOMMER TO ADVISE THE VILLAGE OF OKEMOS, LLC, THAT THE
SUBCOMMITTEE WILL CONSIDER A NO. 3 MERIDIAN REDEVELOPMENT FUND REQUEST
FROM THE VILLAGE OF OKEMOS, LLC DEPENDENT UPON THE FUNDING COMMITMENT
LEVEL FROM THE MEDC'S WRAP AND PUBLIC SPACE PLACE BASED INFRASTRUCTURE
GRANT PROGRAM. SUPPORTED BY SUPERVISOR JACKSON. MOTION PASSES 5-0.

OPEN DISCUSSION/BOARD COMMENTS

Vice Chair Chapman suggested that Pat Smith’s name be added to the grant application as the
“Principal.”

PUBLIC REMARKS
None.
NEXT MEETING DATE
e Tentative March 8, 2022 at 8:00am

ADJOURNMENT

Hearing no objection, Chair Thompson adjourned the meeting at 10:06am.

2

— A PRIME COMMUNITY

meridian.mi.us



«EST. 1842 -

MERIDIAN ? MERIDIAN REDEVELOPMENT FUND (MRF)

JOWNSHI P a¥ APPLICATION

Step 1. Create a development plan with renderings that describe the project, purpose of the
request, why it is needed and important to the community, and the nature of the enterprise. The
development plan should include all elements of the project plan as defined under MCL 125.1608.

Step 2. Submit a completed application, including supporting materials and renderings, to the
Economic Development Director (EDD). The EDD will review your application for completeness.

Step 3. Staff will determine eligibility and feasibility of the project. The EDD may also work with
the applicant to clarify any ambiguity.

Step 4. If the application meets the criteria as determined by the EDD, the project will be placed on
an upcoming meeting agenda of the Meridian Township Economic Development Corporation
(EDC). The EDC meets on a monthly basis.

Step 5. With the assistance of the EDD, the applicant will present the project funding request to
the EDC Board at the scheduled meeting. Depending on the size and scope of the request, the
Board may require multiple meetings to garner support for the project. The EDC Board will then
make a decision about your application.

Step 6. If the EDC votes to proceed with the funding request, the EDD will add the project to an
upcoming Township Board meeting agenda, where the EDD, the EDC Board Chair and/or the
applicant will present the project and funding request. The Township Board typically meets twice
per month. The Township Board will assess the public purpose of the project and, if approved,
hold a public hearing as required by the State Act. Depending on the size and scope of the request,
the Board may require multiple meetings to garner support for the project.

Step 7. If the funding request is approved, Township attorneys and staff will prepare the
appropriate loan or grant documents. Applicants will receive a commitment letter summarizing
the conditions of the funding agreement, including the required use of the funds, whether the
funds are a grant or loan, and repayment terms, where applicable.

Step 8. The grant or loan closing will occur and the project can begin.



Meridian Redevelopment Fund (MRF)
Application
2

Section 1:

Company Name: Village of Okemos, LLC
Primary Contact: Eric P. Helzer of Advanced Redevelopment Solutions

Title: Authorized Agent on behalf of the Village of Okemos, LLC

Address: 4700 Ardmore Ave., Okemos, M| 48864

Office Phone: NA
Mobile Phone: (517) 648-2434

E-Mail:

Corporate Form: (LLC, S-Corp, C-Corp, Sole Proprietorship, Partnership, Other):

LLC
Corporate Officers & Titles:

NA
Company Description (who are you and what do you do?):

Real Estate Development special purpose entity

Section 2:

Describe the project in its entirety (location, extent, character, etc.) and why it benefits Meridian
Township and its residents. Include the component you are requesting funding for:

See Exhibit A - Memorandum from Advanced Redevelopment Solutions, 1-31-2022.

What is your estimate cost for the entire project? Provide, in detail, your personal financial
position and general funding or financing sources for this project:

See Exhibit A - Memorandum from Advanced Redevelopment Solutions, 1-31-2022.

When do you plan to commence and complete work?

MTRF Grant Application #2 work tasks completion estimated mid 2025.

Will your end product create jobs? How many, part-time or full-time? Wage range?

Full-time: estimated at over 100, Tenant Based. Part-time: Unknown, Tenant Based.



Meridian Redevelopment Fund (MRF)

Application
3

Please provide the names and municipalities of any projects you've completed within the past

five years

Bath Township- The Rocks student housing apartments/ Meridian Township- Elevati

List three

professional references of people who understand or are involved in your current or

past projects:

Section 3:

Name: A J Patrick

Organization: KEBS Engineering
Phone: (517) 339-1014

E-Mail: gjpatrick@kebs.com

Name: Eric Helzer

Organization: Advanced Redevelopment Solutions
Phone: (517) 648-2434

E-Mail: ephelzer@msn.com

Name: Greg Presley

Organization: Presley Architecture

Phone: (248) 320-0785
E-Mail:

Project Plan Requirements:
The location of existing streets and other public facilities within the project:

See Exhibit A and Exhibit B

The location, character, and extent of the categories of public and private land uses both

currently

and any proposed changes within the project, including residential, recreational,

commercial, industrial, educational, and other uses:
See Exhibit A and Exhibit B

The legal

description of the project real estate:

See Exhibit A



Meridian Redevelopment Fund (MRF)
Application

4

Describe any existing structure, amenity, or feature to be demolished, repaired, or altered:

See Exhibit A - Memorandum from Advanced Redevelopment Solutions dated January 31, 2022.

Describe the repairs or alterations, and an estimate of the time required for completion:

See Exhibit A - Memorandum from Advanced Redevelopment Solutions dated January 31, 2022.

Describe any construction stages planned and the estimated time of completion of each stage:
See Exhibit A - Memorandum from Advanced Redevelopment Solutions dated January 31, 2022

Describe any parts of the project to be left as open space and the use contemplated for the space:
See Exhibit A and Exhibit B

Describe any desired zoning changes and changes in streets, street levels, intersections, and
utilities:
See Exhibit A

List any persons who will manage or be associated with the management of the project for at
least one year:

Eric Helzer and John Peckham of Advanced Redevelopment Solutions as Authorized Representatives for
the Village of Okemos, LLC

Will the project will be leased or sold at completion?
Leased

Will there be any sale or lease of municipal property?
No

Name of person or entity who will own or lease the project and for whose benefit the project is
being undertaken (if other than the applicant):
Village of Okemos, LLC is the planned entity.

Estimate of the number of persons residing in the project area and the number of families and
individuals to be displaced:

Residents Currently in Project Area - 450+
Residents that will be Displaced in Project Area - 0



Meridian Redevelopment Fund (MRF)
Application

5

If any families or individuals are to be displaced, provide required demographic information and
a housing relocation plan:

NA

Please add any additional information that will help the EDC or Township Board evaluate your
request:

The requested $3,286,262 from MTRF will help support the $691,304 from EGLE Grant being used toward the
Asbestos Abatement/Demolition.Additionally, the Owner has committed up to $231,511 towards the Asbestos
Abatement/Demolition.See attached Memorandum from Advanced Redevelopment Solutions dated 01/31,2022.
Construction projects must commit to paying the prevailing wage and fringe benefit rates for the
same or work as determined under 1965 PA 166, MCL 408.551 et seq.

My signature below certifies that all the information contained in this application is true and
complete. I authorize the Meridian Township staff to verify the information contained on this
application by contacting the references given.

W 01-31-2022

Applicant Signature Date

Eric P. Helzer
Applicant Printed Name

e A PRIME COMMUNITY
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. meridian.mi.us



EXRHIBITS

Village of Okemos, LLC



EXRHIBIT A

Advanced Redevelopment Solutions
Memorandum dated January 31, 2022
Request for the use of the Meridian
Township Redevelopment Fund (MTRF)
Grant #2
Village of Okemos
Blocks 1 and 2



ADVANCED REDEVELOPMENT SOLUTIONS

PO Box 204, Eagle MI 48822 MEMORANDUM
Tel 517.648.2434

ephelzer@msn.com

To: Amber Clark - Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director, Meridian Township
From: EricP. Helzer, EDFP, Principal - Advanced Redevelopment Solutions (ARS)
Date: January 31, 2022

Subject: Request for the use of the Meridian Township Redevelopment Fund (MTRF) Grant #2
Village of Okemos Blocks 1 & 2 Redevelopment Project - Hamilton and Okemos Roads
Meridian Township, Okemos, MI 48864

Per the request of Village of Okemos, LLC (VoO), Advanced Redevelopment Solutions (ARS) as the VoO
Authorized Agent has prepared a summary for the request to the Meridian Township Economic
Development Corporation (EDC) for use of the Meridian Township Redevelopment Fund (MTRF) Grant #2
towards tasks and costs in support of activities to protect public infrastructure and to support the Village of
Okemos's (Village) infrastructure and improvements needed around the proposed Village of Okemos
Blocks 1 & 2 Redevelopment Project (Project).

e
- 7l
[ -
o
, 3 X
'~ 2
- - / X
i 5
- Cr ) ’"’ ,)./
’f,y"
Ave X
-,
- O
2
= a
43 2
v
-
- » al
e =

S
&
o
<
D
<
>
~
A
<
?

Hamilton Rd

43

Mount Hope Rd

T Okemos CDP f?
E ¥ y i i
2 7 Tz -
§ Yo ."._.
;=° Figure 1 - Scaled Property Location Map
—_— Village of Okemos Blocks 1 & 2

Redevelopment Project



Amber Clark - Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director, Meridian Township
Request for the use of the Meridian Township Redevelopment Fund (MTRF) Grant #2
Village of Okemos Blocks 1 & 2 Redevelopment Project, Hamilton and Okemos Roads, Meridian Township, Okemos, MI 48864

BACKGROUND

The proposed mixed-use redevelopment Project is on two underutilized, abandoned, vacant and
contaminated Village blocks. The Project blocks are located at the intersection of Okemos Road and
Hamilton Road have been designated as “Block 1” (northwest of the intersection) and “Block 2” (southwest
of the intersection), respectively, and will be comprised of an estimated 257,534 gross area square feet of
residential and commercial business spaces in four (4) newly constructed mixed-use buildings. The mixed-
use recreation of the Village of Okemos with major Infrastructure Improvements is transformative in
nature and will bring Retail, Restaurant, Commercial, Office and Residential Uses, adding over 100 jobs, and
adding approximately up to $85 million in new capital investment to the Village. This MTRF Grant Project
Application #2, consists of the redevelopment of Blocks 1 and 2. See attached Attachment A - Eligible
Property Legal Descriptions and Eligible Property Boundary Map for the Project Property Blocks 1 & 2
made part of the redevelopment effort and Attachment B - Aerial Photos of Blocks 1 & 2 for existing
building and site conditions.

Over the past few years, and more recently due to the recent COVID-19 pandemic outbreak, the economy
has shifted significantly, and the township has identified Downtown Okemos as:

* acritical redevelopment area in need of blight elimination;
* an area with businesses closing, resulting in a dwindling tax base;

* having parcels with environmental contamination that pose as a threat to human health and
the environment and are barriers to support safe and economical redevelopment, and;

* an area where previously proposed redevelopment projects have failed on key Village
blocks due to the aforementioned issues.

The proposed redevelopment Project will help position Downtown Okemos toward becoming a great
downtown destination and place to live, shop and work. Upon completion of the proposed Project, other
new developments and increases in value due to private investments/improvements beyond the proposed
two (2) Block area is certain to occur thus increasing taxable value and adding even more jobs.

Page 2 of 6 MEMORANDUM January 31, 2022



Amber Clark - Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director, Meridian Township
Request for the use of the Meridian Township Redevelopment Fund (MTRF) Grant #2
Village of Okemos Blocks 1 & 2 Redevelopment Project, Hamilton and Okemos Roads, Meridian Township, Okemos, MI 48864

Project

Figure 2 - Eligible Property Map
Village of Okemos Blocks 1 & 2
Redevelopment Project

= Indicates Eligible Property Boundaries of Blocks 1 & 2

Page 3 of 6 MEMORANDUM January 31, 2022



Amber Clark - Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director, Meridian Township
Request for the use of the Meridian Township Redevelopment Fund (MTRF) Grant #2
Village of Okemos Blocks 1 & 2 Redevelopment Project, Hamilton and Okemos Roads, Meridian Township, Okemos, MI 48864

REQUEST MTRF GRANT #2

The Village of Okemos Blocks 1 & 2 Redevelopment Project has before it large and difficult to finance costs
to ready these properties for redevelopment. In an effort to address a large portion of these costs, with the
support and at the request of the Meridian Township Brownfield Redevelopment Authority, the Project
received a direct source area removal of contaminants with State contractors estimated at approximately
$700,000, an award of a $1.3 million Brownfield Grant and a $1 million Brownfield Loan from the Michigan
Department of Environment, Great Lakes and Energy (EGLE) to revitalize and safely reuse the Project
properties. A majority of the awarded EGLE funds will be used to address soil and groundwater
contamination by leaks from former gas station’s underground storage tanks and a former dry cleaner and
through a Grant/Loan Amendment a portion of these EGLE funds will be allocated to address Asbestos
Abatement and Demolition costs. The balance of the Asbestos Abatement and Demolition costs needed will
be funded by the Developer. However, there were and are certain costs that are for public benefit during
the direct source area removal and during and after the Demolition work that are the subject of the request
to use the MTRF.

This MTRF Grant Request #2 includes two (2) primary uses of funds:

1. Sheeting and Shoring to protect utilities and roads along Hamiliton Road and Ardmore Avenue
that occurred when EGLE completed its source area removal of contaminated hazardous soils due
to the past drycleaners operations at the northwest corner of Block 2. The funds will be utilized to
repay the hard costs of Sheeting and Shoring and related soft costs such as engineering &
professional fees and project management & application/inspection fees.

2. Infrastructure Improvements in Public Rights-of-Ways and Easements surrounding Blocks 1 &
2. The funds will be utilized to pay for the hard costs of infrastructure and related soft costs such as
engineering & professional fees and project management & application/inspection fees.

A breakdown of the total funds being requested is in the below table. Attachment C - Site Plans, identifies
in detail the areas for uses of funds requested.

Page 4 of 6 MEMORANDUM January 31, 2022



Amber Clark - Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director, Meridian Township
Request for the use of the Meridian Township Redevelopment Fund (MTRF) Grant #2
Village of Okemos Blocks 1 & 2 Redevelopment Project, Hamilton and Okemos Roads, Meridian Township, Okemos, MI 48864

ADVANCED OFF-SITE (PUBLIC ROW/EASEMENT) COSTS
VELOPMENT DEVELOPMENT BUDGET TRACKING DETAIL

WL JL L (O) i

REDE

Project Name: Village of Okemos Blocks 1 & 2

Project Description: Mixed-Use Development

Date: January 27, 2022

Cost Item Final Budget
HARD COSTS
Construction Costs
Stormwater Requirements County Drain - Blocks 1 & 2 280,000
BLOCK 1
Utilities - Okemos Road 24,640
Utilities - Ardmore Avenue 183,354
Utilities - Methodist Street 38,475
Gas 25,000
Electric 25,000
Road Improvements Demo / Paving / Repairs (Asphalt) & Sidewalks Demo / Curb & Gutter / Paving (Concrete) - Okemos Road 30,000
Road Improvements Demo / Paving / Repairs (Asphalt) & Sidewalks Demo / Curb & Gutter / Paving (Concrete) - Ardmore Avenue 163,671
Road Improvements Demo / Paving / Repairs (Asphalt) & Sidewalks Demo / Curb & Gutter /<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>